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stablished in 1993, Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited (“Kingdee International” or “Kingdee”) is listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0268.HK) and headquartered in Shenzhen, China, and has become a leader in the international market and the best player
in China's market as a management cloud SaaS vendor. Adhering to the core values of “Acting in all Conscience, with Integrity and Righteousness”, the
Company takes the mission of “serving the enterprise wholeheartedly and growing together with users around the world.” Kingdee is committed to becoming
the “most trustworthy enterprise service platform”.

Kingdee has consistently received recognition from renowned research institutions at home and abroad, winning numerous honors, including selected as
one of the S&P Global “Sustainability Yearbook (China Edition) 2023", with ESG score ranking first among software enterprises; IDC 2023 Global Customer
Satisfaction Award for Financial SaaS; ranked No.1 by IDC in 2023 H1 ERM SaaS and Financial SaaS market; the only Chinese vendor ranked among the top
10 Gartner's high-productivity aPaaS platform vendors for three consecutive years, as well as the only Chinese vendor entered into IDC’s Asia Pacific SaaS
and Cloud-based SMB ERP Applications 2023 Vendor Assessment; ranked No.1 by IDC in China’s growing enterprise application software market share for
19 consecutive years; won the first prize of the “China Standard Innovation Contribution Award”, the highest national honor in China’s standardization field.

Kingdee’s major cloud service products have been selected by industry lighthouse customers, including Kingdee Cloud Cosmic (packageable enterprise-
grade PaaS platform), Kingdee Cloud Constellation (large enterprise SaaS management solution), Kingdee Cloud Galaxy (high-growth enterprise SaaS
management solution), Kingdee Cloud Stellar (small and micro enterprise SaaS management solution). Kingdee has provided enterprise management cloud
products and services for more than 7.4 million enterprises, governments and organizations across the world.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LAFEH
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEHR

LEGAL COUNSEL
Hong Kong:

CFN Lawyers

27/F, Neich Tower

128 Gloucester Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Cayman Islands:

Conyers Dill & Pearman
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL BANKS

PRC:

China Merchants Bank

Bank of China

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Ping An Bank

China Minsheng Bank

Agricultural Bank of China

The Export-Import Bank of China

Hong Kong:
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC
Kingdee Software Park

No.2 Kejinan 12 Road

South District

Hi-Tech Industrial Park

Nanshan District

Shenzhen Guangdong Province

The PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
25A, United Centre, 95 Queensway
Admiralty, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www .kingdee.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

17M Floor, Hopewell Gentre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

PUBLIC RELATIONS

Wonderful Sky Financial Group Holdings Limited
9/F, The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central, Central

Hong Kong

MAIN BOARD STOCK CODE
268
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEHE

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F —B-—F —E--F ZTCTF “ENEF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT N ST AREFTT ARETFT
Revenue EEB 5,679,073 4,865,769 4174047 3,356,445 3,325,590
(Loss)/profitatiributableto AR RHER
owners B ANERS(EE),/
of the Company B (209,890) (389,158) (302,330) (335,479) 372,580
Dividends per share BRERE - - - - HKDAE 5 401,29
(Losses)/earnings per share &% (&518) /&2
- basic -ER RMBAE#(6.07)% RMBARM(1131)7 RMBAR™(0.23)7 RMBARX(10.12%  RMBAREI5%
—diluted - RMBAE#(6.07)% RMBARM(1131)7 RMBAR™(0.23)7 RMBARX(10.12%  RMBAREN.2%
(Losses)/earnings Per Share - Basic Return on Equity
BR(GR) B -&F BRENGE
RMB %
ARED BOl
11.52
6.1
2020 2021 2022 2023
2020 2021 2022 2023

(10.12)

(9.23)

(1131)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBEE

Revenue
Exa
RMB’000
AREFT
5,679,073

4,865,769
4174147

3,325,590 3,356,445

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

(Loss)/profit Attributable to Owners of the Company
FARRGKEARK(ER) 27

RMB'000
ARETT

372,580

2020 2021 2022 2023

(209,890)

(335,479) (302:330)
' (389,158)

Operating (Loss)/profit
BE(FR) /29

RMB'000
ARBTT

423,787

2020 2021 2022 2023

(415,353) (419,947)

(466,900)
(587,344)

Net Cash Generated from Operating Activities
RETDEENBRAS
RMB'000
ARETT
962,927

660,563 653,319

473,017
374,437

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFERFER

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZEB=§ C—ZT--F ZE=Z—F ZTZTF ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AREBTIT ARBTT AREFTT ARETE
Revenue e 5,679,073 4,865,769 4174147 3,356,445 3,325,590
(Loss)/profit before income tax HBRET1S AT
(&18), /&7 (301,126) (474,218) (382,145) (382,739) 396,131
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(E1ER), BH (269,806) (452,404) (338,355 (341,695) 365,798
Assets HE
Non-current assets EREEE 8,435,950 7,747 491 6,615,945 4,538,665 4,178,706
Current assets REEE 5,703,247 3,983,946 4471187 6,183,414 4241447
Total assets BEE 14,139,197 11,731,437 11,087,132 10,722,079 8,420,153
Equity and liabilities EaRAR
Equity attributable to owners of RARE=FAA
the Company (LR 8,599,056 7,265,353 7,596,492 7,789,631 5,986,928
Non-controlling interests DEMEE 103,096 142,230 206,647 168,846 158,743
Total equity B 8,702,152 7,407,583 7,803,139 7,958,477 6,145,671
Non-current liabilities EmBAE 907,831 558,171 200,310 165,013 276,389
Current liabilities mENARE 4,529,214 3,765,683 3,083,683 2,598,589 1,998,093
Total liabilities BwafE 5,437,045 4,323,854 3,283,993 2,763,602 2,274,482
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 14,139,197 11,731,437 11,087,132 10,722,079 8,420,153
—EoCEER SEFARStEEERATE T



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

2024 marks the beginning of Kingdee’s strategy towards
world-class excellence. Kingdee will uphold our mission of
“wholeheartedly serving enterprises and growing together with
all users”, continue to deepen the cloud transformation, advance
our core strategy of “Subscription priority, Al priority”, enhance
the added value of digital management for Chinese enterprises,
and help enterprises accelerate the construction of new-quality
productivity and realize high-quality development.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ES

Review

In 2023, Kingdee’s three-year strategy ended victoriously, and the goal of
“recreating a Kingdee with a cloud subscription model” was accomplished
with high quality. The Group’s revenue achieved a year-on-year (yoy) growth of
approximately 16.7% to RMB5.68 billion, net loss attributable to shareholders narrowed
by approximately 46.1% yoy to RMB210 million, operating cash flow increased by
approximately 74.5% yoy to RMB650 million. The Group continued to advance on the
transformation of cloud subscription services, with the Cloud Services revenue increasing
by 21.3% yoy and weighting 79.3% of the Group revenue. The annual recurring revenue
(ARR) from cloud subscription services increased by 33.1% yoy to RMB2.86 billion, cloud
subscription net dollar retention rate maintained at high-level with 105.3% for Kingdee
Cloud Cosmic and Constellation, 97.2% for Kingdee Cloud Galaxy and 90.8% for Kingdee
Cloud Stellar.

In 2023, Kingdee opened up a new horizon in software with Al, setting
new benchmarks and writing a new chapter in the industry. As a leader in
domestic software, Kingdee has always adhered to independent innovation, seizing
the transformative opportunities of Al nativeness. Kingdee launched the Cosmic GPT
platform and was the first to introduce China’s first financial vertical LLM, propelling
financial management towards intelligence at an accelerated pace. Major implementation
projects, including Weichai Lovol, China Construction Bank, and Xiamen Xiangyu, were
successfully completed, with our products outperforming international vendors in project
performance. The resilience and professionalism of Kingdee’s implementation team have
once again exceeded the expectations of mega-customers. More than 50 Fortune 500
companies and SOEs have formed new partnerships with Kingdee, including industry
leaders such as Sinochem, China National Building Material Group, Dongfeng Motor,
Tongwei Co., Ltd., Shanmei Coal, Shandong Gold, Fuyao Glass, Henan China Tobacco,
and Mercedes-Benz China.

In 2023, Kingdee embarked on a new journey wholeheartedly and grew
together with all users. The unwavering commitment to being “customer-centric” has
earned Kingdee recognition from more than 30 prestigious domestic and international
organizations and a wide range of customers: repeatedly gaining the top market share
in multiple categories from IDC SaaS; maintaining the number one position in Gartner's
high-productivity aPaaS market for three consecutive years and entering the top ten global
aPaaS market share; winning the IDC 2023 Financial SaaS Global Customer Satisfaction
Award, the only company in China to sweep both the financial and ERP satisfaction awards;
being included in S&P Global's “Sustainable Development Yearbook (China Edition) 2023”
as the highest-rated Chinese software company in ESG scores. Xu Shaochun WeChat
Public Account saw an annual increase of over 121% in compliment letters received and a
45% reduction in service complaints; at the grand “Changemakers Conference” and 30th-
anniversary celebration, changemakers from various industries gathered in Shenzhen from
all over the country to witness Kingdee’s determination and capabilities to “Originating
from heart, Striving for world-class excellence!”
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFE®mE

Outlook

2024 marks the beginning of Kingdee’s strategy towards world-class excellence. Kingdee
will uphold our mission of “wholeheartedly serving enterprises and growing together
with all users”, continue to deepen the cloud transformation, advance our core strategy
of “Subscription priority, Al priority”, enhance the added value of digital management
for Chinese enterprises, and help enterprises accelerate the construction of new-quality
productivity and realize high-quality development. We will continue to adhere to the
Kingdee philosophy of “customer-centered, long-term adherence to professionalism;
strivers-oriented, long-term adherence to clarity and purity of mind”, maintaining
our original intentions, refining our craftsmanship, and steadfastly holding onto our
convictions. Kingdee will walk alongside the times, progress with society, and contribute
every effort of all Kingdee personnel to enterprise users around the world!

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude to all
Kingdee customers, shareholders and all investors for your confidence and support.
Meanwhile, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all Kingdee employees for
keeping the heart and the conscience, and for their unwavering innovation and hard work
to help more and more enterprises to achieve high-quality development.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
RIGEIBRE 2

Financial Results

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded total
revenue of approximately RMB5,679,073,000, representing an approximately
16.7% year-on-year (yoy) growth as compared to the same period in 2022 (2022:
RMB4,865,769,000). The Group continued to push forward cloud subscription
service model transition, and realized 21.3% yoy growth in cloud services,
accounting for 79.3% of the Group revenue. The Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR)
of Kingdee Cloud subscription services reached approximately RMB2.86 billion,
with an increase of 33.1% yoy. Contract liabilities to cloud subscription services
achieved growth of 29.6% yoy.

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2023, loss attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately RMB209,890,000 (2022: a loss of approximately
RMB389,158,000 attributable to owners of the Company). The loss narrowed was
due to the Company’s long-term development of cloud subscription business and
the improvement of business quality.

Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB6.07 cents. (2022: basic loss per share of approximately
RMB11.31 cents).

Net cash flow from operating activities of the Company was approximately
RMB653,319,000, representing an increase of 74.5% yoy (2022: net cash inflow of
approximately RMB374,437,000).

Strategy Review

Kingdee adheres to the strategy of “Platform + Finance & HR & Tax + Ecosystem”,
with the mission of “wholeheartedly serving the enterprise and growing together
with users around the world.” Kingdee is committed to becoming the “most
trustworthy enterprise service platform”, aiming to help enterprises build Enterprise
Business Capability (EBC), achieve resilient and high-quality development.

The Group’s key strategic initiatives include:

(1) Creating world-class products: Kingdee adheres to the product
strategy of “One Arrow, Many Stars”, taking the cloud native Kingdee Cloud
Cosmic PaaS platform with Kingdee Dynamic Domain Model (KDDM) as
the technical core. Integrating Al and other advanced technologies, Kingdee
builds packageable SaaS applications and solutions enabling world-class
product capabilities and customer experience. In addition, combining the
ecological power of ISVs, Kingdee is committed to help enterprises to
build digital business capabilities linking customers, partners, employees
and everything, and quickly respond to the demands of the ever-changing
market with data intelligence.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
FBOERRE
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(2)

(3)

(4)

()

Creating a world-class ecosystem: Kingdee is committed to
constructing a collaborative, co-constructed, and co-existing grand
ecosystem. Guided by a design and service-oriented approach, Kingdee
collaborates with a diverse array of ecosystem partners including
internationally leading consulting, implementation, development, channels,
and services to assist clients in confronting and resolving enterprise
management issues within the context of the new era.

Creating world-class implementation: Kingdee is committed to
transitioning to a cloud subscription service model, focusing on products
and redefining implementation methodolities and partnerships in the cloud
era. By combining partner-led direct signing and remote implementation,
and introducing strategic-level implementation partners, Kingdee aims to
deliver digital transformation applications efficiently and with high quality.

Creating world-class Services: Upholding the mission of “wholeheartedly
serving the enterprise and growing together with users around the
world,” based on Kingdee's Customer Success methodology and the
new generation of end-to-end experience, Kingdee is building a world-
class global service operation system, empowering enterprises and their
personnel to achieve “success, growth, and achievement.”

Creating world-class Reputation: Kingdee is dedicated to winning
the recognition and reputation of a wide range of customers by providing
world-class products, ecosystems, implementation, and services,
establishing a broad reputation and loyalty worldwide, and realizing
“customer referral to customer.”

Group Business Review

As a global leader and China’s top enterprise management cloud SaaS company,
Kingdee has consistently received recognition from renowned research institutions
at home and abroad, winning numerous honors, including:

)

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Awarded the IDC 2023 Global Customer Satisfaction Award for Financial
Saa$, the only company in China to sweep both the Financial and ERP
satisfaction awards.

Awarded the No.1 market share in China for IDC 2023 H1 SaaS ERM
(Enterprise Resource Management Cloud Services) and Financial cloud
Services.

Only Chinese vendor ranked among the top ten global high-productivity
aPaa$S platforms by Gartner for three consecutive years, and the only
Chinese vendor entered into IDC’s Asia Pacific SaaS and Cloud-based ERP
Applications 2023 Vendor Assessment.

Maintaining the No.1 market share in the application software market for
growing enterprises in China for 19 consecutive years, as reported by IDC.

Honored with the highest national award in the field of standardization in
China, the “China Standard Innovation Contribution Award” — First Prize.

Annual Report 2023
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4
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
FBOERRE

Cloud services business

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee firmly implemented the transformation
strategy of cloud subscription service model and met the market demand of
different types of enterprises by creating a “One Arrow, Many Stars” product
matrix. The cloud service business maintained rapid growth, with revenue
increasing to RMB4,504,983,000 from RMB3,714,093,000 for the same period in
2022, representing an increase of approximately 21.3% yoy and accounting for
approximately 79.3% of the Group revenue.

(1)  Rapidly penetrating the large enterprise market, with Al-driven
digital governance at the forefront of transformation

Kingdee Cloud Cosmic and Kingdee Clouds Constellation have become
the new choices for many Fortune 500 companies as the main products
targeting the high-end market. During the Reporting Period, Kingdee
launched an enterprise-level large language model (LLM) capability
platform — Kingdee Clouds Cosmic GPT, which extensively connects with
the general-purpose LLMs from Baidu, Microsoft, and others. Cosmic GPT
has helped enterprises achieve multi-model capability access, multi-task
orchestration, intelligent knowledge engine, and personalized expansion in
complex business scenarios, building a rich array of intelligent applications
in complex enterprise management scenarios. Based on Cosmic GPT,
Kingdee introduced China’s first financial model, encapsulating 30
years of financial knowledge and best practices from serving over 7.4
million customers. The financial model can provide enterprises with
comprehensive analysis and forecasting, expert support, report generation,
and interpretation services. Through the application practices of enterprises
like C&D Property and Hisense, it demonstrated a more innate financial
DNA compared to general-purpose large models.

Kingdee Clouds Constellation continued to improve and expand product
capability, achieving a more advanced platform, superior quality, smarter
applications, and richer scenarios. Constellation maintained a continuous
lead in high-end financial and taxation applications, with EPM (enterprise
performance management) leveraging its independently controllable multi-
dimensional database to surpass foreign products in performance. Treasury
module fully met the requirements of SASAC and assisted Fortune 500
companies like China Merchants Group in building a global treasury.
Constellation further enriched Supply chain and Manufacturing application
scenarios for Fortune 500 companies, with core functions such as cost and
profitability analysis, equipment manufacturing, and more matching the
world's best. Verified by the Weichai Lovol project, Constellation has fully
replaced well-known foreign ERP products, significantly improving 21 key
business indicators, integrating 18 peripheral systems, enhancing 29 core
functional points, achieving business transformation, and becoming the
first successful case of domestic replacement in the large-scale equipment
manufacturing industry. Constellation filled the gap of independent
controllable intelligent manufacturing in the large-scale equipment
manufacturing industry. Constellation HR Cloud continued to build a
world-class HR product, helping large enterprises inlcuidng Huawei,
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Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Shanxi State-Owned Capital Operation, China Construction Bank, Geely
Automobile, Dongfeng Motor, Xiangyu Group, and Belle Group achieve
digital transformation of human resources. With a global perspective,
Constellation established a comprehensive global platform (language,
deployment, privacy, etc.) and global business capabilities (global sharing,
global employment, international taxation, etc.), and has been verified by
the application practices of multiple international large enterprises such as
China Merchants Group, Hisense, Huawei, and HAECO.

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee Cloud Cosmic and Kingdee Cloud
Constellation recorded revenue of approximately RMB981 million,
representing a yoy growth of approximately 40.9%. The subscription
ARR increased by approximately 48.7% yoy, and the Net Dollar Retention
(“NDR”) rate was 105.3%. During the period, 1,458 customers were
signed, of which 647 were new customers, including well-known
enterprises such as Sinachem, China National Building Material, Dongfeng
Motor, Tongwei, China National Petroleum International, Shijiazhuang
Siyao Pharmaceuticals, Fuyao Glass, Mercedez-Benz China, Hongtong
Gas, etc. As of the Reporting Period, Kingdee has helped 221 enterprises to
complete localization substitution.

Continuously leading in the Specialized and New fields, further
solidifying leadership in the medium-size enterprise market

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee Clouds Galaxy Enterprise Edition
continued to expand its integrated advantages in R&D, production,
supply, and sales, as well as the deep integration of business and finance.
Galaxy introduced features such as the electronic invoice pool and refined
manufacturing role-based workstations to continuously enhance user
experience. Kingdee Clouds Galaxy Ultra Edition, leveraging the “Al
priority, platform-leading” advantages, completed coverage of financial,
supply chain, manufacturing, and other scenarios; and achieved Al
intelligence in multiple scenarios, including IPQ intelligence center, BOSS
assistant, smart sales forecasting, supply chain risk intelligent monitoring,
data mart, and more. At the same time, Galaxy Ultra steadily advanced
the “all online model,” and the verifications of online implementation
service processes were completed for the first batch of customers, which
can significantly improve the implementation quality and reduce the
implementation costs. The “co-creation business model” was realized in
the fields of pharmaceuticals and hi-tech, laying the foundation for the deep
and rapid expansion of the industry.

Annual Report 2023
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During the Reporting Period, Kingdee Cloud Galaxy signed more than 1,400
national and provincial specialties and new enterprises, and the market
share of national specialized and new “small giants” reached 43%, further
consolidating the leading position in the market. Kingdee Cloud Galaxy
achieved revenue of approximately RMB1,952 million, representing a yoy
growth of approximately 16.2%. Galaxy cloud subscription ARR increased
by approximately 29.2% yoy, with the NDR of 97.2% and a customer base
of approximately 39,000. Newly signed customers such as REPT Power
Battery System, Jietai Solar, Lexin Medical, Higo Technology, Greater Bay
Technology, Subway China, SK Automation Technology, Haini Biotech and
Laifen Technology, etc.

Small and Micro Finance Cloud maintaining high growth, with
win-win cooperation with partners

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee Cloud Stellar Ultra Edition was
released, providing an integrated production, supply, and marketing
solutions to small and micro manufacturing and trade enterprises. Kingdee
Jingdou Cloud further enhanced intelligent finance and taxation and
digital operations, and upgrading its cloud-native technology architecture
to comprehensively improve product reliability, ease of use, and user
experience. SME partner ecosystem was further developed and expanded,
with the number of marketing and service partners exceeding 1,900.

During the Reporting Period, SME finance cloud continued to grow rapidly,
realizing revenue of approximately RMB1,080 million, representing a yoy
increase of approximately 25.4%, and the subscription ARR increased by
approximately 45.6% yoy; among which, Kingdee Cloud Stellar revenue
increased by approximately 108.6% yoy, and the NDR was 90.8%.

Deepening business cooperation ecosystem and expanding the
digital future together

During the Reporting Period, the Group entered into new strategic
cooperation with cloud service vendors such as CTYun, Baidu and
Microsoft, continued to deepen cooperation with strategic consulting
and implementation partners such as KPMG, iSoftStone, Emnst & Young,
Deloitte and HAND Information, and entered into strategic cooperation with
five partners such as DHC and MOORE. At present, nearly 200 ISV partners
have built digital products based on Cosmic and formed joint industry
solutions by integrating with Kingdee’s standard products, covering 19
major industries including energy and resources, transportation and
logistics, life sciences, process manufacturing, equipment manufacturing,
food and beverage, daily chemicals, modern services, finance and
investment, and electronic high-tech, etc. Kingdee and ecosystem partners
link up the business chain of “research, production, supply, marketing and
service” to fully support enterprise digital transition.

(3)

(4)
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Focusing on advantageous industries, empowering high-quality
development

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee continued to focus on its core
advantageous industries, using “digital governance” innovation to
boost the digital transformation of enterprises and achieve high-quality
development. In the tobacco industry, Kingdee secured major projects
such as the national unified tobacco logistics control system construction
project and digital manufacturing platform project for Changde Tobacco
Machinery, resulting in a significant increase in order value. Kingdee Credit
Technology maintained its leading position in the domestic corporate
finance and tax data credit market, breaking through to over 200 financial
institution partners. Its “Jingwei Cloud” enterprise big data credit platform
introduced risk control solutions such as multiple loan inquiries and anti-
fraud scoring, with data request volume increasing by 204% yoy and
data processing volume growing by 243%. Kingdee Credit Technology
successfully signed and complete projects for well-known enterprises
such as Junlebao Dairy and Geely Remote New Energy Commercial
Vehicle Group. Kingdee Apusic passed the CMMI Level 5 certification,
achieving continuous optimization of the full process of software research
and development management, and released a domestic cloud-native
middleware suite and Middleware Cloud Platform 8.0, helping customers
realize cloud-native transformation and upgrades of their applications.
Kingdee Apusic participation in the drafting of two national information
technology standards further solidifies Kingdee’s leadership in national
standards.

Maintaining optimization of the customer success system to
continuously enhance customer satisfaction

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved a significant improvement
in the timeliness of response and handling of customer feedback through
a series of service innovations and changes; and established a world-class
global service operation system based on a new generation of full-journey
experience with a customer success methodology. Among them, Xu Shao
Chun Public WeChat Account received 879 customer commendations,
representing a yoy increase of 121%, and the overall number of customer
complaints dropped by 45% year on year.

ERP Business and Others

During the Reporting Period, revenue from the ERP business and others increased
approximately 1.9% yoy, from RMB1,151,676,000 in the same period last year to
approximately RMB1,174,090,000.

Investment Property Business

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had amount of investment properties
of approximately RMB1,726,750,000 in total (31 December 2022:
RMB1,734,079,000). During the Reporting Period, the Group generated rental
income of approximately RMB66,087,000 (2022: RMB70,187,000), and the drop
of rental income was due to the increase of self-use area of properties.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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1.

Maijor Financial Information
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded total revenue
of RMB5,679,073,000, representing a yoy growth of 16.7% (2022:
RMB4,865,769,000). Revenue from the Cloud Services increased by 21.3% yoy
to RMB4,504,983,000 (2022: RMB3,714,093,00). Revenue from the ERP business
and others amounted to RMB1,174,090,000 (2022: RMB1,151,676,000), a yoy
increase of 1.9%.

FEMERHA
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R16.7% (= —FRFH : AR%4,865,769,000
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2023 2022
—E_= T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREETTT
Cloud business R ER 4,504,983 3,714,093
— Enterprise cloud services — T EERB 3,127,280 2,576,130
— Small & micro business finance cloud services —/NREA S E AR 1,080,010 861,046
— Industry cloud services —ITEZERHG 297,693 276,917
ERP business and others EBREIRTBIES R EHM 1,174,090 1,151,676
— Sales of software and hardware products —HERH RIEHER 284,305 286,260
— Software implementation services — B RERS 465,604 402,391

— Software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade ~ —BSR A ZE - Kl B AR
and other supporting services HAb TR ARTS 424,181 463,025
5,679,073 4,865,769

Gross Profit

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately RMB3,643,989,000 (2022:
RMB2,997,633,000), a yoy increase of approximately 21.6%. The gross profit
margin increased by 2.6 percentage points yoy to approximately 64.2% (2022:
approximately 61.6%), mainly due to the increase in the proportion of subscription
revenue.

Selling and marketing expenses

During the Reporting Period, selling and marketing expenses totaled approximately
RMB2,319,645,000 (2022: RMB2,026,584,000), representing an increase of
14.5% yoy, mainly due to the increase in sales promotion & marketing expenses
and travelling expenses. Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of total
revenue decreased from 41.6% in 2022 to 40.8% in 2023.
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Administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, administrative expenses totaled approximately
RMB489,964,000, representing a yoy decrease of 2.8% (2022: RMB503,857,000).
Administrative expenses as a percentage of total revenue decreased from 10.4% in
2022 t0 8.6% in 2023.

Research and development expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to focus on “Platform + Financial
& HR & Tax + Ecosystem” strategy, with total research and development costs
amounting to approximately RMB1,509,919,000, representing an increase of 3.5%
yoy (2022: RMB1,458,246,000), of which, the R&D capitalization rate dropped to
31.7% (2022: 33.0%), the capitalized amount was RMB478,349,000, decreased
by approximately 0.4% yoy (2022: RMB480,508,000). Amortisation of research
and development costs during the Reporting Period was RMB408,101,000,
representing an increase of approximately 28.4% yoy (2022: RMB317,738,000).
Research and development expenses recognised in the consolidated income
statement was RMB1,439,671,000, increased by approximately 11.1% yoy (2022:
RMB1,295,476,000). Research and development expenses as a percentage of
revenue decreased from 26.6% in 2022 to 25.4% in 2023.

Operating loss

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded an operating loss
of approximately RMB419,947,000 (2022: operating loss of approximately
RMB587,344,000). Cloud services segment’s operating loss was approximately
RMB369,181,000, representing a decrease of approximately 34.2% yoy (2022: loss
of approximately RMB561,062,000), which was attributable to the operating results
from the Company’s long-term development of cloud subscription model. ERP
business and others segment’s operating loss was approximately RMB79,619,000
(2022: loss of approximately RMB80,882,000). Meanwhile, contribution from
the Group’s investment properties segment declined approximately 47.2% yoy to
approximately RMB28,853,000 (2022: approximately RMB54,600,000).

Finance income - net

During the Reporting Period, the finance income — net amounted to approximately
RMB90,315,000. In the same period of 2022, the finance income — net was
amounted to approximately RMB100,276,000.

Income tax credit
During the Reporting Period, the income tax credit amounted to approximately

RMB31,320,000 (2022: the income tax credit amounted to approximately
RMB21,814,000).

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2023
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Loss and basic losses per share

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the current loss attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately RMB209,890,000 (2022: loss of approximately
RMB389,158,000). Net loss margin attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately 3.7% (2022: net loss margin of approximately 8.0%). Basic losses
per share was approximately RMB6.07 cents (2022: basic losses per share of
approximately RMB11.31 cents).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss amounted to approximately RMB1,007,930,000, representing
an increase of approximately RMB10,511,000 as compared with 31 December
2022, including the non-current portion of approximately RMB964,748,000
(2022: approximately RMB931,164,000) and the current portion of approximately
RMB43,182,000 (2022: approximately RMB66,255,000).

BiRREREFHIR
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss included the following: NAnBEFEAEZHA A AERNEREE
BRENATIER :
2023 2022
=®== —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥ETT

Investments designated at fair value through
profit or loss

BEARBEZSHEANBENRE

Wealth management products (i) BEEEES() 6,000 19,201
Listed equity securities RS 37,182 47,054
Unlisted equity investments (ii) FE_E T RRAEIR & (i) 964,748 931,164
1,007,930 997,419
Less: non-current portion B IERENER Y (964,748) (931,164)
43,182 66,255

(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various wealth management
products issued by commercial banks. These products have a flexible term
of 7 days (2022: 2 months to 24 months) with an expected annual return
rate ranging from 1.05% to 2.30% (2022: 1.50% to 2.85%). No single
wealth management product investment accounted for over 5% of the
Group's total assets.

(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various unlisted equity
investments, including Dmall Inc. and other companies in software
industry.
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Investments in associates BRERE

2023 2022
—EC-=f —EC
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFIT
At 1 January »—A—AH 421,593 393,003
Additions # 0 - 17,336
Dilution gains of an associate E B R ERERG - 15,216
Disposal BE (6,329) (16,812)
Deemed disposal RERE (7,583) -
Impairment of an associate B IR B HRE (1,726) -
Share of profits of associates ZEBERENRNNEE 28,506 12,850
At 31 December »+=ZBR=+—H 434,461 421,593

(a)  Individually immaterial associates (a) SEEXHMBERE

In the opinion of the directors, none of the associates is material to the
Group. Summarised aggregate financial information of the individually
immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity method are as

following:

AEEEERL  AEBEEERNHE
BE - ERRSARENFERBER

BB EMERIT

2023 2022
—E_= TEC
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETFIT

Aggregate carrying amounts of individually IR N RIRERMA S5
immaterial associates 434,461 421,593

Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of: AEBAE D RRERT

Profit for the year FERF 28,506 12,850
Other comprehensive income H AR e s - -
Total comprehensive income Fea =g k=it 28,506 12,850
(h) Al the associates of the Group are unlisted and operate in Mainland China. (h) AEEMBEEAFTHAFLTAR

There are no significant contingent liabilities relating to liabilities of the

associates for which the Group is severally liable.
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(¢) Unrecognised share of losses of associates

(c) KREREEBZLFSR

2023 2022

—E_=F —EICF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREETFTT

At 1 January —H—H 36,862 31,960

Unrecognised share of losses during the year FERNRERNEENDE 3,724 4,902

At 31 December +=—BA=+—H 40,586 36,862

Contract assets SREE

During the Reporting Period, contract assets of the Group were approximately WEHRN R ZZE-_=F+-_A=+—H 'K
RMB362,378,000 as at 31 December 2023 and the corresponding contract assets EEMNERIEEL A AREI62378,0007T © A=
were approximately RMB346,542,000 as at 31 December 2022. T oF+ZA=T—HANBEEEREENA

AR #346,542,0007T °

Loans to third parties KFPE=FHER
2023 2022
—E-= —EC
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREETFTT
Loans to third parties BT E=FTHER 324,916 334,702
Less: Provision for collective impairment assessment of the loans 38 : & FRUE 2 (3,249) (3,347)
Loans to third parties, net of provision BTFEZFNER—FE 321,667 331,355
Less: non-current portion B IERENE Y (90,071) (63,081)
Current portion mENEL D 231,596 268,274

The loans to third parties represented loans made under the micro-credit business,
which bear interest from 4.28% to 24.00% (2022: 4.28% to 24.00%) per annum
and are repayable with fixed terms agreed with the customers, and all denominated
in RMB.

The fair values of the loans to third parties approximated their carrying amounts.
The interest accrued was due within 12 months and presented in interest
receivables

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.

RTE=ZITWERRNBEEXBRELANE
K BERE R ERAT4.28%5)24.00% (=T = =4 ¢
4.28%%1124.00%) 2 ] - 1 ELE P 7 RE RO B E A
BANEE - BIUAREEHE -

ZETE=ZNTEFN A BEEERAGEER
AT o AFEFHEABKF SERBEAREHE - I
BRI R B o

AEBEZRAEBEERVERRFELBONME
- UREEERSHEREERR S HER
EEMe BT HAERAREERELM - K
SEBEEARS A BB LR ONEREYS
R AR EBETTILER -
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The Group performed expected credit loss assessment of loans to third parties
collectively by grouping loans with similar credit risk characteristics. During the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the majority of the loans were in stage 1
and there was no significant change in credit quality for loans for both years.

Contract liabilities

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s contract liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB3,176,589,000 as at 31 December 2023. The corresponding
contract liabilities amounted to approximately RMB2,631,035,000 as at 31
December 2022. The increase in contract liabilities during the year was mainly due
to the growth of the Group’s cloud subscription service business.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a total cash and bank deposits of
approximately RMB5,692,651,000 (31 December 2022: RMB4,296,103,000). As at
31 December 2023, the Group held asset management products of RMB6,000,000
(31 December 2022: RMB19,201,000). A substantial part of the Group’s cash, bank
deposits and wealth management products were denominated in RMB and the
RMB-equivalent of the part denominated in foreign currencies were approximately
RMB284,646,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: RMB87,142,000),
which were mainly denominated in US dollar and Hong Kong dollar.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net current assets amounted to approximately
RMB1,174,033,000 (31 December 2022: RMB218,263,000). As at 31 December
2023, the current ratio of current assets to current liabilities was approximately 1.26.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s borrowings amounted to RMB776,900,000
(31 December 2022: 470,000,000).
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Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its
borrowings. Borrowings carried at floating rates exposed the Group to cash flow
interest-rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, the Group will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings of the Group which were bearing at
floating rates amounted to RMB776,900,000 (2022: RMB470,000,000). As at 31
December 2023, if the interest rates had been 50 basis point higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the years ended
31 December 2023 would have been approximately RMB3,496,050 higher/lower
(2022: approximately RMB2,115,000 higher/lower).

Foreign exchange risk

The functional currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries is RMB. The
majority of the revenues of the Group are derived from operations in the People’s
Republic of China.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between RMB and other currencies
in which the Group conducts business may affect its financial position and results
of operations. The foreign exchange risk faced by the Group mainly comes from
movements in the US dollars/RMB and Hong Kong dollars/RMB exchange rates.

At 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any derivative financial instrument
for which hedging accounting was applied.

At 31 December 2023, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
HKD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB7,463,000 (2022: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB3,206,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of HKD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.

At 31 December 2023, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
USD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB6,693,000 (2022: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB1,077,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of USD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.

B @i fo R EH =6
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Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt
instruments carried at amortised cost, at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables.

The management manages the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents, pledged
and short-term and long-term bank deposits and wealth management products
(classified as financial assets at FVPL) by transacting with state-owned financial
institutions and reputable commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in mainland China and Hong Kong.

In relation to trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has two kinds of
distribution channels, one is sales to distributors and the other is sales to end
customers.

For sales to distributors, the Group has assessed the credit quality of the
distributors, taking into account their financial position, past experience and
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by management. The compliance with credit limits by
distributors is regularly monitored by management.

For sales to end customers, the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in trade receivables since the balance of trade receivables is composed of
numerous individual small items and the exposure spreads over a large number of
customers.

The Group's investments in debt instruments, including loans to the third
parties and related parties as well as entrust loans are considered to be low
risk investments. The credit ratings of the investments are monitored for credit
deterioration.

For other receivables, management considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been significant increase in
credit risk on an on-going basis. The directors of the Company believe that there
is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balances of other
receivables.
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Fund and working capital management

Our funds and liquidity management are centrally carried out by our fund
management department. Our fund management department is generally
responsible for overall management and implementation of funds, including
formulating the capital management policy for our Group, guiding, coordinating
and standardizing the fund management of regional companies, making annual
funding plans, reviewing and summarizing annual capital budget, overseeing and
assessing fund management of each regional company. Our finance departments
of regional companies are committed to implementing the fund management
policies formulated by our headquarters and are responsible for making funding
plans and executing capital operations at subsidiary level. The Group has also
adopted sophisticated fund management policies and implemented a set of
rules and guidelines on fund management, such as the Group Capital Internal
Control Management Measures (5 B1& & Efff (o2 B2 #H%)) and Fund
Settlement Of Branch Offices Management Measures ({9 X B EE ©4EE
EIRPE)), to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of fund management,
thereby ensuring our financial security and reducing cost of capital.

To manage our idle cash on hand, the Group purchases and redeems wealth
management products using them as our “cash pool” from which we could
readily access cash as needed and generate higher yield than bank deposits. The
underlying financial assets of the wealth management products in which the Group
invested primarily consist of the low-risk wealth management products issued by
financial institutions. The amount of the purchase will be determined based on our
surplus funds. The Group’s main treasury policy on fund management is the Wealth
Management Administration Solution (& & IZ8IEIE##)%)). The Group
consistently complies with its treasury policy during the procedures of purchasing
the wealth management products and managing the relevant departments, as well as
in conducting business, accounting and filing.

The Group is committed to safeguarding overall financial security and maintaining
a strong cash position and a healthy debt profile with strong repayment ability. By
adopting a full, reasonable and professional assessment mechanism, preparing
annual and monthly funding plans, the Group has established disciplined fund
management principal, which allows it to efficiently manage market risks.

For budget management, we have established a monthly, quarterly and annual
budget management system, then seek approval from our chief financial officer.
The capital budget plans should be made based on the objective basis of the
Group’s business plans, project schedules, and contractual payment terms to
ensure that the plan accurately matches the actual business needs.
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Major properties

The following table sets forth the details of the major properties held by the Group as

of 31 December 2023.

EEMR

TRETTARER
=T RUEFEMENAD

E Sl

=®+=A

Property name Location Existing use Lease term Total Fair Value
MERE it REHE HEHER HTEEE
RMB'000
ARBFT
Beijing Kingdee Software Park No. 4 Fuxing Street, Mapo Town, Shunyi District, Beijing Offices Long-term 652,722
City, the PRC
b & et E L RIS [ S IR SRR B I T YN ~H
Shanghai Kingdee Software Park No. 88 Chenhui Road, Zhangjiang High Technology Park,  Offices Long-term 376,070
Pudong District, Shanghai City, the PRC
e REHE PE PETHERROLEMEHE R REReSTE  HAE £H
Shenzhen Kingdee Software Park No. 2, No. 12 Technology Road South, High Technology Offices Long-term 283,779
(Phase 1) Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
YR SRR (—H) H B R A A R L [ RHR E R 1288 25% WAE RH
Shenzhen Kingdee Cloud Building No. 2, No. 12 Technology Road South, High Technology Offices Long-term 342,649
(Phase 2) Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
Y& WEEE (ZH) B R A A T L [ R FE R 1288 255% PRE =H
Shenzhen W1-B Level 4, Building W1, High-tech Industrial Village, No. 1 Offices Long-term 71,530
Technology Road South, Nanshan District, Shenzhen
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC
FIIWA-8 FREREAMITELERRE - BaRIE BAE ~H
FWARR S 55 70 [
1,726,750
Contingencies HAREIR

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have material contingent liabilities,
guarantees or litigations or claims of material importance, pending or threatened
against any member of the Group (2022: Nil).

Gearing ratio

For details regarding he gearing ratio, please refer to Note 3.3 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Employee and Renumeration Policy

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total headcount reached 12,348. The
Group adheres to a “customer-centric, long-term commitment to professionalism”
philosophy, continuing to encourage product innovation and quality enhancement,
and implementing the three pillars of support: “Organization, Talent, and Culture.”
The Group maintains a focus on “strivers-oriented, long-term adherence to clarity
and purity of heart,” continuously attracting leading talent for cloud transformation
and outstanding new graduates, encouraging managers and core employees to
rotate positions, cultivating operational and innovative talents, and stimulating
organizational vitality. The Group provides employees with a variety of training
courses in professional skills and leadership, and has adopted several share plans
to motivate and reward employees’ contributions.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report and the sections headed “Share Option Schemes” and “Share
Award Scheme” in this annual report.

The Group's remuneration policy is primarily based on the duties, performance,
outstanding contribution and length of service of each employee with reference
to prevailing market conditions; and in evaluating the amount of remuneration
payable to Directors and senior management, the factors to be considered
by the remuneration committee of the Company include the salaries paid by
similar companies, tenure of Directors and senior management, commitment,
responsibilities and individual performance (as the case may be), etc.

Regarding remuneration payable to members of senior management (which include
two directors, namely Mr. XU Shao Chun and Mr. LIN Bo, and another individual)
by band: (i) details of remuneration of the two directors are set out in Note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements; and (i) the other individual’s emolument
(including but not limited to salaries and share-based compensation) falls under
the band of HKD13,000,001 — HKD13,500,000.
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The Group actively fulfills its corporate social responsibilities and contributes to
sustainable development. During the Reporting Period, Kingdee was selected for
the S&P Global Sustainable Yearbook (China Edition) 2023, becoming the highest-
rated Chinese software company in S&P’s global ESG scores.

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee actively participated in scientific research
and teaching reform initiatives in digital finance, intelligent finance and taxation,
and new-generation information technology, led by the Ministry of Education.
Kingdee supports universities in curriculum system development, teaching content
reform, faculty training, practical condition building, scientific research, targeted
talent training, employment and internship base construction, and human resource
development. In collaboration with institutions such as Huazhong University of
Science and Technology, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Fudan University, Sichuan
University, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, Central University of
Finance and Economics, and Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, Kingdee
has secured 168 projects funded by the Ministry of Education. In November 2023,
Kingdee was honored with the “Outstanding Contribution Enterprise” and “Excellent
Partner” titles for its significant contributions to industry-academia collaboration in
collaborative education.

Kingdee continues to offer digital transformation training series for CEQOs, CIOs,
and other executives through the Kingdee Digital Academy, conducting specialized
workshops and hosting two major circle events: the CF050+ Forum and the CIO
Digital Summit, with over 300 senior executives participating, to facilitate the
digital transformation of Chinese enterprises. Kingdee also supports the China
Management Model Excellence Award and the “China Management Model 50+”
Forum (“China Management Global Forum”), collaborating with management
scholars, entrepreneurs, and society to advance corporate management practices.

Kingdee remains committed to public welfare, continuing to support the Siyuan
Foundation's project for impoverished students in Ya'an, Sichuan, and launching
the “Fourth Kingdee Education Immigration Class” to help 50 impoverished
students complete their high school education, supporting students in Sichuan,
Hunan, Jiangsu, and other regions to realize their growth dreams.

Outlook

2024 marks the beginning of Kingdee’s strategy towards world-class excellence.
Kingdee will uphold our mission of “wholeheartedly serving enterprises and
growing together with all users”, continue to deepen the cloud transformation,
advance our core strategy of “Subscription priority, Al priority”, enhance the
added value of digital management for Chinese enterprises, and help enterprises
accelerate the construction of new-quality productivity and realize high-quality
development.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFEREREERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

XU Shao Chun (&2 %F), aged 60, is the founder of the Group, chairman of the Board,
chief executive officer and the Government Special Allowance Expert awarded by the
State Council. Mr. XU graduated from the Southeast University in Computer Science and
obtained a Master of Accounting from the Research Institute for Fiscal Science, Ministry of
Finance (now known as the Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences) and an Executive Master
of Business Administration (EMBA) from China Europe International Business School (42
BRBIRSE T rE226). Mr. XU is the President of the Shenzhen Accounting Association.
He has served as a member of each of the Ninth and Tenth Central Committee of the China
Democratic National Construction Association, a director of the China Siyuan Foundation
for Poverty Alleviation, the vice president of the China Software Industry Association, and
the vice president of the Shenzhen Private Entrepreneurs Chamber of Commerce. By virtue
of his profound understanding of corporate strategy and operational management, forward-
looking technological sense and keen insight on the development trends of the global
software industry, Mr. XU had been actively promoting the objective of “Enable the Chinese
management model to rise in the world”, and is committed to leading the Group to become
the world’s leading service provider of management and IT integrated solutions. Owing to
his outstanding achievements in the implementation of this undertaking, Mr. XU was the
subject of numerous awards. He has been awarded the “World Indigenous Entrepreneur
Award of the United Nations”, “10 Outstanding Entrepreneur Award”, “Outstanding Leader
of China's Information Industry”, “30 Effective People who Contributed to the Success
of Shenzhen’s 3 Decades of Reform and Opening”, “Meritorious Shenzhen Business
Leaders who Contributed to the Success of Shenzhen’s 4 Decades of Reform and Opening”
and “Shenzhen Science and Technology Innovation Mayor's Award”. Mr. XU was an
independent non-executive director of Zero2IPO Holdings Inc. (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1945) from December 2020 to 6 June 2022.

LIN Bo (#F:), aged 50, has been an executive Director since 2016. Mr. LIN obtained
a bachelor’s degree of Computer Science from the Xiamen University. He is currently the
chief financial officer of the Company. After joining the Company in 1997, Mr. LIN has
served as the general manager of the Company in the Fujian Province Region, the general
manager of the Operation Management Department and the director of the Strategic
Development Department of the Group. Mr. LIN has extensive experiences in strategic
planning, marketing management and financial management. Mr. LIN has been awarded
the “Top 10 CFO in China of the year 2018
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Non-executive Directors

DONG Ming Zhu (EEBA®E), aged 69, has been a non-executive Director since 2012.
Ms. DONG obtained a Master's Degree in Business Administration from the Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law. She is now the chairman of the board and President of
Gree Electric Appliances, Inc. of Zhuhai (stock code: SZ000651), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Ms. DONG had been elected as a member of each of the 10th,
11th, 12th, 13th and 14th National People’s Congress, a member of the 10th, 11th and 12th
Executive Committee of All-China Women’s Federation, a member of the 13th Five-Year
Plan Expert Committee of the National Development and Reform Commission, a member
of the Advisory Committee of the All-China Federation of Industry and Commerce, a United
Nations Ambassador for Sustainable Urban Development, the first rotating chairperson of
the UNDP Commission on Sustainable Development, and Chairperson of the ISO/TC86/
SC4. Ms. DONG has solid experience in marketing and the management of household
appliances, and the Regional Sales Model that she developed has been commended as an
“Excellent Achievement of Modernizing Enterprises’ Management of Guangdong Province”.
Ms. DONG has been dedicated to creating local Chinese brands and was awarded the
“National Model Worker”, “National May 1 Labor Medal”, “National March 8th Red Banner
Pacesetter”, China Patent Gold Award, the Third China Quality Award, Liu Yuanzhang
Quality Technology Contribution Award, Fudan University Outstanding Contribution to
Enterprise Management Award, Top 10 Management Innovation Leaders Practitioners
of Tsinghua Business Review in 2018, and “China Outstanding Individual for Quality
(National Individual Quality Award)”, Nomination Award for the 4th China Quality Award,
Outstanding Contribution Award of China Standard Innovation Contribution Award, and
other honors and titles, and has been selected by CCTV as “Economic Personality of the
Year” three times, and was listed in Fortune Magazine’s “World's Most Influential Women
in Business” seventeen times.

Gary Clark BIDDLE (B E&T®), aged 72, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 2004, and has been re-designated as a non-gxecutive Director since 31 December
2021. Mr. BIDDLE is the Professor of Financial Accounting at the University of Melbourne
and visiting professor at Columbia University, the University of Hong Kong (“HKU") and
London Business School. Mr. BIDDLE earned his MBA and PhD degrees at the University
of Chicago. He previously served as a professor at the University of Chicago, the University
of Washington, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (“HKUST”) and
HKU, and as a visiting professor at China Europe International Business School (China),
Fudan University (China), University of Glasgow (UK), Institute for Management (IMD)
(Switzerland) and Skolkovo Business School (Russia). Regarding academic leadership,
Mr. BIDDLE served as the Dean and Chair Professor at HKU, and as the Academic Dean,
Department Head, Council member, Court member, Senate member and Chair Professor
at HKUST. Professionally, he is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA), Australian Institute of Company Directors, CPA Australia and Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. BIDDLE is a member
of the American Accounting Association Executive Board, and as a Vice-President and
Invited President-Elect Candidate, and a member of each of the Accounting Hall of
Fame Selection Committee, Financial Reporting Review Panel of the Financial Reporting
Council of Hong Kong, HKICPA Council, Accreditation and Financial Reporting Standards
Committees of HKICPA, and Hong Kong Institute of Directors Training Committee;
and as the President and co-founding Council Member of the Hong Kong Academic
Accounting Association. Mr. BIDDLE is a leading expert in financial and management
accounting, value creation, economic forecasting, corporate governance and performance
metrics. Mr. BIDDLE is currently an independent non-executive director of Shui On Land
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 272).
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Independent non-executive Directors

ZHOU Jun Xiang (JB#27¥), aged 58, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 31 December 2021. Mr. ZHOU obtained a bachelor's degree in computer science
from Wuhan University in 1986 and a master’s degree in accounting from the Chinese
Academy of Fiscal Sciences of the Ministry of Finance in 1989. In addition, Mr. ZHOU
obtained the certificates of each of Chinese Certified Public Accountant and Chinese
Certified Asset Appraiser. Mr. ZHOU is a Patner of Beijing Dahua International Accounting
Firm (special general partnership), and served as a Partner of Dahua Certified Public
Accountants (special general partnership) and BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public
Accountants LLP. Mr. ZHOU is also a member of each of the Expert Group and Review
Committee of Shenzhen Municipal Government Guidance Fund, Shenzhen Municipal
Government Stable Fund and Shenzhen Angel FOF. Mr. ZHOU is currently an independent
director of each of Suntak Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 002815), Shenzhen Institute of Building Research Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300675) and Shen Zhen
Kaifa Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 000021). In addition, Mr. ZHOU was an independent director of Cedar Development
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002485) from
September 2019 to June 2021, and an independent director of Shenzhen Fangzhi Science
& Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
300235) from September 2018 to April 2023.

Katherine Rong XIN, aged 60, has been an independent non-executive Director since
31 December 2021. Ms. XIN received a master's degree in applied linguistics from the
Graduate University of Chinese Academy of Sciences (4 BRI afFEA£ERx) in July
1986, and a master's degree in business administration (MBA) from the California State
University in June 1991. She obtained a doctor’s degree in business administration from
the University of California in June 1995. Ms. XIN has been a professor of management
since September 2001 at the China Europe International Business School (AP EXEIFR
T P9E0t). She served as an assistant professor of management at the University of
Southern California from September 1995 to August 1999. She served as an associate
professor of management at HKUST from September 1999 to August 2001, and as a
professor of management in the Faculty of IMD, Lausanne, Switzerland from August 2006
to December 2009. Ms. XIN was awarded the Chinese Most Cited Researchers by Elsevier,
a global provider of scientific, technical, and medical information, for seven consecutive
years from 2014 to 2020. Ms. XIN is currently an independent director of Contemporary
Amperex Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 300750), and an independent non-executive director of each of Fosun Tourism
Group (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1992),
EuroEyes International Eye Clinic Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1846) and Landsea Green Life Service Company Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1965).
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BO Lian Ming (5&5H8), aged 60, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 30 December 2022. Mr. BO obtained a PhD. in Management from Xi'an Jiaotong
University in 2006. Mr. BO is the founder and chief enterprise growth designer of
Shenzhen Mingwei Management Consulting Co., Ltd. Mr. BO served as a chief accountant
of Shenzhen Airlines Co., Limited from 1993 to 2000; successively served as vice
president, president and executive director of TCL Technology Group Corporation, a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000100), from 2000 to
2018, and successively served as executive director, chief executive officer and the
chairman of the board of TCL Electronics Holdings Limited (formerly named as TCL
Multimedia Technology Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01070), from 2010 to 2018. He was the general manager
and director of Appotronics Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 688007), from 2018 to 2022 (including as director from 18 July
2018 to 11 March 2022). Mr. BO is currently a representative of the Shenzhen Municipal
People’s Congress, an executive dean of the Industrial College of Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool
University, a practical distinguished professor of the National School of Development
of Peking University, a distinguished professor of management practice of the HSBC
Business School of Peking University, and a member of the Federation of Shenzhen
Commerce, Professor of Management Practice at the School of Business of National
University of Singapore and Distinguished Professor of the HEC Management School of
the University of Liege, Belgium.

COMPANY SECRETARY

SIU Man Ho, Simon (E&3Z %), aged 50 who joined the Company in 2019 and is
a practicing solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws
degree from HKU in 1996 and is a partner of a law firm, namely Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum.
Mr. SIU is also a China Appointed Attesting Officer appointed by the Ministry of Justice
of the PRC. His areas of practice include corporate finance, capital markets, securities,
mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and general commercial matters. He also actively
participates in charitable and social services in Hong Kong. He was previously appointed
as the director of Hong Kong Pok Qi Hospital. He is currently acting as the legal adviser for
United Hearts Youth Foundation and VQ Foundation as well as the school manager of The
Association of Directors & Former Directors of Pok Oi Hospital Leung Sing Tak College.
He is also the member of the Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference in Yangjiang City of Guangdong Province, the PRC. Mr. SIU is currently an
independent non-executive director of each of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(stock code: 897), Litu Holdings Limited (stock code: 1008) and HKE Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1726), which are all listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was
an independent non-executive director of Shuang Yun Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1706) from October 2007 to August
2023.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

XU Shao Chun (#2>%), chief executive officer of the Company — see the paragraph
under “Executive Directors” above.

LIN Bo (#Fi), chief financial officer of the Company — see the paragraph under
“Executive Directors” above.

ZHANG Yong (E ), aged 49, is the president of each of kingdee International and
Kingdee China. Mr. ZHANG graduated from China Europe International Business School
(FPBRBIRE TR E26). After joining the Company in 1995, he has served as General
Manager of Shanghai Branch and General Manager of East China Region successively. Mr.
ZHANG has played vital roles in the marketing and marketing management, etc. Therefore,
he has rich experience in marketing and team management. Mr. ZHANG is one of the
“Second Session IT Youth Top Ten New Talent in Shanghai”, one of the “Fifth Session
Top Ten Qutstanding Youth in Putuo District”, and one of the “2008 Shanghai Information
Service Industry Leaders”. Also, he was once a member of the Standing Committee of the
12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in Putuo District, Shanghai, and
vice president of Shanghai Informatization Youth Talent Association.
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the Reporting Period.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis of Operations

Shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 0268) and the Company is headquartered in
Shenzhen, PRC. Adhering to the core values of “acting in all conscience, with integrity and
righteousness”, the Company is committed to “helping businesses achieve their growth
targets and grow together with users all over the world” through dedicated services. It
strives to become “the most trusted corporate service platform”. Through persistent efforts
to explore China’s Cloud enterprise services market, Kingdee has retained the largest share
in the enterprise application software sector and is ranked No. 1 by IDC in China’s growing
enterprise application software market share for 19 consecutive years.

Many cloud service products of Kingdee have won the favour of benchmark enterprises,
which included Kingdee Cloud Cosmic (Assemble enterprise-class PaaS), Kingdee Cloud
Constellation (SaaS solution for large-sized enterprises), Kingdee Cloud-Galaxy (SaaS
solution for medium-sized enterprises) and Kingdee Cloud Stellar (SaaS solution for micro
and small enterprises). Kingdee has provided digital management solutions for more than
7.4 million enterprises, governments and other organizations around the world.

The revenue and loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Reporting Period
were approximately RMB5,679,073,000 and RMB209,890,000, respectively. Of such
revenue, approximately 20.7% was derived from the sales of the ERP business and
approximately 79.3% was derived from the Cloud services business. For details, please
refer to the consolidated income statement set out on page 86.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the Reporting Period as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”),
including (i) a discussion of the principal business risks and uncertainties facing the
Group; (ii) an indication of likely future developments of the Group’s business; (iii) key
financial performance indicators of the development, performance and position of the
Group’s business; and (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and the Group’s compliance with the laws and regulations having significant
impact on the Group’s business are provided in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section, on pages 17 to 28 of this annual report, Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements and the 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report published
online at the same time of this annual report.
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Results and Final Dividend

The performance for the Reporting Period is set out in the consolidated income statement
on page 86.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future business growth. In deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account the
Group’s financial results and cashflow, its Shareholders’ interests, general business
conditions and strategies, current and future operations, liquidity and capital requirements,
taxation considerations, statutory and regulatory restrictions, and any other factors the
Board may deem relevant.

The recommendation of the payment of dividend is subject to the determination of the
Board, and any declaration of final dividend for the year will be subject to the approval of
the Shareholders. The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and any other applicable laws, rule and regulations,
and the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

The Board does not recommend the declaration and payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 9 May 2024 to
Thursday, 16 May 2024 (both days inclusive), during which periods no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to be qualified to attend, participate in and vote at the annual
general meeting (the “AGM”) to be held on Thursday, 16 May 2024, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
ater than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 8 May 2024.

Bank Borrowings

Details of bank loans and other borrowings for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 21
to the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable reserves to its Shareholders
amounting to RMB6,428,683,000 (2022: RMB5,027,537,000). Details of movements in
the reserves of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 89 of this annual report.

Donations

During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable and other donations amounted to
approximately RMB300,000 (2022: Nil).

RIEREKHER

BE_T_=—F+_H=t+—R0 XEEXEHENE
86E 2 ADHBZRNA °

ARBEHRAT —EREBER  EEBERERRE
B ARERFEHNESHEARCHEEEAR
SRMAREBIER - TEREEDEZBEMAEELE
TRE  EEEREEAKENMBREMRER -
HEROF G - — R EES - 2 ATAMARAGE
2 RBEMEARENR - RHEERE  AEMNEERS
AR EFERSEENEAEMESE -

EFEGREEDEZIRNEE  SIRFERBIIAL
RECRALE - BB X (RS BEERRIE) M
HAEMAER » RAMIGHIA R A RIMABEIZAA
(TERDHIRHI -

BEEeABEEREAYNEBEE-_ZE-_=ZF+=A4
=t+t—HIEZHRRB(CZEF + &) -

HEMEREBFREIEFR

RRABNREZFZMER_Z_NERANB(EE
ME—ZF_NFERA+TRE(EHM(BEEERE)
BE - R TSR ARG B FE - B
REREFER —Z_WFERA+ A (ZHM) A
RFAFAE(RRBEFAE)) LHE - 2HERIKE
SEEN - FTEBPIEERBRRRAN T _MF
FANR(BH=) AR £ R MR EE AR RRE
BOBRNBPELAREETRESELARAR
WA AEE 2R ARER183FE M O17H81712-1716
SRA o

S|MITHERR

AARRZZEZ=F+-A=1+—HEEZRITEE
REMBRF BTN G I B REM T2 -

foti 7
R-B-=F+-A=+—8  FRANTHRES
IREV A KARY6,428,683,000L (— T = — 4 : 4

AR#5,027,537,0007T) - REENHRE R 2 FEEHES
BNFIARN A HHESEF K -

WA - ANEEEDAFHHIAREES00,000T 2 E K
BEMBER(CEZZF )

CTOCFFR SRERBAEEERAT 35



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERE

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 7 of this annual report.

Fixed Assets

Details of movements in the fixed assets of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interests of the Directors in Contracts

Save as disclosed under the heading “Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Related
Party Transactions” in this annual report, no Director or an entity connected with a Director
has or had a material direct or indirect interest in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the Group’s business for the Reporting Period in which the Group was a
party.

Please also refer to Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements for other details.
Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions regarding pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands
or the Articles of Association, which would oblige the Company to issue new shares to its
existing Shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholdings.

Major properties

Details of the principal properties held for development and/or sale and for investment
purposes are set out on page 26 of this annual report.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to its Shareholders by
reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.
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Share Capital and Options

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the Reporting
Period are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
156,948,500 ordinary shares of the Company with an aggregate nominal value
of HK$3,923,712.5 were issued during the Reporting Period as a result of the
issue of new Shares under general mandate and the exercise of share options. The
Company had received HK$1,569,514,460 in total from such issuances. Details
about the issue of shares are also set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the section headed “Share Option Schemes” and “Equity-linked
agreement” in this annual report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

During the Reporting Period, the Company purchased 5,571,000 Shares on the
Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$68,618,391
pursuant to the share award scheme as adopted by the Company on 4 December
2015 (the “Share Award Scheme”).

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Share Option Schemes

The share option schemes were adopted by the Company to encourage and reward the
contribution of eligible persons to the Company. Eligible persons include employees,
directors, partners, consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group.

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting on 11 July 2005 (the “2005 Scheme”) and the adjustment made due to the bonus
issue and the refreshment on the scheme limit in 2011, an aggregate of 529,501,600
share options were granted, of which 322,794,193 share options were exercised and
205,222,407 share options lapsed since its adoption. Thus, 1,485,000 share options
remained outstanding as at 31 December 2023.
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At the AGM convened on 8 May 2015, the Company terminated the 2005 Scheme and
adopted a new share option scheme (the “2015 Scheme”) with a validity period of ten
years. The remaining life of the 2015 Scheme was around one year as at the date of this
annual report. As at 31 December 2023, 7,193,500 share options remained outstanding.
According to the scheme mandate limit of the 2015 Scheme (being 259,264,096 share
options), less the 40,000,000 share options granted by the Company and plus 9,145,000
lapsed share options since the adoption, the Company may further grant 228,409,096
share options as of 31 December 2023 (as of 1 January 2023: 228,409,096). Hence, the
number of shares available for issue under the 2015 Scheme is 235,602,596, representing
approximately 6.49% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as at the date of
this annual report.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon the exercise of the share options granted
under the 2015 Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including
exercised and outstanding share options) to each eligible participant in any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant.

The grant of any share option to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of grant and with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the shares of the Company as at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, is subject to the issue of a circular by the Company
and the approval of the Shareholders in advance at a general meeting. The grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company must abstain from voting at
such general meeting.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of a share option. The validity period of a share option may not end later than
ten (10) years from the date of grant. The terms of the 2015 Scheme do not specify the
period within which the share option may be exercised by the grantee or the vesting period,
but specify that the Board may, at their absolute discretion, fix the period within which a
share option may be exercised, the vesting period, any performance targets that must be
achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the share options can be
exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determined by the Board, but may not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.
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Details of the movements of the share options pursuant to the 2005 Scheme and the 2015 $R&EHAAN @ RIE - ST R EBRETEI R -—E—RF

Scheme during the Reporting Period are as follows: IR AT BB MERFIB I N RAG -
Closing
Options price of Options Options
Options granted  the Options  exercised lapsed Options
Exercise  heldat31  duringthe immediately  duringthe  duringthe  held at 31
Date of Exercise price  December  Reporting  beforethe  Reporting  Reporting  December
grant period per share 2022 Period date of grant Period Period 2023
(Note 1) (HKD)
3 B
k- bt RicHmRE k-
+ZR  HEMA  RHAN  BERA BEHA +=R
Name ot category i A =+-H2 RHaY ZHiRy TRy %M Z+-Bz
of participants SHELFR WHAW  TEH friemEe MWERESE MRERE KEES BERESE WERERE WREXE
(1) (&)
Directors =
LinBo R 12/05/2015 12/05/2015T0 46 300,000 - 475 300,000 - 0
11/05/2025
Sub-total vt 300,000 - - 300,000 - 0
Employess E& 2/03/2013 2/03/2013T0 134 1,442,500 - 1.36 415,000 1,027,500 0
21/03/2023
23/042014 23/04/201470 266 2,281,000 - 2.56 796,000 - 1,485,000
22/04/2024
12/05/2015 12/05/2015T0 46 8,004,000 - 415 810,500 - 7,193,500
11/05/2025
Sub-total Vit 11,727,500 - - 2,021,500 1,027,500 8,678,500
TOTAL &t 12,027,500 - - 2,321,500 1,027,500 8,678,500
Notes: s -
(1) The vesting period of the share options granted was four years, and all of the options (1) BRENEBBHANST  MEERESDES -

had been vested.

(2)  The weighted average closing price prior to exercise of share options by each of Lin () MERAEEESITEANINEFLSKEES L
Bo and the employees of the Group was approximately HK$16.42 and HK$13.17, 16,4275 70 ~ RABATHETT ©
respectively.

(3)  During the Reporting Period, no share option was cancelled. (3)  IREHIAN - mEEMRAEW Y o
For further details, please refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements. BEFMIEN - B2RE M BHRERM 0 -
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Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme was adopted by the Company on 4 December 2015 to provide
incentives and reward the contributions of key employees and directors of the Group. The
Share Award Scheme only involves existing shares of the Company and will not involve
any issue of new shares. The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing from the adoption date. The remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme as at the date of this annual report is approximately 2 years. The Board may, from
time to time, in its absolute discretion select the participants, including (i) employees
(whether full-time or part-time and including any executive director), consultants or
advisers of or to the Group (subject to compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules),
and (ii) any non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the
Group, after taking into various factors as they deem appropriate and determine the number
of award shares to be awarded to each of the selected participants.

The award shares will comprise shares of the Company subscribed for or purchased by
the trustee out of cash arranged by the Company out of the Company’s funds to the trustee
and be held on trust for the selected participants until such Shares are vested with the
selected participants in accordance with the provisions of the Share Award Scheme. No
consideration is required to be paid for the acceptance or vesting of the award shares.

The terms of the Share Award Scheme do not specify (i) any period for an award to be
vested; (ii) any amount required to be paid on acceptance of an award nor the payment
period; and (iii) any basis of determining the purchase price (if any) of award shares.
A selected participant shall be entitled to receive the award shares held by the trustee
appointed by the Company for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme in accordance with
the vesting schedule upon satisfaction of the vesting criteria and conditions specified by
the Board in the offer of the grant of the relevant award shares.

The Board shall not make any further award of award shares which will result in the
nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board under the Share Award Scheme
exceeding 3% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time (107,804,108
shares as at the date of this annual report). For the avoidance of doubt, the 3% limit
provided above shall exclude any shares which have been vested. The maximum number
of shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under the Share Award Scheme
in any twelve (12)-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

For details of the Share Award Scheme, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 18 December 2015.
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The number of award shares available for grant under the Share Award Scheme at the
beginning of the Reporting Period was 81,235,953 and at the end of the Reporting Period
was 88,942,233. During the Reporting Period, the Company had granted 8,187,000 award

WEMORER D RE BT RO RBRHBER
81,235,953 + & HAR /288,942,233 - $REH] - RO FR
PRAR 1) SR EDET 214X 118,187 000 AR BEEI A 10 - & HREY

shares pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, with details of the movements of the award ~ ZZENIR (Y EENFFBEIT -
shares during the Reporting Period as follows:
Number of Closing price Number of
Award Shares of the Shares Award Shares
notyetvestedas  Granted during immediately ~ Vested during  Lapsed during not yet vested as
at 31 December  the Reporting before the date  the Reporting  the Reporting at 31 December
Date of grant 2022 Period of grant Period Period 2023
an #HE
- —Z-CF
Name or the +=B=+- BERE +ZA=+-
categories MR ARREEN R A EZA ARREEN
of the grantee 2HEEH #FAH BEHRHBE BEHHRH BETmREE BENARE BEOAER RBREBE
Directors S
Xu Shao Chun ®"IE 19/05/2019 300,000 - 8.13 300,000 - -
26/068/2020 150,000 - 18.20 75,000 - 75,000
20/05/2021 150,000 - 26.05 50,000 - 100,000
268/03/2022 150,000 - 16.74 37500 - 112,500
20/03/2023 100,000 16.30 - - 100,000
Sub-total et 750,000 100,000 462,500 387,500
LinBo R 19/05/2019 200,000 - 8.13 200,000 - -
26/08/2020 125,000 - 18.20 62,500 - 62,500
20/05/2021 112500 - 26.05 37500 - 75,000
268/03/2022 150,000 - 16.74 37500 - 112,500
20/03/2023 - 100,000 16.30 - - 100,000
Sub-total it 587,500 100,000 337,500 350,000
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Number of Closing price Number of
Award Shares of the Shares Award Shares
notyetvestedas  Granted during immediately ~ Vested during  Lapsed during not yet vested as
at 31 December  the Reporting hefore the date  the Reporting  the Reporting at 31 December
Date of grant 2022 Period of grant Period Period 2023
(1 #E
onl Jonfnt —ZC=
Name or the +ZR=+- RERB +ZB=+-
categories 24 A RBELN Wit Bz A AR RBELN
of the grantee ZHERR #FAH BRROHHE HEHAEH 2 HEHEE SEEARE SEUAKN RBROBE
The five highest paid B EBi& = 09/07/2019 87,500 - 7.98 87,500 - -
individuals #5a AL
19/03/2020 150,000 - 844 75,000 - 75,000
13/04/2021 562,500 - 2370 187,500 - 375,000
21/03/2022 750,000 - 16.38 187,500 - 562,500
31/05/2023 - 1,550,000 10.56 - - 1,550,000
Sub-total it 1,550,000 1,550,000 537,500 2,562,500
Other employees HihES 09/07/2019 4,157,000 - 7.98 3,280,000 877,000 -
19/03/2020 4,880,750 - 8.44 2,193,000 239,000 2448750
12/11/2020 109,150 - 2230 47075 15,000 47075
13/04/2021 3,884,125 - 23.10 1,285,625 96,250 2,532,250
06/12/2021 720,000 - 2210 150,000 30,000 540,000
21/03/2022 6,157,500 - 16.38 1,526,750 87,625 4543125
28/11/2022 200,000 - 12.52 50,000 - 150,000
31/05/2023 - 6,247,000 1056 - - 6,247,000
05/10/2023 - 190,000 8.92 - - 190,000
Sub-total HtiERHAH 20,108,525 6,437,000 8,502,450 1,344 875 16,698,200
Total it 22,996,025 8,187,000 9,839,950 1,344 875 19,998,200
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(1) The vesting period of the award shares is four (4) years.

2) No consideration is required to be paid for the acceptance or vesting of the award
shares.

(3) For the award shares granted in 2023, the Company used the market price of the
Company's shares at the respective grant date as the basis for fair value measurement
and had incorporated the expected dividends into the measurement of fair value. Further
details of determining the fair value of the award shares are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(4) The weighted average closing price of the Shares was approximately HK$16.32
immediately before the date of 30 April 2023 of the vesting of the award shares onto
Mr. Xu Shao Chun, Mr. Lin Bo, the five highest paid individuals and others employees
during the Reporting Period.

(5) Performance targets for each grant include the Company’s financial performance
indicators and the individual performance indicators of the selected participants.

(6) During the Reporting Period, no award share was cancelled.

(7) The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the Reporting Period include two
directors whose award shares have been reported above. Therefore, the five highest
paid individuals disclosed above only contains the award shares of the remaining three
people.

During the Reporting Period, the number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
options and awards granted under all share schemes of the Company, including the 2005
Scheme, 2015 Scheme and the Share Award Scheme, divided by the weighted average
number of Shares of the relevant class in issue for the Reporting Period is approximately
0%.

Since 1 January 2024, unless separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting
(with the relevant eligible participant and such eligible participant’s close associates
(with the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules) (or such eligible participant's
associates if such eligible participant is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting), no eligible participant shall be granted a share option or award if such grant
will result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of all share
options and awards granted (excluding any lapsed share options and awards) to such
eligible participant in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
would in aggregate exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares of the Company. The
maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a Director in any twelve (12)-month
period shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time. Any award of shares to a Director in excess of 0.1% of the issued share capital of
the Company is subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the approval of
the Shareholders of the Company in advance at a general meeting. The Director, his/her
associates and all other core connected persons of the Company must abstain from voting
at such general meeting.

For further details, please refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Equity-linked agreement
2023 subscription of new Shares

On 10 December 2023, the Company and Al-Rayyan Holdings LLC (the “Subscriber”)
entered into the subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Subscriber subscribed for 154,627,000 new shares (the “Subscription Shares”) at the
price of HK$10.10 per Subscription Share (the “Subscription Price”) under the general
mandate granted to the Board at the AGM held on 18 May 2023 (the “Subscription”).

The Company completed the Subscription on 14 December 2023. The Subscription Price
was determined on an arm's length basis between the Company and the Subscriber with
reference to the then prevailing market price of the Shares. The closing price per Share
on 8 December 2023 as quoted on the Stock Exchange was HK$10.38, being the trading
date preceding the date of signing of the Subscription Agreement. The aggregate nominal
value of the Subscription Shares is HK$3,865,675. The Directors considered the reasons
for the subscription were that the Subscription would support the Company’s international
strategy and optimize the capital structure of the Company, and the Subscription is in
the interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole. The gross proceeds and
net proceeds (after deducting all applicable costs and expenses) from the Subscription
amounted to HK$1,561,732,700 and approximately HK$1,560,982,700, respectively. The
net price per Subscription Share was approximately HK$10.095. The intended and actual
use of proceeds from the Subscription up to 31 December 2023 are set out as follows:

B 4 461 R 135 %%
“E_CHFEEHRG

—E-=F+ZA-+H - KA EIHEA-Rayyan Holdings
LLC(TRRREF DRI LR g ez ([REE D - 1Rt - R
BR-ZZ-Z=FAATN\BRTHREFAFASET
LN —MEE - REFRERESER71010ET
SR H8154,627, 0008 37 Mt ([REERR 15 1) ([FRBE ) -

ZEZ=FF+ZA+A - RAEKTRE - RIEE
AARARHERESLEAFERTL2ERDERNIE
AMEEE - —T=-=F+=-A/\B  BEEREWD
HAMR A AREEBIATRENTRKITE
A10.3878 7T - REERD M R EE{E 425 53,865,6758
T BEERBEMRENRARE — LI RAAFN
B LB - BIEARRINERGEE  FEAEEK
RE R BEF 55 o Ml M 4R =x 40 81,561,732,7007%
7T BREEARFUE GOBRATA B AR A R4
#1,560,982,7007%8 7T, © FILETE - RSN A)FE
HAE1005E T -HE-_E-_=F+-_A=1+—HH
RENREERARAT ¢

Proceeds Proceeds  Unutilized funds
utilized during utilized up to asat  Expected timeline
Proceeds from the Reporting 31 December 31 December  for utilizing
the Subscription Period 2023 2023  unutilized funds
HK$’000 HK$’°000 HK$°000 HK$’000  (Note)
BE #BE
k- S -~k
HEYA +=-A=+—H +ZA=+—H FEAHLERN
EElRE CHEANEE CEANEE HXRERANEE ERASER
ERTR BETT BETRT BRETT (M=)
Potential capital market ~ BEEATHR S 1,248,786 0 0 1,248,786 December 2025
transactions (80.0%) (80.0%) 2025%128
General operation and —REEREEES 312,197 87,899 87,899 224298 December 2025
working capital (20.0%) 20255123
(20.0%)
Note: The expected timeline for utilizing the unutilized funds is based on the best estimation Biat :  (EFFE L2 TR B R RN EF R T

of the future market conditions made by the Group. It may be subject to change based

on the current and future development of market conditions.
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2020 Placing Shares

The Company completed the placing of 133,280,000 new Shares (the “2020 Placing
Shares”, each a “Placing Share”) at the price of HK$17.82 per Placing Share (the “Placing”)
under general mandate on 28 August 2020. The aggregate nominal value of the Placing
Shares is HK$3,332,000. The closing price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the date of signing of the Placing Agreement was HK$18.32. The Directors considered
the reasons for the Placing were that the Placing would raise capital for the Company to
maintain the cash flow position of the Group, enhance the capital base of the Company and
prepare for any future potential investments, including to support the Company’s cloud
transformation. The gross and net proceeds raised from the Placing were approximately
HK$2,375.1 million and were approximately HK$2,353.0 million, respectively, which has
been fully utilized during the Reporting Period. On this basis, the net price per Placing
Share was approximately HK$17.65. The intended and actual use of proceeds from the

“E_EFRERK

“E-ZFENAZTNR  ARBIRERIITE - N
GHR17.82/8 T 58K T 133,280,0000 A% (5 Y BL & ([ = F
—TERERG]D _E_EFREERMNNEEEE
733332,000/87T - KEHABRZER - RRREBR
Frev BRI B /183287 - EFRRETRENR
ARBARAREEEURBAERRSTMR -
AR RNRMEARR - RAEFRREEREREE
BEBEXRARANEEFER) - RENBRED
RIBABEET - KEELENFREHREEME
REAMARERA RS REEEBR)HNR2303088
BT MEHNELEIERTE - BUHE - 8
FLERMEFEBHRITOET - BE-_E-_=F+=

Placing up to 31 December 2023 are set out as follows: A=+—A8kENBEERAENT -

Proceeds Proceeds Unutilized

utilized during utilized up to funds as at

Proceeds from the Reporting 31 December 31 December

the Placing Period 2023 2023

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

BE—E-= @gE—S_=

F£+=AR £+ZA

wEHAEE =+—HEE =+—HRAF

EEka AM&® [0k ] ERMEEHE

BETT BETT BETT BETT

Research and development (50.0%) It 35 & € (50.0%) 1,176,850 0 1,176,850 0

Future potential investments (30.0%)  RARETER & (30.0%) 706,110 56,777 706,110 0

Working capital and general corporate  ‘&iB& & & —M A E A 470,740 0 470,740 0

purposes (20.0%) #(20.0%)

Save as disclose above, there was no equity-linked agreement being entered into during ~ BRIA_EEESN - MEARIREBR - B FEM TR

the Reportng Period or subsisting at the end of the Reporting Period.
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Directors

The composition of the Board during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin
Mr. Bo Lian Ming

According to the Articles of Assaciation, each Director shall retire by rotation at least once
every three years and all the retiring Directors are eligible for re-election at the AGM in
that year. At the AGM, three Directors, namely Mr. Lin Bo, Mr. Gary Clark Biddle and Ms.
Katherine Rong Xin shall retire by rotation and be eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors who shall retire and be proposed for re-glection at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not terminable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The Company received a written confirmation from each independent non-executive

Director of his or her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests or Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”)), which will be
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which will be required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions/short positions in shares/underlying shares of the
Company

ESRERITHRAJIRKG « HRRG
BiRFHERERE

RZZEZ=FF+ZA=+—8 XRAZNEFK
ERTBRABEARRARSEBEEE(EER(EHFR
HEIER)Y) (BB A ENE) ([FHRBEEN)E
XVEBD) AR 1) - FERARR (D Sk BERE B R AT A IRIRE
HREFEEHI BN D BT RIERREFTZBAAR
AIMBE B AT - SIRIEE FH AR E (50) 535215517
TERAGFEZ ZMPicss - siiRiE EmRRIMEXC3
ZAEMRRIEZEITES X HHIZESTA) ([1Z2ESF
A DERE F 2 RAARQ R ME B FT 2 s skk
BT

FAFHE HE HRRAhZES

Number of shares/
underlying shares

Percentage of total
number of issued

(where appropriate)  Capacity share (approximate)
B&{n, +HRR HERTTHEREF
Name of Directors EENA Bin®H(MER) {HEN"E HESL
Xu Shao Chun wLEHF 682,198,624(L) Interests of controlled corporation (Note 1)
PERR A R 2 g (R EE1)
387,500(L)  Beneficiary of a trust (Note 2)
FrExm A (f5E2)
20,833,683(L)  Beneficial owner
EmEA A
Aggregate: : &t 703,419,807 19.37%
Lin Bo MO 1,703,265(L)  Beneficial owner
BEmEA A
350,000(L)  Beneficiary of a trust (Note 3)
(ER I N %))
Aggregate: : &5 2,053,265 0.06%
Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddle 1,230,000(L)  Beneficial owner
EnlEa A
Aggregate: : AFF: 1,230,000 0.03%
Dong Ming Zhu ERRTK 400,000(L)  Beneficial owner
BB A
Aggregate; : A5t 400,000 0.01%
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Notes:

The percentage of the total number of issued shares was calculated by the number of the
aforesaid interests divided by the total number of issued shares as at 31 December 2023 of
3,631,347,771.

1. 0f the 682,198,624 shares, 386,312,000 shares were held through Oriental Tao Limited
and 295,886,624 shares were held through Billion Tao Limited. Easy Key Holdings
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Xu Shao Chun, which wholly owns Oriental Tao Limited
and Billion Tao Limited. Therefore, Mr. Xu Shao Chun is deemed to be interested in
those 682,198,624 Shares.

2. The 387,500 shares are the award shares granted to Mr. Xu Shao Chun and held by the
trustee to the Share Award Scheme — Bank of Communications Trustee Limited. Details
of the award shares are set out in the section headed “Share Award Scheme” of this
annual report.

3. The 350,000 shares are the award shares granted to Mr. Lin Bo and held by the trustee
to the Share Award Scheme — Bank of Communications Trustee Limited. Details of the
award shares are set out in the section headed “Share Award Scheme” of this annual
report.

4, (L) denotes long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), which will be required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which will
be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” above, none of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) was granted
by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, any rights or options to acquire shares or
debentures in the Company during the Reporting Period.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 December 2023, as far as the Directors were aware, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO and are required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRRREALTREFES « HHH
BT RAESFHEREXE

BESHMM RZZE=F+=ZA=1+—H ' UTA
T(RRREZRGESTTERABRINRARERG R
FERAR D R HE B IRIEE S R A E R B EXVE MR E
ZRARAAHERIBIRE S RS KO£ 3361568 F
BEGFEZERMATR R Em gk A

Interests in shares/underlying shares of the Company FLOTFRG AR ZES
Percentage
Number of shares/ of issued
underlying shares share capital
(where appropriate)  Capacity (approximate)
B {5, +ERRAR HERT
Name RS R E(NER) #aIKE BFEESL
Easy Key Holdings Limited (Note 1) Easy Key Holdings Limited (Fff5£1) 682,198,624 (L) Interest of controlled corporation 18.79%
N YNCIw
Oriental Tao Limited (Note 1) Oriental Tao Limited (B 7E1) 386,312,000 (L)  Beneficial owner 10.64%
EmBEBA
Billion Tao Limited (Note 1) Billion Tao Limited (B 7E1) 295,886,624 (L) Beneficial owner 8.15%
ERfBA
JPMorgan Chase & Co.(Note 2) JPMorgan Chase & Co. (Ffi5E£2) 23,343,884 (L) Interest of controlled corporation
14,052,386 (S)  AAERARLZ =
144,135,000 (L) Investment manager
RELR
45,038,352 (L) (P) ~ Approved lending agent Person
having a security interest in
shares
738890 (1) RABHAREAFERH IR
BIERAA
Sub-total: BFF: 213,256,126 (L) 5.87%
14,052,386 (S) 0.39%
45,038,352 (P) 1.24%
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Notes:

The percentage of the total issued shares was calculated by the number of the aforesaid interests
or short positions divided by the total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2023 of
3,631,347,771.

1. 0f the 682,198,624 shares, (i) 386,312,000 shares were held by Oriental Tao Limited;

and (ii) 295,886,624 Shares were held by Billion Tao Limited, each a company wholly
owned by Easy Key Holdings Limited.

2. According to the disclosure of interest form filed by JPMorgan Chase & Co. on 27
December 2023:

(a) JPMorgan Chase & Co. was deemed to be interested in the shares of the

ff

AR AR R B BT AN E 2 b TR 5 ATl 4 %S 8k
EHNEEARBRUARRR-_E_=F+-_A=+—0K
O BT B A 3,631,347, 7TT1FFETE

1. 1£682,198,624A% AX 1D = + (i)386,312,000f% fZ 19 1
Oriental Tao Limited( g Easy Key Holding Limited & & #4A)
58 -+ (ii) 295,886,624 3% A% {5 FaBillion Tao Limited(FR Easy
Key Holdings Limited 2 & B E -

2. BIE=—Z=-=%+= A =+-+HHMHJIPMorgan Chase &
ColRRMER P TR ¢

(@  JPMorgan Chase & Co¥t & VER N T~ AR 15 G 4

Company as follows:

=

Direct interest Number of
Name of controlled corporation Name of controlling person % interest (Y/N) shares
EREAEBHEE BREATHEERAE 2RHESE% HE#EZ(YN) 38 =]
JPMorgan Asset Management (China) Company JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100 Y 409,000(L)
Limited
JPMorgan Asset Management (Taiwan) Limited JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. 100 Y 2,675,000(L)
J.P. Morgan SE J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited 100 Y 2,280(L)
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC J.P. Morgan Broker-Dealer Holdings Inc. 100 Y 436,075(L)
436,075(S)
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. — LONDON BRANCH  JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 100 Y 45,038,352(L)
JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT (UK) LIMITED JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT 100 Y 5,423,000(L)
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100 Y 13,018,000(L)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association JPMorgan Chase & Co. 100 Y 2,717,000(L)
JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia Pacific) Limited JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. 100 Y 119,893,000(L)
J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC J.P. MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 100 Y 23,644,419(L)
13,616,311(S)
JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC 100 N 141,418,000(L)
JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC JPMorgan Chase & Co. 100 N 141,854,075(L)
436,075(S)
JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100 N 122,568,000(L)
J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 100 N 23,646,699(L)
13,616,311(S)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association JPMorgan Chase & Co. 100 N 68,685,051(L)
13,616,311
J.P. Morgan Broker-Dealer Holdings Inc. JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC 100 N 436,075(L)
436,075(S)
JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL ~ JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100 N 5,423,000(L)
LIMITED
J.P. MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited 100 N 23,644,419(L)
13,616,311(S)

and (b) details of JPMorgan Chase & Co.’s derivatives interests are as follows:
° Listed derivatives — Cash settled: 103,000 (S)

o Unlisted derivatives — Cash settled: 8,957,000 (L) and 9,123,000 (S)
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Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period and as at the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of this annual report.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement and Product Promotion
Cooperation Framework Agreement between Kingdee China and
CloudHub

On 30 December 2022, Kingdee China (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
and CloudHub Network (Chongging) Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen CloudHub
Network Co., Ltd.) (“CloudHub”), which to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, is owned as to 7.5373% by the Group
through Shenzhen Hongjin Investment Company Limited and 62.7640% by Diechuang
Holdings Limited™ (a company owned as to 99% by Mr. Xu Shao Chun), entered into: (a)
the 2023 Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement: CloudHub appoints Kingdee China
as a distributor for Kingdee China to purchase its products and services (including but not
limited to the PrivateCloud Products, CloudHub's Intelligent Collaboration Cloud* (3.2
RE R [EE), Bao Biao Xiu Xiu* (#5FXF575), Ecosystem* (4A2F]), CloudHub's
CRM, various Light App* (#% /& FH), data products and other products of CloudHub, etc.)
from CloudHub and further distribution in the PRC (including Hong Kong) (the “Cloud-
Hub Distributorship”). The pricing for the transactions under the CloudHub Distributorship
is determined by reference to the market prices offered to any independent third party by
CloudHub for the distribution of similar products and provision of similar services. The
annual cap for the Reporting Period approved by the Board was RMB100,000,000 and the
actual transaction amount was approximately RMB59,275,141; and (b) the 2023 Product
Promotion Cooperation Framework Agreement: Kingdee China agrees to use its channels
and networks to promote the products of CloudHub in consideration for a promotion fee
payable by CloudHub to Kingdee China. The annual cap for the Reporting Period approved
by the Board was RMB6,000,000 and the actual transaction amount was approximately
RMB229,535. The terms of the two agreements were both one year from 1 January 2023.

As the 2023 Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement expired on 31 December 2023
and the transactions contemplated thereunder shall continue to be entered into on a
recurring basis, on 29 December 2023, Kingdee China and CloudHub entered into the
2024 Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed
to continue the existing cooperation as disclosed above with each other for a term of one
year commencing from 1 January 2024. The annual caps for the year ending 31 December
2024 approved by the Board is RMB100,000,000 under the 2024 Strategic Cooperation
Framework Agreement. As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under the Listing
Rules) in respect of the expected annual transaction amount for the recurring transactions
contemplated under the Existing Product Promotion Cooperation Framework Agreement
in 2024 are less than 0.1%, the said recurring transactions are exempt from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 31 December 2019, 2 January
2020, 4 January 2021, 31 December 2021, 30 December 2022 and 29 December 2023,
respectively, for further details.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) considered that the terms of the above transactions and their
respective annual caps discussed above have been entered into (i) according to the
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and Shareholders as a whole, (i) on normal commercial terms and in the
interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole, and (iii) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the Company’s auditor
to perform certain agreed-upon procedures in respect of the continuing connected
transactions set out above on a sample basis. The auditor has reported their factual
findings on the selected samples based on the agreed procedures to the Board and has
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions set out above have complied with the
requirements under Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of the abovementioned connected transactions. Save as disclosed above,
during the Reporting Period, there were no other connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company which are subject to any of the reporting,
announcement or independent Shareholders” approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business of
the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as otherwise disclosed in “Continuing Connected Transactions” above, the related
party transactions set out in Note 35 to the financial statements did not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Competing Interest

None of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had an
interest in a business, which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

Management Contracts
No management contracts, other than the employment contracts, concerning the whole or

any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
Reporting Period.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major
customers and suppliers, respectively, are as follows:

Sales

- the largest customer 0.58%
- the five largest customers in aggregate 2.26%
Purchases

- the largest supplier 12.45%
- the five largest suppliers in aggregate 38.13%

At no time during the Reporting Period had the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the major customers or
suppliers set out above.

Indemnity of Directors

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. During the Reporting Period,
there was appropriate Directors’ and senior officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and senior officers of the Group.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the places where the Group operates
in all material respects.

Environmental, Social and Governance

Details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance as well as the Group’s
relationships with its stakeholders during the Reporting Period will be included in the 2023
Environmental, Social and Governance Report published by the Company at the same date
of this annual report.

Retirement Scheme

Details of the retirement scheme operated by the Group for the reporting period are set out
in Note 28 to the financial statements.
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Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external auditor of the Company for
the year of 2023, and there has been no change in the Company’s auditor in any of the
preceding three years. A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere thanks to all our management
and staff for their dedication during the period. Also, | would like to thank our Shareholders
for their continuous support.

By order of the Board

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
Chairman

Xu Shao Chun

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China, 18 March 2024

This annual report, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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Corporate Culture
“Acting in all Conscience, with Integrity and Righteousness”

The Company’s core value is to act in all conscience with integrity and righteousness. With
the mission to “wholeheartedly serving enterprise and growing together with all users”, the
Company is committed to providing the best and most suitable services to its clients, and
becoming a reliable service provider.

Impact on Performance

The performance of the Group is measured through key performance indicators such as
revenue growth, profit margins, return on equity and market share. The Group emphasizes
the importance of conducting business with conscience and places emphasis on the
working moral and values of its employees and management team. The Group beligves
by creating a fair and equitable working environment, it encourages collaboration in the
Group and thus leading to sustainable growth to the Company. With the collaboration of
its employees, the Company has been playing a leading role in the industry.

Assessing and Monitoring Culture

The Company values its employees for their innovation and hard work for the development
of the Company’s business. The Company has been assessing and monitoring its culture
by evaluating the employee turnover rate, whistleblowing data, and employees surveys.
Communication of Desired Culture

The Company welcomes feedbacks from its employees. The Company has established
communication channels with its employees so that the Company can promote its
corporate culture thoroughly.

Dealing with Misconduct or Misalignment

The Company has established a whistle-blowing policy and an anti-corruption policy to
safeguard its corporate culture. The Company will investigate all concerns and complaints
carefully and thoroughly and take appropriate actions if needed.

Financial and Non-Financial Incentives

The Company has adopted various share schemes to provide incentives and reward the
contribution of its employees. The Company also provides trainings to employees to
promote its corporate culture.

Board Evaluations

We conduct board evaluations regularly to assess governance practices and the alignment
of the Company’s corporate culture. The board evaluations are communicated to the

stakeholders for transparency and accountability.

The Company believes that by promoting the corporate culture, it will enhance the
performance of the Company, helping the Company in achieving its goals.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Group consistently promotes good corporate governance, pursuing the five principles
of ensuring the rights and interests of Shareholders, abiding by the directors of the
Board and management, promoting full disclosure and transparency, ensuring the equal
treatment of stakeholders, and strengthening internal controls and supervision. The
Company endeavors to enhance its enterprise value, so as to ensure the Company's long-
term and stable development and safeguard the interests of its Shareholders. The details of
the corporate governance practices of the Company are set out below.

The Company has applied and complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules throughout
the Reporting Period except for code provision C.2.1. For details and reasons for the
deviation, please refer to the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”.
Board of Directors

l. The responsibilities of the Board

The Board is the core of corporate governance of the Company. Its major
responsibilities are as follows:

(1) toconvene general meetings, report to the Shareholders and implement the
resolutions of general meetings;

(2)  to review and approve the mid-and long-term strategic plans and
management strategies of the Group;

(3)  to review and approve critical investment and acquisition projects, the
issuance and repurchase of securities, and other plans for financings,

amalgamation, compensation, recruitment and dismissals;

(4)  to review and approve the Group’s budget plans, profit distribution plans
and loss remedy plans;

(5)  to propose amendments to the Articles of Association, and changes in
authorized share capital;

(6)  to approve Directors’ remuneration plans as recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)

and as authorized by shareholders;

(7)  to listen to the working report of the Chief Executive Officer and to review
the work of the Chief Executive Officer;

(8)  toreview and approve incentive schemes of the Company; and

(9)  performing the duties in relation to the compliance with provision A.2.1 of
the Code.
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The Board shall empower the senior management of the Company to implement
the decisions of the Board and all members of the senior management of the Group
shall be appointed by the Board. In entrusting management and administrative
functions to the senior management, the Board provides clear instructions
regarding the powers delegated to them, and prior approval of the Board is
required before the senior management makes any key decisions and commitments
on behalf of the Group. The senior management and the Company Secretary will
report to the Board on updates on legal and regulatory developments, business
and market changes and the strategic development of the Group to facilitate the
performance of the Board’s duties. The Board has maintained effective supervision
over the Group’s strategic plans and key policies, management and assessment
of risks, and effective controls over business operations. The members of the
Board and senior management have fully committed to their roles, ensured that the
Group’s development strategies are in line with the changes in the economy and
market, and acted in good faith with a view to furthering the Shareholders’ long-
term interests.

Composition of the Board

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report
were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang

Ms. Katherine Rong Xin
Mr. Bo Lian Ming
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Throughout the Reporting Period, the number of independent non-executive
Directors exceeded one-third of the Board. The Directors have professional
backgrounds in finance, technology and management, respectively. They have
extensive experience and independent views in their respective areas of expertise so
that they can provide professional advice in respect of the long-term development
of the Company. There are also established mechanisms for the Directors to seek
independent professional advice to discharge their duties and responsibilities, and
to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board and the Board
reviews the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms annually. The
biographies of the Directors are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section on pages 29 to 33 of this annual report.

The term of appointment of each of the Directors (including non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) is two years. According to the
Articles of Association, each Director shall retire by rotation at least once every
three years and all the retiring Directors are eligible for re-election at the AGM in
that year. At the AGM, three Directors, namely Mr. Lin Bo, Mr. Gary Clark Biddle
and Ms. Katherine Rong Xin shall retire by rotation and be eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors who shall retire and be proposed for re-election has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

As at the date of this annual report, to the best knowledge of the Board and save
as disclosed in this annual report, there is no financial, business or family or other
material/relevant relationship between the members of, the chairman and the Board
or the chief executive.
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lll.  Board Meetings/General Meeting () EXEOTH BREXY
For the Reporting Period, the Company convened six Board meetings, one AGM WEH ARTHBRATAREZEEH - —
and one extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”). The following table shows the IRRFIAFRE R —RERIRE R (A%
details of the Directors’ attendance: RARE]) BEESZHFEFHBHEINT
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HERR, SRR
Board Meetings AGM EGM

Directors = EFEEEE KRRBFXE BHREXE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman and BRUBREE(ESEEIRRER

Chief Executive Officer) WiITE) 6/6 i 1
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer) WS E(BREMBE) 6/6 11 1
Non-executive Directors FERITESF
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu ERZR L 6/6 11 11
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlest 4= 6/6 11 171
Independent non-executive Directors BIUFRTESF
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang BEEFEE 6/6 1 1
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZ&Z = 6/6 11 11
Mr. Bo Lian Ming SEERR S A 6/6 i 1
Directors were given sufficient notice of Board meetings in accordance with the AATRBR EMBRASEARERATERTE
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. Directors were consulted in advance ERANERINESESRRS - EECY
regarding the agenda of Board meetings. Notices of regular Board meetings were ENBEEMIRFASESNER EFEF
given to all Directors at least 14 days in advance of the meetings. For all other HeddtalRedZ BT tNREERE
Board meetings, reasonable notices were given. The agenda and other relevant, B MAMESegZ MRS ERMERE
complete and reliable accompanying materials were sent to the Directors at least LA - SREELEMEE  EBREUEZ
three days before each meeting. Each Director is aware of his/her obligation to BRRER-RANEERERES  FUESY
allocate adequate time to deal with the Company’s affairs. HMEH AN EREEREERNARES -
At the meetings of the Board held during the Reporting Period, the matters dealt WMEHARANESSY  EFFEZHREANT
with by the Directors include but are not limited to the following: formulating AT E% - B SIE AR B EBE RN
the overall development strategy of the Company, considering and approving BRI E T FFRE T =FFH
the Company’s 2022 annual report and 2023 interim report, approving the grant W BOESREIRM MR T - BOERE - B
of award shares, approving Subscription, approving the continuing connected FEAEXHMAMEANEE EFGWERN
transactions and discussing other major matters. The secretary of the Board has SETgeRENFASHLE UL E@
recorded the proceedings of each Board meeting by keeping detailed minutes, #E2 BEEFSHEL I —RE URESF
including all decisions made by the Board together with concerns raised and RECETEEREZECREER(WWAE) - &
dissenting views expressed (if any) by the Directors. All minutes are kept by the BB HRESEWERRT MEEFHEE
secretariat of the Board and any relevant files including the agenda, documents and EHHERE  BER  SZREMETERUE -
minutes are open for any Directors’ inspection.
Apart from regular Board meetings, the Mr. Xu Shao Chun (as Chairman of the BREHESFgS®RN  BEHRGRIELER
Board) also held meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without BEFEeXF)IMEMES TSN ER THEE
the presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period. SUIFHITERRITEE
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IV. Continuous professional development of Directors () EFEZRHEEERR

(1) To fully comply with the requirements of the Code on the continuous professional () AFELEEATAENSESEEREZA
development of Directors, the Company has provided all Directors with documents E AR EREEHIREREAQAME
and information aiming at developing and refreshing their professional knowledge ERHMNEEERMENESERGECEEM
and skills, together with other information (including monthly updates) on the B REEAEEEBEBEENAERSE - K
development of the business, operations, activities and corporate governance of AEIERFRCEECETERR ZEMM
the Company from time to time to assist them to fulfill their responsibilities. Each B UGB ERITERS - KAARMBEES
of the Directors has been provided with a comprehensive induction when they were HREENEZERESZE ARSI - g
first appointed to ensure that they are fully aware of the business and operations REETHRAEEBEBNLE - RAHHEA L
of the Group, and the responsibilities and obligations of Directors under the MR EEFERENETREBHLARY
Listing Rules and other rules and regulations. The Company has organized regular EERT - ARAINERARTEFRHER
trainings for Directors regarding their roles, functions and duties to assist them LTRAREFZAG B RBE IS B
in understanding their responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other related MEBRVIBEBESER FMAARSFHEEER
laws and regulations through real case studies; and to ensure the Directors are FRBATNEFERORE  WRBEARAR
timely and completely informed of the operations of the Company. Pursuant to BEBAKKEZE TH - BEBETAIZE2K - 7
the requirements of the Code, all Directors should provide their training records EEFAMARARBHEES B 28k -
to the Company. According to the training records provided by the Directors, the REZEFREMNDE  ESXNWMEHRAERN
trainings attended by them during the Reporting Period are summarized as follows: HIENT

Training on Corporate
Governance, Regulatory
Developments and
other Relevant Topics
LEEL ETRER
Director BE= H fth 4838 £ Rl
Executive Directors RITESE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) A& L (EF L FEREAFHITE) v/
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer) WK EE(BRMEE) 4
Non-executive Directors FRITES
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu EE Seaen v
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddle%t 4 v
Independent non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang BB L E v
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZz =
Mr. Bo Lian Ming SEER LA v/

(2)  When Directors are asked to express their views on the Company’s connected Q) AREERESERARABERSWAE) -
transactions (if any), incentive schemes, internal controls, etc., the Company BEHRE  AREHSEEERERR - ME
retains auditors, financial advisers and/or lawyers and other relevant independent REZEA BB K KEMSHERE
professionals to provide independent professional advice to assist the Directors in ATHBIEXER  BEIESEITHEAME -
fulfilling their responsibilities.
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(3)  With regard to insurance coverage in respect of possible legal actions against the
Directors when performing their duties, the Board had entered into a “Liability
Insurance Contract of Directors, Supervisors and Officers” with PICG Property and
Casualty Company Limited.

Board Committees

The Board has set up four specialized committees, namely the audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee, the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and the strategy and sustainable
development committee of the Company (the “Sustainable Development Committee”) to
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The compositions of these committees
are set out below. The meeting procedures of the committees follow the statutory
procedures and the respective Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang (Chairman) and Mr. Bo Lian Ming, and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Gary Clark Biddle.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(1) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, considering any questions of resignation
or dismissal of the auditors, reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s
independence, the objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee shall discuss with the
external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences, and act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the external auditor;

(2)  developing and implementing policies on engaging an external auditor to supply
non-audit services, and identifying and making recommendations on any matters
where action or improvement is needed;

(3)  meeting with the external auditor at least twice a year to review and monitor the
completeness of the Company’s financial statements and annual reports and
accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared for publication, continuing connected
transactions announcements and/or circulars, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them;

(4)  reviewing the management letter to the management issued by the external auditor,
any material queries raised by the external auditor to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s
response, and ensuring that the Board responds promptly to the matters raised by
the external auditor in the management letter;
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(5)  considering any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts;

(6)  reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems, the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices, and
discussing the risk management and internal control systems with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have effective systems;

(7)  considering major investigation findings on risk management and internal control
matters;

(8)  performing the internal audit function by ensuring co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and by ensuring that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

(9)  reporting to the Board on the matters in the provisions of the Code; and

(10)  reviewing arrangements employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to

raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Audit Committee
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further details on
the roles and functions of the Audit Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three meetings, at which the Audit

Committee:

(1) reviewed the Company’s annual financial report and internal control report for the
year 2022, and submitted them to the Board for approval;

(2)  discussed the Company’s internal control and risk management systems and
reviewed the Company's interim financial report of 2023, and submitted it to the
Board for approval;

(3)  communicated with the external auditor regarding the 2023 annual audit work and
audit plans; and

(4)  reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, with the senior management and the auditors of the
Company.
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Details of attendance at the Audit Committee meetings during the Reporting Period are set
out below:

BEMECZZBEERLREABIEIILT

2023 Attendance/

Number of Meetings

—E_=HF

Audit Committee Members 34=F £ HEFERRE
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang (Chairman) BERF S E(ER) 3/3
Mr. Bo Lian Ming SEERRSLAE 3/3
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlet 4 3/3

The Audit Committee, having reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems, was satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Company’s internal audit function.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprised two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Bo Lian Ming (Chairman) and Ms. Katherine Rong Xin,
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(1) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies, structures and
packages revolving around remuneration, long-term incentives and performance
management of the Directors and senior management, and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing such policies and structures,
and the principles and criteria for remuneration and long-term incentive models,
implementing such policies and reviewing the same periodically;

(2)  asauthorized by the Board, drawing up proposals for and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of Directors and senior management,
and the remuneration schemes (including non-monetary benefits, pension rights
and compensation (including compensation for loss of or termination of office or
appointment)) of individual executive directors and senior management (As the
mode! disclosed in code provision E.1.2(C)(ii) of the code was adopted);

(3)  reviewing and assessing the annual performance of Directors and senior
management, and reviewing and approving their remuneration, by reference to the
corporate goals and objectives set up by the Board;

(4)  drawing up and reviewing proposals for remuneration and making
recommendations to the Board on the adjustment of such remuneration from
time to time, by reference to the Company’s development strategies and goals as
approved by the Board and the operating strategies as adjusted by the Board from
time to time;
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(5)  considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitments and the

)

responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

reviewing and ensuring that the appointment and termination terms for the
Directors and senior management are fair;

reviewing and approving compensation arrangements (if any) relating to any loss
or termination of office or appointment, or dismissal or removal for misconduct
in respect of executive Directors and senior management to ensure that they
are consistent with their contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration, and that the remuneration of a non-executive Director who
is a member of the Remuneration Committee shall be determined by the other
members of the Remuneration Committee; and

reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes as described in
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Remuneration
Committee published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further
details on the principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings to review the
performance, and remuneration policy and package of Directors and senior management,
discuss the grant of awarded shares pursuant to the Company’s share award scheme, and
submit proposals to the Board.

Details of attendance at the Remuneration Committee meetings during the Reporting
Period are set out below:
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2023 Attendance/

Number of Meetings

—EB=F

Remuneration Committee Members BEMSA HEFERRE
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (Chairman) SEIERRSL A (EFE) 2/2
Mr. Xu Shao Chun "mAOFLE 2/2
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZZ = 2/2
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Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee comprised one executive Director,
namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman), and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Katherine Rong Xin and Mr. Bo Lian Ming.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity palicy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) since
August 2013. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the
Board which will include and make good use of the differences in skills, backgrounds
and industry experience, gender, knowledge and other qualities of the members of the
Board. These differences will be considered in determining the optimum composition
of the Board and all Board appointments will be based on merits, having due regard to
the overall effective functioning of the Board as a whole. The Company believes that
diversity can strengthen the performance of the Board, promote effective decision-
making and better corporate governance and monitoring. The Nomination Committee
also monitors the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board
on the achievement of the measurable objectives for achieving diversity under this
policy. All Board appointments are made on a merit basis with due regard to the benefits
of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity considerations, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be made based on the merits and contributions that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board. At present, two of the seven members of the Board are women,
which improves the gender diversity of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy this year and was
satisfied that the diversity of the Board was optimal.

For the Reporting Period, the Group had 12,348 full-time employees, of which 7,950
were male and 4,398 were female. The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) was approximately 1 female to 1.8 male. The Company is aiming to achieve
a more balanced gender ratio in the workforce and is conscious of maintaining a Board
made up with independent non-executive Directors as the majority, together with an
appropriate level of female members on the Board. While conscious efforts are being
taken by the Company to fulfil its pledges, all Board appointments will be made on a merit
basis and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board will continue to take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are identified and the Nomination
Committee and the Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy on an annual basis to ensure its continued effectiveness. The Board will
also consider appointing suitable female members of the Board as the chairperson of the
committees of the Board. The Group will also ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at mid-to senior-level and engage more resources in career development
and training female staff with the aim of promoting them to the senior management or
directorship of the Company; and will continue to apply the principle of appointments
based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity Policy as a whole.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven Directors, which includes
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive

AEEHRERER  EFSHLEEFT  BEMEH
TEE MEFNTES  —BBELIFRTEF &

Directors. Details of the current members of the Board are set out as follows: EEREBKHFFBIT
Gender Male Female
B B kg ;3
5 2
Nationality American Chinese
B %E FE
2 5
Age group 50-59 60-69 70-79
Fi 2 4 1
Length of service of Directors 5 years or below 6-10 years Over 10 years
EEERER <5 6-104F K105
3 1 3
Nomination Policy REBBE
The nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) was revised by the Company on 15~ AAFNR —_E-=F=A+HAE] TIRBEE (12

March 2023.

The Company embraces high transparency in the Board member selection process. The
Nomination Policy aims to ensure the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and
a diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. The
Nomination Committee has been delegated the responsibility of identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately
responsible for the selection and appointment of new Directors.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(1) formulating a nomination policy for the identification, selection and nomination of
candidates for the role of Director for the Board's consideration and implementing
and reviewing the Nomination Policy;

(2)  formulating, reviewing and updating, as appropriate, the Board Diversity Policy for
the Board's approval having due regard to the requirements of the Listing Rules,
reviewing and updating the objectives that the Board has set for implementing such
policy, and monitoring the progress made;

(3)  reviewing the structure, size, composition and the balance of skills, knowledge,
experience, length of service and diversity (including as to gender and ethnicity)
of the Board and other factors which may be relevant to its effectiveness at least
annually;
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(4)  identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors, and selecting or

making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships, having due regard to the Board Diversity Policy and composition
profile requirements and ensuring that such individuals will be considered on
merit and against objective criteria and have the time and ability to contribute to the
Board;

making recommendations to the Board with regard to its composition profile
including, where appropriate, preparing a description of the capabilities required
for any particular appointment and on any proposed changes to the Board to
implement the Company’s corporate objectives and strategy;

assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors including
any conflict which a Director may have with the interests of the Group and
reviewing the independent non-executive Directors’ annual confirmations on
their independence; and making disclosures of its review results in the corporate
governance report in the annual report of the Company;

reviewing annually the time commitment required from a Director (especially
independent non-executive Directors) to perform his or her responsibilities;

giving full consideration and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors
and reviewing such plan periodically;

developing the procedures for the performance evaluation of the Board and the
committees of the Board, evaluating the performance of the Nomination Committee
following such procedure and reviewing these terms of reference to ensure that the
Nomination Committee is operating at its maximum effectiveness;

recommending candidates to the Board to fill vacancies or new positions on the
committees of the Board as necessary or desirable; and

reviewing the feedback in relation to the role and effectiveness of the committees
of the Board arising from the evaluation of the Board and/or any committees of the
Board and making recommendations of any changes.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Nomination Committee
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further details on
the roles and functions of the Nomination Committee.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two meetings, during
which the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size, composition and the
balance of skills, knowledge, experience, length of service and diversity of the Board,
as well as the time commitment required from a Director (especially independent non-
executive Directors) to perform his or her responsibilities. The criteria of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship adopted by the Nomination Committee include
considerations of the qualifications and skills of such candidates, coupled with the goals
and development strategy of the Company.

Details of attendance at the Nomination Committee meetings during the Reporting Period
are set out below:

REZBENHEPARBITTMAER  RFERE
WMEEFERE - AR AR R - ME O &R
RAEEMMZ TN FE - REEFOCEBIIFY
TER)ETH MABEE AN LR - X
RULAEFEREER - BRERBEUAT 2ERE
REEEAARAZ BIR R BRRR RHEEER -

BEMREAZBEERLREFBRIILT

Year 2023 Attendance/

Number of Meetings

—EB=F

Nomination Committee Members BEMRA HEFHRRE

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman) OB E(ERE) 2/2

Mr. Bo Lian Ming SEIERRSL A 2/2

Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZZ = 2/2
Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee HKEATSEIREAY

As at 31 December 2023, the Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee comprised
two executive Directors, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman) and Mr. Lin Bo, one non-
executive Director, namely Ms. Dong Ming Zhu, and one independent non-gxecutive
Director, namely Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang.

The main responsibilities of the Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee set out
in the rules of the Board are as follows:

(1) considering and formulating the mid-and long-term strategies of the Company;

(2)  assessing the effects of the implementation of the Company’s strategies;

(3)  making recommendations on critical issues prescribed in the Articles of Association
and other issues requiring approval from the Board, including those related to
investments, financings, etc.;

(4)  formulating the vision, strategy and goals of the Company’s environment, society
and governance, and supervising their implementation, regularly review the

achievement of goals and report and make recommendations to the Board;

(5)  evaluating and identifying ESG-related risks and opportunities that have a
significant impact on the Company; and

(6)  annually reviewing whether the resources, employee qualifications and experience

related to environmental, social and governance performance and reporting, as well
as the training courses and related budgets received by employees, are sufficient.
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During the Reporting Period, the Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee had
reviewed and performed the corporate governance duties as mentioned in (1)-(6) above.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Xu Shao Chun assumed the roles of both the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company which deviated from code provision C.2.1 of
the Code which specifies that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The Board considers that
Mr. Xu Shao Chun, as one of the main founders of the Group, has abundant knowledge of
the IT industry and unique strategic perspectives. The Board believes that he can lead the
Group to formulate effective strategies and react promptly to market changes. His continual
service in both roles is beneficial to the stable and healthy development of the Company.
However, the Board will review and make appropriate changes when necessary in order to
enhance the level of corporate governance.

Adoption of Code of Conduct Regarding Director’s
Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code. The Company, having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, confirms
that the Directors have complied with the Code of Conduct and the Model Code throughout
the accounting period covered by this annual report. The Code of Conduct and the Model
Code are also applicable to other specified senior management of the Company.

Whistleblowing Policy

The whistleblowing policy has been put in place for all employees and those who have
business dealings with the Group (including customers and suppliers) to deal with
concerns related to fraudulent or unethical acts or non-compliances with laws and the
Group's policies that have or could have significant adverse financial, legal or reputational
impact on the Group. They may raise concerns about the possible improprieties in any
matters related to the Group, in person or in writing to the company secretary of the
Company who shall report to the chairman of the Audit Committee in confidence and
anonymity. The chairman of the Audit Committee shall then determine the course of action
to pursue, with power to delegate, with respect to the report.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group has formulated its own anti-corruption policy to ensure the Directors and
employees within the Group comply with the Hong Kong Prevention of Bribery Ordinance,
the Criminal Law of the PRC, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC and the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the PRC, where applicable. The policy sets out the integrity and
conduct requirements and policies or controls in place which applies to all Directors and
employees of the Group at all levels, and external parties doing business with the Group
and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group (e.g., agents,
consultants and contractors). The policy is reviewed from time to time to ensure that it
remains appropriate.
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The details relating to the securities of the Company held by the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares or Debentures” of the “Report of Directors” on pages 34 to 54 of this
annual report.

Internal Control and Risk Management
1.  Risk Management and Internal Control Governance Framework

The Group has an internal audit function which conducts reviews on the adequacy
and effectiveness of its risk management and internal control systems. The
Board is responsible for reviewing the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems annually and will take necessary and appropriate measures to
maintain such system and control the effect of risk management for the purpose
of safeguarding Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets. The
Audit Committee under the Board is responsible for evaluating and monitoring
the risk level borne by the Group, the design and operation effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems, and reporting to the Board.
The management has specially established an internal audit department, which
is responsible for supervising and auditing the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems and business operations and using internal audit
procedures to conduct independent assessments to ensure that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal
monitoring systems. At the same time, business organization and functional
operation departments identify, assess and handle the risks in their respective
departments according to their duties and carry out risk management procedures
and internal control measures within their respective business and functional
operation scopes, and the management reports to the Board. Such systems are
designed for operational management, cannot completely eliminate the risk of
possible failure to achieve business objectives, and provide only reasonable, but
not exclusive, assurance against significant failure and loss.

The Company has appointed personnel to supervise the Company’s continuous
compliance with the relevant Chinese laws and regulations. In addition, we
continue to provide training courses to Directors, senior management and
relevant employees to actively identify any problems related to any potential non-
compliance.
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2.1

2.2

Risk Management

The Company has been committed to continuously improving the risk management
system, including its structure, process and culture, and ensuring the long-term
growth and sustainable development of the Company’s business by improving the
Company’s risk management ability. The Board has received a confirmation from
the management and the Company considers that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems were effective and adequate.

Risk Management Procedure

The Company has designed its major risk management criteria, including risk
identification, risk assessment, risk response and risk control and reporting:

° Risk identification: The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems each year
for each reporting period and will urge all business units and functional
departments to identify the internal and external risks that may exist
during the course of operation;

o Risk assessment: All business units and functional departments must
assess the possibility of the occurrence of identified risks and the extent
of their impact and screen out major risks;

o Risk response: The risk responsibility department properly uses risk
avoidance, reduction, sharing or tolerance measures to draw up a risk
response scheme according to identified major risks and the Group’s risk
tolerance, so that the Group can reasonably allocate resources for risk
response and reduce its overall risk level to an acceptable level;

° Risk control and reporting: The Group’s risks are controlled and reported
through the comprehensive use of risk pre-warning indicators, internal
audits and regular risk summary reports.

Internal Control

The Company has designed an internal control system according to the Group's
business management features and has established an internal audit department
that is responsible for internal controls, conducting risk-oriented internal control
evaluations with respect to daily fund management, financial report management,
purchase and asset management, business operations and the flow of income on
an annual basis and to follow up with the completion of any rectification measures
in respect of internal controls on a regular basis. The management has reviewed
and assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s systems for risk management
and internal control and such review covered financial monitoring, operation
monitoring, compliance control and other major monitoring and risk management
functions.
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72

Response to Major Risks

During the Reporting Period, the Group audited and assessed the Company’s risk
according to the enterprise’s risk management framework and finalized measures
for major risk response and control to prevent or reduce the possibility of the
occurrence of any major risk to the Company.

The Company has steadily developed its operational business in the past year. Due
to the fierce market competition of the industry, the Company’s market competition
in relation to key customers and cloud services may be intensified and customers
may continue to change their preferences and have a higher expectation of cloud
services. The marketing costs of the Company’s cloud services remain high and
the launch of a new business is faced with inherent market risks. At the same time, as
the Company’s brand influence grows, its intellectual property rights are infringed
more frequently and infringers conceal or destroy tort evidence so that it becomes
more difficult for the Company to safeguard its intellectual property rights. At the
same time, with the promulgation of the Network Security Law, Data Security Law,
Personal Information Protection Law and relevant administrative regulations, rules
and norms, the state’s supervision of Internet platform enterprises in the PRC
has become increasingly strict, and the Company also faces increasingly strict
compliance requirements and legal liabilities in terms of network security, data and
privacy protection, unfair competition, intellectual property rights and so on.

In order to respond to possible operational risks and guarantee the healthy and
sustainable development of the operational business, the Company (i) has formed
a cloud service development framework based on mutually synergetic development
by optimizing and adjusting its strategic organization; (i) has allocated a lot of
resources to research and develop new technologies and enhance product value;
(iii) has encouraged its employees to conduct constant product innovation and
optimize customer experience; (iv) has improved the ecological chain of customer
service; and (v) has committed to creating a very competitive cloud platform. In
order to reduce the marketing risk of new business, the Company has established a
major marketing review procedure to strictly review marketing schemes, reasonably
control promotional costs and budget, conduct internal control over promotional
effect and decrease the operational risk caused by marketing. To strengthen the
protection of its intellectual property rights, the Company has enhanced the entire
staff’'s consciousness of such protection through legal advocacy and training, has
further reinforced the market monitoring for the protection of intellectual property
rights and has preserved and notarized tort evidence to prevent its intellectual
property rights from being infringed. The Company has set up special departments
and specialist teams, as well as engaged external professional consultants to work
closely with management to keep track of changes in relevant laws and regulations,
and take appropriate actions or measures to ensure the Company is in compliance
with such applicable laws and regulations. The Company has taken practical
measures and invested a lot of resources in many aspects and efforts to ensure
compliance with regulatory requirements.
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3. Inside Information and Connected Transactions

With respect to the procedure and internal control measures for handling and
disclosing inside information, the Company understands its liabilities under the
Listing Rules and the SFO and the major principle that any inside information must
be announced on a timely basis. The Company has formed comprehensive and
proper procedures for internal processing and the announcement of information
and comprehensive and proper internal control measures according to the
Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information as promulgated by the Securities
and Futures Commission, so as to disclose relevant information to its Shareholders
and the regulator in a timely, accurate and appropriate manner.

The Company is committed to strengthening the internal promotion and education
of its internal controls relating to connected transactions and the development of
a proper internal control system. During the Reporting Period, the Company has
further standardized the Group’s connected transactions standard management
system for the internal control through pre-transaction reporting, information
disclosure, sustainable continuous monitoring of transactions and regular
exchange meetings as well as mutual cooperation of the Company’s departments,
improving the scientificity, standardization and effectiveness of the Company’s
management and operations, and enhanced the Company’s risk prevention ability.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, after reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and internal control systems, considered that such
systems were adequate and effective, and the Company had complied with the code
provisions relating to internal controls under the Code and had not discovered any
material matter that may affect the Group’s financial, operational and compliance
control and risk management functions.

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to maintaining good relations with investors. The Company
has set up a specialized department with staff to attend to investor relations affairs. The
Company actively participates in various investor forums physically or via conference
calls, provides investors with the information necessary for them to form their views on
the Company’s performance and reports investors’ feedback to management in a timely
manner in order to improve operations and the corporate governance of the Company. To
promote transparency, the Company has announced its operational performance results
to Shareholders and other stakeholders. These disclosures include: (1) publishing interim
and annual reports; (2) making press releases; (3) meeting regularly with investors; (4)
publishing analysts’ reports on the Company; and (5) conducting market consultations.

The Company firmly believes that increased transparency in the capital market will improve
corporate governance and will be beneficial to the long-term development of the Company.
The Company welcomes suggestions from investors and Shareholders in relation to
the development of the Company to the Company’s investor relations team via email or
telephone.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures and Rights for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary
General Meetings

The Shareholders’ rights are set out in the Articles of Association. Pursuant to Article 72 of
the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any
one or more members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office, specifying the objects of the meetings and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists hold as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them may convene
the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) in convening the meeting as a result
of the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

The Company has established a Shareholders’ communication policy (the “Shareholders’
Communication Policy”), whereby any inquiry is welcome to be presented to the Board
by Shareholders and any proposal relating to the business, strategy and management of
the Company is welcome to be presented at general meeting for review and discussion.
Shareholders’ inquiries and relevant proposals to the Board can be submitted in writing to
the Company Secretary and will be dealt with by the Chief Executive Officer or the chairman
of the relevant board committees or other senior management members. The Board reviews
the Shareholders” Communication Policy on a regular basis, and upon its review during
the Reporting Period based on the communications received from the Shareholders,
determined the implementation and effectiveness of such policy was satisfactory.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Send Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary and the detailed information is stated below:

Address: 25A, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2845 9292
Email: simonsiu@sfks.com.hk

Putting forward Proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

The Shareholders shall make a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
at its principal place of business in Hong Kong at 25A, United Centre, 95 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong, specifying his/her shareholding information, contact details and the
proposal he/she intends to put forward at shareholders” meeting of the Company regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held the AGM on 18 May 2023. All
Shareholders were given at least 21 days’ notice for the AGM. The chairman of the Board,
executive Directors and the auditor attended the AGM to communicate with Shareholders
and answer questions from Shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held the EGM on 25 July 2023. All
Shareholders were given at least 14 days’ notice for the EGM. All the Directors attended the
EGM.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all resolutions of the general meetings should be voted on
by poll on the basis that one vote is attached to one share (except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands), and the poll results would be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(investor.kingdee.com).

Amendments to the Articles of Association
The second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company (the “M&A") were adopted on 25 July 2023 to comply with the relevant

provisions of the Listing Rules.

A copy of the M&A is posted on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange (www.
hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company (investor.kingdee.com)

Save as disclosed above, there was no further change in the M&A during the Reporting
Period.
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External Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external auditor of the Company for the year
of 2023, and there has been no change in the Company’s auditor in any of the preceding
three years. During the Reporting Period, PricewaterhouseCoopers provided audit to the
Company, the remuneration paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers was RMB3,650,000
for audit services. A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

The Board is responsible for ensuring the appropriate preparation of accounts, and the
accuracy, fairness and comprehensiveness of the financial statements of the Company. The
statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the “Independent
Auditor's Report” section on pages 77 to 83 of this annual report.

Company Secretary

The Company engages an external service provider to provide company secretary services,
and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon being the main contact person of the external service provider,
has been appointed as the Company Secretary, and Mr. Siu Man Ho has complied with the
15 hours training requirement. The Company Secretary may contact Ms. Yi Wei, the Board
secretary of the Company pursuant to code provision C.6.1 of the Code.

Improving Corporate Governance

The Company will continue to regularly review its corporate governance measures
and practices to ensure that they are on par with the corporate governance standards
of international corporations and in light of the changing regulatory requirements and
investors’ needs. This will also help in the long term to continuously develop the Company
and enhance its corporate value.

Appreciation

The Board would like to express its sincere appreciation to its Shareholders, customers,
suppliers and bankers for their continued support to the Group. The Board also wishes to
thank the Group’s management and staff for achieving remarkable progress in the Group’s
business and their dedication and commitment to improving the Group’s management.

On behalf of the Board

KINGDEE INTERNATIONAL SOFTWARE GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Chairman

Xu Shao Chun

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China, 18 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kingdee International Software Group Company
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 84

to 202, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

° Recognition of enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) and cloud implementation
revenue

o Impairment assessment of goodwill
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BY 2B AR E
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter ~ FIEBESHEEH EEPONERRAEHER
Recognition of ERP and cloud implementation revenue ERPREE M A RYRERE

Refer to Notes 2.7(0), 4.1 and 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue from ERP and cloud implementation
contracts recognised for the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately RMB1,625,107,000
which represented approximately 28.62% of total
revene,.

Revenue of ERP and cloud implementation contracts
is recognised over the period of the contracts by
reference to the progress of work performed, which
is established according to the value of efforts
put in gach task (measured by standard man days
for each task) over total value of efforts of the
implementation project with support by progress
reports acknowledged by the customers. The
corresponding implementation costs are recognised
as incurred under cost of sales.

We focus on this area due to the significance of
ERP and cloud implementation revenue to the
consolidated financial statements and the significant
judgments and estimates made by management in
determining the progress of work performed, which
are subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty.

We have performed the following procedures to address this key audit
matter:

Understood, evaluated and tested the key controls over revenue
recognition of ERP and cloud implementation contracts and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

Understood, evaluated and tested the IT general controls and IT
application controls over the system where the information of the ERP
and cloud implementation contracts are recorded and maintained.

Inquired of management about the accounting policies of recognition
of ERP and cloud implementation revenue and inspecting the terms
of contracts with customers on sample basis to evaluate whether the
accounting policies of recognition of ERP and cloud implementation
revenue complies with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Selected ERP and cloud implementation contracts, on a sample basis,
and performed the following audit procedures:

(i) Agreed the key contract information (contract price, payment
terms and list of work tasks with standard man days for each task
ic.) to the relevant contracts;

(i) Agreed the progress of work performed recorded by management
o the position set out in the progress reports acknowledged by
the customers;

(iif) Obtained confirmations from customers in respect of the
progress of work performed and compared such to the progress
reports used by management in estimating the progress of work
performed; and

(iv) Checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
progress of work performed and the revenue recognised based on
that.

We found the significant judgments and estimates applied in
determining the progress of work performed were Supported by the
evidence we obtained.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BYZEARE
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter ~ FR@BHEE EEhONERRAEHER
Impairment assessment of goodwill [} £1- B

Refer to Notes 2.4(a), 4.2 and 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total cost
of goodwill of RMB258,657,000 which was arisen
from the acquisitions of Shanghai Guanyi Cloud
Computing Software Co., Lid. (“Guanyi") in 2016
and Beijing Kingdee Yunji Technology Co., Lid.
("Yunji”) in 2021. As at 31 December 2023, an
accumulated impairment of RMB74,177,000 had
been recognised, and RMB20,109,000 was made
during the year ended 31 December 2023,

Management engaged an independent valuer to
assist them in carrying out the goodwill impaiment
assessment. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, the Group considered that each of
Guanyi and Yunji is a separate group of cash-
generated-units (the “CGU") and the goodwill is
allocated to the related CGU. Management assessed
the impairment of goodwill by determining the
recoverable amount of the CGU, representing the
higher of its fair value less cost of disposal and
value-in-use which is calculated using cash flow
forecasts based on the financial budgets approved by
management. The goodwill impairment assessment
involves significant judgments and estimates which
include the adoption of appropriate valuation method
and the use of key assumptions (mainly revenue
growth rate and earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (‘EBITDA") margin
during the forecast period, terminal growth rate and
pre-tax discount rate).

We focus on this area due to that the goodwill
impairment assessment involves significant
judgments and estimates, which are subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty.

We have performed the following procedures to address this key audit
mater:

(i) Understood, evaluated and tested management's key controls in
relation to the goodwill impairment assessment and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

(i) Assessed the appropriateness of the Group's identification of
CGU and allocation of goodwill based on the Group’s accounting
nolicies and our understanding of the Group’s business,

(iiiy Assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the
external valuer engaged by the Group;

(iv) Obtained the valuation report of goodwill impairment and
engaged our in-house valuation experts to assess the
appropriateness of valuation method adopted by management and
the reasonableness of pre-tax discount rate used by management;

(v) Challenged and assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the assessment with the involvement of our
in-house valuation experts. For revenue growth rate and EBITDA
margin during the forecast period, we compared them with the
historical data and the approved financial budgets with reference
o market statistics and orders secured; for terminal growth rate,
We assessed it with reference to the long-term expected inflation
rate based on our independent research;

(vi)Performed a retrospective review by comparing the prior year's
cash flow forecasts with the current year's results to assess the

reliability of management's cash flow forecass;

(vil) Evaluated the reasonableness of sensitivity analysis performed by
management on the key assumptions to understand the impact
of reasonable changes in assumptions on the estimated goodwill
impairment; and

(vili) Checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations in the
goodwill impairment assessment,

We found the significant judgments and estimates applied in the
goodwill impairment assessment were supported by the evidence we
oblained.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ED R

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wong
Fu Shing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SHMBRAR

As at 31 December

»+=—B=+—H
2023 2022
—E_= —E-CF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BosE AR#TT ARETF T
Assets gE
Non-current assets EREDEE
Property, plant and equipment TEE « TR RE 6 1,919,498 1,376,694
Right-of-use assets FREEE 7 203,446 156,165
Intangible assets BILEE 8 1,231,955 1,192,375
Investment properties EMYE 9 1,726,750 1,734,079
Investments in associates R E 10 434,461 421,593
Deferred income tax assets BRI EE 22 49,055 38,826
Financial assets at fair value through AR BEFEAEZESH:TABENE
profit or loss BEE 12 964,748 931,164
Financial assets at fair value through other AR EEEAEES T AHEMEE
comprehensive income W e REE 4,463 4,463
Trade and other receivables JFE LS BR TR R L Ath R 13 131,503 104,051
Loans to third parties BTE=HER 13 90,071 63,081
Long-term bank deposits RHRITER 15 1,680,000 1,725,000
8,435,950 7,747,491
Current assets mEEE
Inventories FE 14 45,611 44,871
Trade and other receivables JFEE L R R e L A R MR 13 364,332 293,030
Loans to third parties BTEZFER 13 231,596 268,274
Contract assets AREE 5 362,378 346,542
Contract obtaining costs A RES A 5 643,497 393,871
Financial assets at fair value through AR BETEERES S ABREYN
profit or loss ERMEE 12 43,182 66,255
Pledged bank deposits EERRITIER 15 3,928 2,809
Short-term bank deposits EHRIRTTIERR 15 1,045,000 625,559
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREeEEY 15 2,963,723 1,942,735
5,703,247 3,983,946
Total assets HEE 14,139,197 11,731,437
Liabilities &afE
Non-current liabilities ERBDAER
Bank borrowings (R 21 756,700 385,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 7 38,159 39,246
Deferred income tax liabilities FELEATSHAaE 22 112,972 133,925
907,831 558,171
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B O EIRR R

As at 31 December

»+=ZBA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=Ff —E-CF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FosE AR®TT AREFT
Current liabilities nBAE
Trade and other payables FEATER SR R Eo A A 3% 23 1,231,203 899,496
Contract liabilities ARAE 5 3,176,589 2,631,035
Bank borrowings EEN 21 20,200 85,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 7 26,451 24,648
Current income tax liabilities SHMEHAE 22,787 19,004
Deferred income PEIEHA 24 51,984 106,500
4,529,214 3,765,683
Total liabilities HEeR 5,437,045 4,323,854
Net assets BEE 8,702,152 7,407,583
Equity b=
Equity attributable to owners of the NFIRBERES
Company
Share capital A& A 17 87,098 83,537
Share premium PR A (B 17 6,512,406 5,084,953
Other reserves E A 18 979,146 866,567
Retained earnings BiFW= 19 1,020,406 1,230,296
8,599,056 7,265,353
Non-controlling interests FEEHINER 103,096 142,230
Total equity wiER 8,702,152 7,407 583

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with L& BFEA MR RE B = RN — 01558 -

the accompanying notes.

FUEENENUBHRRCHESEN T _OF=
AT N\B#tEZ  IRREFEHE -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 90 were approved by the Board of
Directors on 18 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf.

Director Director
EEa s
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
SHRRER

Year ended 31 December
#F+-A=1+—HILEE

2023 2022
—E_= —EC
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
s AR®TT AREEFTT
Revenue from contracts with customers HEF 2 ENEREEMIA 5,25 5,679,073 4,865,769
Cost of sales SHE A 26 (2,035,084) (1,868,136)
Gross profit E£7 3,643,989 2,997,633
Selling and marketing expenses HEREERER 26 (2,319,645) (2,026,584)
Administrative expenses THEA 26 (489,964) (503,857)
Net impairment losses on financial assetsand & REE R & REERERIFRE
contract assets 26 (71,055) (92,461)
Research and development costs 75 R AR 26 (1,439,671) (1,295,476)
Fair value losses on investment properties HEWYHE AR BEEHELX 9 (28,858) (15,587)
Other income and gains — net EHUg A R FE — 558 27 285,257 348,988
Operating loss BEHR (419,947) (587,344)
Finance income g Al 112,268 107,937
Finance costs W58 (21,953) (7,661)
Finance income — net Bl — B8R 29 90,315 100,276
Share of profits of associates ZHEBERENZFNEE 10 28,506 12,850
Loss before income tax PR RAEGR (301,126) (474,218)
Income tax credit FriS e 30 31,320 21,814
Loss for the year FEREER (269,806) (452,404)
Loss attributable to: BERER :
Owners of the Company KARE=FBA (209,890) (389,158)
Non-controlling interests AR B MR (59,916) (63,246)
(269,806) (452,404)
Losses per share for loss attributable to ZEAFESIFEAESEIENESREE
owners of the Company (expressed in (UEBEARESE)
RMB cents per share)
— Basic — B 32 (6.07) (11.31)
— Diluted —E 32 (6.07) (11.31)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SHESRRER

Year ended 31 December
B8E+T-_A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—EC-=f —ECCF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREEFTT
Loss for the year FEBR (269,806) (452,404)
Other comprehensive income: Htizala -
ltems that may be reclassified to income or loss: Hignpte R 2 Bm A
Currency translation differences INESHTE EEE (1,785) (8,242)
Items that will not be reciassified to income or loss HET @ ES R B A
Revaluation gains on properties upon transfer from property, — + 30 RAIBF A8 AR E MY AT
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to investment ZEMmAE - NBRTIE
properties, net of tax 68,866 94,105
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax FEFEHMFSUS - MERIRIE 67,081 85,863
Total comprehensive loss for the year XFEEGEBE (202,725) (366,541)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: HEeBRRER -
Owners of the Company VNI ZEES YN (142,809) (303,295)
Non-controlling interests JEIE B S (59,916) (63,246)
(202,725) (366,541)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction L& Of4R

with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SftERERER

Atributable to owners of the Company
RAERHEAEN

Share Share Other Retained Non-controling
capital premium TBSEIVES eamings Total inferests Total equity
Falis
e BARRE At e A% Ea e
Notes RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI00D
i ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2022 “ECCE-R-RER 83,484 5,149,350 144204 1619454 759492 26,647 7803139
Loss for the year FEFE - - - (389,158 (369,158) (63246) (452.404)
Other comprehensive income Rigaka
Curtency tanslaton diferences EREEE - - (8242) - (8242) - (8242
Revaluaion gans on propertes upon anster from 4E47% - % - kBRI LinEFER
roperty, plentand equipmentand right-otuse BIEENERMERREHR)
assels to investment propertes, net of ax - - 94,105 - 94,105 - 94,105
Total comprehensive loss GAUER - - 85,863 (389.159) (303.295) (63.246) (366,541)
Transactions with owners RESKTANRS
Employees share opton schem; BIRARERE -
- Proceeds from shares ssued -EARhmER 17 182 U4 - - 24560 - 24560
Share award pla: TRt feErEE -
~Valug ofemployee servis received -BIRBEE 17 - 115340 - - 115340 - 115140
= Transfer shars o e awarcees wponvesting — ~REBBRRMERLEZBA 1718 - (117840) 117840 - - - -
~Buy-hack o saes for the purpose of - B %8 8RR
sharg award plan 18 - - (81,340) - (61.340) - (81,340)
Buy-hack ofshares forthe purposs of cancellaion (7 F S4ERERRR R 18 - - (86,304 - (96,304 - (86,304
Cancellaion of shars it 1718 (129) (86:179) 86,304 - - - -
Disposal of a subsidary REFAT - - - - - {4am) (1)
Capitlinjection fom non-cortoling ineesls 3 ERSIM RIS - - - - - 3100 3100
Total transactions with owners, RESRTAURBEAR
recognised directly in equity SIRETHRANRE 5 (64.397) 3,500 - (27844 (117 (20019)
Balance at 31 December 2022 “EICETCRET-RER 8537 5084953 866,567 123029 726,353 1220 TA07583
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

EOHEESER
Atiributable to owners of the Company
FLTRERTARE
Share Share Other Retained Non-controlling
capital premium 1eServes gamings Total interests ~ Total equity
bl ]
k* eyl | b-031 ] HEha ait #a #iEa
Notes RNB'000 RNB'000 RNB'000 RNIB'000 RNB'000 RNB'000 RNB'000
fi  AR®FR  ABRTRE ABRTT  AEWTR ABRTRE ARRTR  ARMTR
Balance at 1 January 2023 “ECCE-f-RER 83,931 5,084,953 866,567 1,230,296 1,265,353 142,230 7,407,583
Loss forthe year EEEE - - - (209,890) (209,890) (59,916) (269,806)
Other comprehensive income Rigaka
Curtency translaton diferences IEREEE - - (1,785) - (1,785) - (1,785)
Revaluation gans on propertes upon tanster from 1£47% + %% - kBRI L FES
ropery, plantand equipment and rif-of-use BERREMER MERIE R
assels to investment propertes, net of ax - - 68,366 - 68,866 = 68,866
Total comprehensive loss HR4UER - - 67,081 (209,890) (142,809) (59,916) (202,725)
Transactions with owners RESRTANRS
Issuing new shares BRG 17 3,519 1,408,328 - - 1,411,647 - 1,411,847
Employees share opton schem; BIRIARERE -
- Prooeeds from shares ssted ~EARHAER 17 Q 5,481 - - 5,528 - 5,523
Share award plan: Wiy feEsEE -
~Valug ofemployee servies received -BIRBEE 17 - 9,218 - - 9,218 - 9,218
~Tenlershaes o e avarcees wponvesting. - ~REBBEBRNEHLEREA 1710 - (82,634) 79,866 - (2.768) = (2,768)
~Buy-back of shares for the purpose of - BROREEAERD
share award plan 18 - - (61,138) - (61,138) - (61,138)
Transactions with non-contoling nferess —— ELEERBIEER AT 5 - - 26,7110 - 2,110 20,782 47,55
Total transactions with owners, RESBTAURBEADSN
recognised directly in equity EfTHRANRE 3,961 1,427,453 45,498 - 1,476,512 20,782 1,497,294
Balance at 31 Decemher 2023 ZECZETCRCT-RER 87,098 6,512,406 979,146 1,020,406 8,599,036 103,096 8,102,152

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
SHR&RER

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=T+—HLEE

2023 2022
—EB-=F —T__4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
P AR®TT ARBETT

Cash flows from operating activities EETBNRERE
Cash generated from operations excluding KEEENRE (T2 BEEEEBGETE=S

net cash inflow in loans to third parties from FEFEFESRA)

the micro-credit business 33 626,671 337,839
Net cash inflow in loans to third parties from NEEEEBRE=FEFNFRERA

the micro-credit business 48,551 44,019
Interest paid BEASFLE (18,172) (3.443)
Income tax paid BEFEH (3,731) (3,978)
Net cash inflow from operating activities BEITDHELERHS 653,319 374,437
Cash flows from investing activities BREZENHHEERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BETEE THRAREE (417,120) (399,420)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and HETBE - TRKEEZEEHR

equipment and right-of-use assets 33 2,618 29,080
Purchases of intangible assets BEETEE (479,475) (488,293)
Pledged bank deposits and short-term and BERROTFZARERAMRBRITEZTFA

long-term bank deposits placed — net R (375,560) (652,810)
Interest received EUFLS 42,715 58,441
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BEUAREEFEZBTABENERE

through profit or loss BE (134,635) (139,010)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets BENARBEFTTESZBTABENEHE

at fair value through profit or loss EFTE 61,142 829,459
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BEURABENEEEZHF AL MRS

through other comprehensive income WEMS A E = (4,463)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired g F AR H RS FE (9,056) -
Disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash disposed BEFATMBRRFE - (21,961)
Investments in an associate HEENRINEE - (17,336)
Proceeds from disposal of associates BB E NRIFTEHR 4,818 19,282
Net cash outflow from investing activities BRETHFRARAE (1,304,553) (787,031)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITDMNRETE
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITRD RS 17 1,411,847 -
Proceeds from issue of shares as a result of BRI T THEFTIS 5K

exercise of options 17 5,523 24,660
Capital injection from non-controlling interests EIEPE R MRS 45,000 3,100
Proceeds from borrowings ERRATEK 480,000 503,000
Repayments of borrowings HBER (173,100) (30,200)
Principal elements of lease payments MENTOARS I (37,141) (32,391)
Payments for buy-back of shares AT AR [B1 BE B K08 18 (61,138) (167,644)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEFHELERHE 1,670,991 300,525
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (R4 K& IR & EWFg i, () 1,019,757 (112,069)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash EXFHUHRE RALEEYNTE

and cash equivalents 1,231 7,989
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FReRESEEY 15 1,942,735 2,046,815
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FEXBERALEED 15 2,963,723 1,942,735

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.
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General information

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands in 1999 as an exempted company with
limited liability. The address of its place of business is Kingdee Software Park,
No.2 Kejinan 12 Road, South district, Hi-tech Industrial Park, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in the cloud services,
including enterprise cloud services, small & micro business finance cloud services
and industry cloud services; and ERP business, including development and sales
of software products, sales of hardware products, provision of implementation,
software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade software and other supporting
Services.

The Company has its primary listing on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) since 15 February 2001.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise
stated. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 18
March 2024.

Material accounting policy information

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company and
its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

2.1

(a)

92

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards as issued
by the IASB (“IFRS Accounting Standards”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (“0CI”) and investment properties, which are carried at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting
Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2023:

° Insurance Contracts — IFRS 17

° Disclosure of Accounting Policies — Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS
Practice Statement 2

° Definition of Accounting Estimates — Amendments to IAS 8

° Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction — Amendments to I1AS 12

° International Tax Reform Pillar Two Model Rules — Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised

in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO HmRMET
2  Material accounting policy information (Continued) 2 BEEEHBRIHEHH)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEGE
(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet been adopted (b)) MREZRFEERREIRABOFER - &
SR RE
Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and AR Fre & st AR AR 2 AC B84 - IE 2R
interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2023 MEEE_E-_=F+-_A=+—H8HREH

reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These standards,
amendments or interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on
the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions.

BREAEX

AT REHIMER - L BAREEERRA - &
BEEEMNVIZFE - BtELRE
AR BERRAATBENRRZSHIEH

BRI

&

Effective for annual
periods beginning on or after
HEREFR

Amendments to IAS 1

BIpR &5t R 15E (1ER])
Amendments to IAS 1
Bl @5 RSB 1IRIEET AR
Amendments to IFRS 16
B B B 745 5 MR BRI B 165E 12 5T AR
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7
Bl &5 RIS TE &

BURR B 7 5 M R B TSRS R T AR
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

I % B 75 e o 22 B 521055 £
@Fﬁ% u+/§ﬁljéﬁ285f{ ETZ’X

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
BESBANRBDBEEIIFRBEE
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

B RZLNEENIERE B E

Lease Liability in a sales and Leaseback
ERMEEPHEERE

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HEmERE Tk

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate

REFERBENFZENEERESTE

1 January 2024

—EoNFE—-A—H
1 January 2024
—EoNFE—-A—H
1 January 2024
—EoNFE—-HA—H
1 January 2024
—EDNFE—-A—H

To be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

2.2

2.21

2.2.2

2.23

94

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown
separately in the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of financial position respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not
control or joint control. This is generally the case where the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting (see Note 2.2.3 below), after initially being
recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals
or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.2

2.2.3

2.2.4

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)
Equity method (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note 40.20.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in
a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in
ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because
of a loss of control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRS Accounting
Standards.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

2.2

2.2.5

96

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)
Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a

business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest

in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value

or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net

identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

° consideration transferred

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired
entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the

business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.2

2.2.5

2.2.6

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable
in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange.
The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate
at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier
under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Concentration test as prescribed by IFRS 3 “Business Combination” has been
applied by the Group to consider whether the set of activities and assets of
subsidiaries acquired are individually businesses. If the fair value of total net
assets acquired substantially equals to the fair value of an identifiable asset
acquired, the transaction would be accounted for as asset acquisition instead of
business acquisition. The consideration is then directly allocated to the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost also
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

2

2.3

2.4

(a)

98

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising leasehold land and buildings, are
held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not
occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values
are recorded in the consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain or
loss in “fair value gains and losses on investment properties”.

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied
property, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall be its fair
value at the date of change in use.

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.2.5. Goodwill on acquisitions of
subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units (“CGU”) or groups
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which
the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the
operating segments (Note 5).

The carrying amount of the CGU or group of CGUs including the allocated goodwill
is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal. An impairment loss, being the amount by
which the carrying amount of the CGU or group of CGUs exceeded its recoverable
amount, is recognised immediately under “Other income and gains — net” and is
not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.4

(b)

(c)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)
Research and development costs

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Gosts incurred
on development projects (relating to the design and testing of new and improved
software) are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

— itis technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available
for use;

—  management intends to complete the software and use or sell it;
—  thereis an ability to use or sell the software;

— it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future
economic benefits;

— adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the software are available; and

— the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be
reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised include the software development
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense is
not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised
from when the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 4 months to 43 months.

Acquired trademarks, licenses and copyrights

Separately acquired trademarks, licenses and copyrights are shown at historical
cost. Trademarks, licenses and copyrights acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks, licenses and
copyrights have finite useful lives and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of trademarks, licenses and copyrights over their estimated useful lives of
31010 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4
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2.5

2.5.1

2.5.2

100

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Computer software for own use

Computer software licenses for own use are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 1 to 5 years.

Acquired customer relationship

Customer relationship acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Customer relationship is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation, amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of customer relationship over 5 years.

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time
of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.5

2.5.3

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are two measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. The
gain or loss derived from loans to third parties is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in ‘Other income and gains — net’ together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the income statement.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within
‘Other income and gains — net’ in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

2.5

2.5.3

2.5.4
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in ‘Other
gains/losses — net" in the income statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.6

(a)

(b)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current
period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted
or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and
considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair
value is determined assuming the property will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

2.6

(b)

2.7

104 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Revenue recognition

The Group derives revenue separately or in combination, from the cloud services,
including enterprise cloud services, small & micro business finance cloud services
and industry cloud services; and ERP business and other services, including
software and hardware products, software implementation services, software
solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade and other supporting services.

The Group generates part of the cloud services business revenue through
subscription basis to provide customers with access to cloud services. The Group’s
subscription service arrangements are non-cancellable and do not contain refund-
type provisions.

The Group enters into contracts with end customers that can include combination
of standard software, hardware and services which are accounted for as separate
performance obligations because they are capable of being distinct and generally
there is no significant modification or integration and they are not highly dependent
with each other. The Group sells standard software to distributors and end
customers. Both distributors and end customers are regarded as direct customers
of the Group as distributors can control the software and further resell it or sell
combined with other product and related services to end customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.7

(a)

(b)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The transaction price is the price after discount and is a fixed amount upon signing
the contract. The products cannot be returned unless significant problems found,
which rarely happens. The transaction price in an arrangement is allocated to
gach separate performance obligation based on the relative observable standalone
selling prices of the products or services being provided to the customer.

The Group recognises revenue when control of the promised products or services
is transferred to the customer. The customer obtains control of a product or service
if it has the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits from that product or service.

Sales of standard software and hardware

Standard software is a right to use license because the software has standalone
functionality and the customer can use the software as it is available at a point in
time. Licenses are typically delivered by providing the customer an activation code
with access to download the software. The Group recognises revenue for such
licenses at a point in time when the customer has received licenses or the activation
code and thus has control over the software and the Group has present right to
payment. In case there is an update of the standard software, end customers or
distributors are required to pay additional consideration to buy upgraded version.

Sales of hardware and related products are recognised at a point in time when the
products are delivered and the end customers have physical possession, that is
control over the hardware and related products.

ERP and cloud implementation contracts

Sometimes, customers will request customisation of ERP and cloud based on
customers’ demands and business operations.

Revenue of ERP and cloud implementation contracts is recognised over the period
of the contracts by reference to the progress of work performed, which is established
according to the value of efforts put in each task (measured by standard man
days for each task) over total value of efforts of the implementation project with
support by progress reports acknowledged by the customers. The corresponding
implementation costs are recognised as incurred under cost of sales.

Variations in implementation work and incentive payments are included in
transaction price to the extent that would have been agreed with the customer.
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2.7

(c)

(d)

(e)

106 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Cloud and other services

Cloud services, software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrading, training and
other supporting services are provided mainly in the form of fixed-price contracts.
Revenue related to these services are recognised ratably over the service contract
period. The Group provides cloud services directly to end customers or through
its distributors. For cloud services provided through distributors, the Group is
responsible for delivering the services, paying server fees to external cloud server
vendors to ensure the services are accessible and stable, and the Group has
discretion in establishing the prices for these services. The distributors have the
contractual obligation to follow the Group’s pricing guidance and are not primarily
obligated to the customers for the quality or performance of the services. Therefore
the Group is the principal to the end customers and recognises revenue at the
gross amount billed to the end customers.

Contract assets and liabilities

The Group recognises receivables for performance obligations satisfied over
time gradually as the performance obligation is satisfied and the right to
consideration is unconditional. Judgment is required in determining whether a
right to consideration is unconditional and thus qualifies as a receivable. When
the performance obligation satisfied over time while a right to consideration is
conditional, contract asset is recognised. Contract liabilities primarily reflect
invoices due or payments received in advance of revenue recognition. They are
recognised as revenue upon transfer of control to the customers of the promised
license, products and services.

Rebates to distributors

The Group offers rebates to distributors based on the respective purchase volume
of distributors. The rebate is not in the form of cash, but as a coupon to be used
on future purchase order, thus it is regarded as a customer option that provides
material right and be treated as a separate performance obligation. The contract
price allocated to the rebates is recognised as a contract liability which is then
transferred to revenue when the coupons are used or expired after 12 months from
grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.7

(f)

(9)

(h)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised software products to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of
the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract primarily consisting of sales
commissions are capitalised as an asset. The Group amortises assets recognised
from capitalising costs to obtain a contract on a systematic basis to profit or loss,
consistent with the pattern of revenue recognition to which the asset relates.

Micro-credit business

The Group's micro-credit business revenue derives from interest income. The
Group generates interest income from providing micro-credit loans to borrowers.
Interest income is recognised and accrued based on the effective interest rate
agreed with each borrower over the loan period.
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3.1

(a)
(i)

108 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Financial risk management
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including
foreign exchange risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

The directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised as follows:

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

The functional currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries is RMB. The
majority of the revenues of the Group are derived from operations in the PRC.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between RMB and other currencies
in which the Group conducts business may affect its financial position and results
of operations. The foreign exchange risk facing the Group mainly comes from
movements in the US dollars (“USD”)/RMB and Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”")/RMB
exchange rates.

At 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any derivative financial instrument
for which hedging accounting was applied.

At 31 December 2023, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
HKD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB7,463,000 (2022: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB3,206,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of HKD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.

At 31 December 2023, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
USD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB6,693,000 (2022: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB1,077,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of USD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

3

3.1
(a)
(i)

(iii)

(b)

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its bank
borrowings, details of which have been disclosed in Note 21. Bank borrowings
carried at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, the Group will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings of the Group which were bearing at
floating rates amounted to RMB776,900,000 (2022: RMB470,000,000). As at 31
December 2023, if the interest rates had been 50 basis point higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the years
ended 31 December 2023 would have been approximately RMB3,496,050 (2022:
RMB2,115,000) higher/lower.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk from its investments in minority stakes
in both listed and unlisted companies which are classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. To manage its equity price risk, the Group diversifies its
portfolio.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt
instruments carried at amortised cost, at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables.

3.1

(a)
(i)

(iii)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

3.1

(b)
(i)

110 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Risk management

The management manages the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents, pledged
and short-term and long-term bank deposits and wealth management products
(classified as financial assets at FVPL) by transacting with state-owned financial
institutions and reputable commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in mainland China and Hong Kong.

In relation to trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has two kinds of
distribution channels, one is sales to distributors and the other is sales to end
customers.

For sales to distributors, the Group has assessed the credit quality of the
distributors, taking into account their financial position, past experience and
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by management. The compliance with credit limits by
distributors is regularly monitored by management.

For sales to end customers, the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in trade receivables since the balance of trade receivables is composed of
numerous individual small items and the exposure spreads over a large number of
customers.

The Group’s investments in debt instruments, including loans to third parties, are
considered to be low risk investments. The credit ratings of the investments are
monitored for credit deterioration.

For other receivables, management considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been significant increase in
credit risk on an on-going basis. The directors of the Company believe that there
is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balances of other
receivables.

3.1

(b)
(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMERBREHE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEEEER(E)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) ISEERBE (1)

(i) Impairment of financial assels (i) SBEERE

The Group has four types of financial assets that are subject to credit risk
assessment:

° (Cash deposits and wealth management products at banks
° Trade receivables and contract assets
° Loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments),

° Note receivables
Cash deposits and wealth management products at banks

While cash deposits and wealth management products at banks are also subject
to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and
contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the invoice days. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables within aging bucket for the same types
of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for
trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract
assets.

The expected loss rates are estimated base on the roll rate approach considering
the invoice days of trade receivables across historical years and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within the period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group
has identified production price index, broad measure of money supply (M2), and
fixed asset investment price index as the main influgncing factors, and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. The
Group would also monitor the counterparties individually and identify specific
counterparties with distinct characteristics for individual impairment assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO KM
3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMERBERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MERRER(E)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) {EEEBEGR)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) EEEEHEEGE)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) EWERRFIASREEE)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 Bl #E-FT_=F+—A=+—HN=F
was determined as follows for trade receivables and contract assets: ZZHF+ZA=+—H  BERERMIBAE
- BT
Collective impairment
fHanE
31 December 2023 —2_=%+4+_"_A=+—H 0-1year 1-2 years 2-3years  Over3years Total
—£LR -EmE REZF =ENE Bt
N/A
Expected loss rate TEEME AR R 5.33% 35.00% 60.24% 100.00% NEH
Gross carrying amount — Trade BRI 4228 — FE UK BR 7K
receivables (RMB'000) (AR¥F7) 111,982 16,314 12,215 105,481 245,992
Loss allowance (RMB’000) REBHAR®TT) 5,974 5,725 7,358 105,481 124,538
Collective impairment
BARE
31 December 2022 ZE_CE+ZRE+-H 0-1 year 1-2 years -3years  Over3years Total
—F LR —EfME REZEF —EYE CH
N/A
Expected loss rate TEEME AR ® 9.64% 4495% 69.82% 100.00% N3 A
Gross carrying amount — Trade BRI 4258 — FE UK BR 7K
receivables (RMB'000) (ARETFIT) 125,873 19,263 16,437 107,975 269,548
Loss allowance (RMB’000) REBHAR®TT) 12134 8,659 11476 107,975 140,244

The loss allowances of contract assets were estimated by considering the expected
credit loss rates of the different aging periods of trade receivables. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of

gach class of financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

3

3.1
(b)
(i)

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 December

reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

3 MBHREEEG

3.1 MHERRERGE

(b) {ESEMBR ()

(i)  ZEEEREE)

FEYSRRANE R E (B)

AEBBEEEAMEREENT - A=1—

HHERBREFEAR S HERRE - AR

W

Contract assets

Trade receivables

eRAEE e AR
2023 2022 2023 2022
—g-= =t S — ) B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TRE ARBTT AERBTRT AREBTET
Opening loss allowance —B— B E#iRE E R
at 1 January 84,589 57,410 140,244 134,800
Increase in loss allowance recognised in ANFE T ABZHEFRIEL
profit or loss during the year e =tzp 63,443 27,179 9,702 62,215
Receivables written off during the year as AN & 4% i #4852 Uit [0 £ &
uncollectible Wik - - (25,408) (56,771)
Closing loss allowance +-A=+—HB#*x
at 31 December % (B HE 0 148,032 84,589 124,538 140,244
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of EAREE T AR TR I E A RIER - Bl

recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 3

years past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts

previously written off are credited against the same line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i)

Loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments)

For loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments), in order
to minimise the credit risk, the Group has established policies and systems for
monitoring and control of credit risk. The management has delegated different
divisions responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring processes to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, management reviews the recoverable amounts of loan and
interest collectively at each reporting date to ensure that adequate allowance for
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The loss allowance for loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding
prepayments) as at 31 December reconciles to the opening loss allowances as

Foh 365 T B I (466)

R ¥ BB EE % ()

1 5% LB (1)

2EEETE(E)

B = BN AN FBRSN)

Fhia T 58 =75 B FOM H o Yk (TR A FRIARR
5N REEREEERR - AREDEIBEK
REGHEERERENEERR - EEEE DR
TRBFABEREEERSE FEMRREM
ESIEF ARRIFLE R RETES R A HRE
%o BE  EEENSERSARBRERISER
KM B2 Ay BEE - FEORE 3L AT UL B 8RR
TEHFE D RER R A -

W+ZA=+—H  E=7ERMEMREYK
(RN FIRERIN B R B S EETIR R R

follows: SHEROT
Other receivables
(excluding
Loans to third parties prepayments)
ot FE U R
BZHHER (PRI RRIFRR L)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREETIT

Opening loss allowance as at w-—E-_—_%$—AF—H

1 January 2022 3,322 14,182
Increase in the allowance recognised in profitor ~ ANEARSI 5T A & ERfE 25 EHE S

loss during the year CR),/#hn 25 3,042
Receivables written off during the year as INEFAZ

uncollectible - (700)
Closing loss allowance as at R-Z__F+-_A=+—~H

31 December 2022 3,347 16,524
Opening loss allowance as at W-—E_=%—H—H

1 January 2023 3,347 16,524
Decrease in the allowance recognised in profitor ~ ANEAfEIET A & BRI A EB S R

loss during the year (78) (2,012)
Receivables written off during the year as A%

uncollectible (20) (1,419)
Closing loss allowance as at R-Z_=f+"A=+—~H

31 December 2023 3,249 13,093
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

3

3.1
(b)
(i)

Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments) (continued)

Based on historical experience, majority of the other receivables (excluding
prepayments) were settled within 12 months, and had no historical default at
each reporting period end, therefore, most of the other receivables (excluding
prepayments) were categorised in stage 1.

However, certain counterparty failed to make demanded repayment when they fall
due, the Group made 100% provision for these receivables (“Non-performing
Receivables”). As at 31 December 2023, the gross amount of RMB11,890,000
(2022: RMB6,830,000) of other receivable was assessed as Non-performing
Receivables and RMB11,890,000 (2022: RMB6,830,000) of loss allowance was
recognised.

Note receivables
The note receivables are guaranteed by reputable banks in Mainland China

and have been classified as stage 1 during the years of 2023 and 2022. The
management assessed that the expected credit losses was immaterial.
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(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO KM
3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMERBERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HMBEERER(E
(¢) Liquidity risk (c) RENHEREE
The Group exercises prudent liquidity risk management by reviewing forecast cash AEB BN ESZEREMTEIIR ST - NI
balances on a quarterly basis to maintain sufficient cash levels and the availability TEEMNTHESEIREER  BEEHNERES
of an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to ensure the availability of ENEUAANEERENEREARSMIA
sufficient cash flows to meet any unexpected and material cash requirements in the EEE AT EREE P EMEEENHMER
course of ordinary business. The Group has no significant exposure to liquidity FIREHK o AEEWEEREERE ©
risk.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be settled on TRINTASE R QRN A EZRARN
a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at FIEAER - RIBFRAZE A ZE AP ANTH
the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts EAfETTONT - ERABBNSHAESOMR
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due BHEMIRESRE - ARIENTETK - Bl
within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not TE12{E A AR HR A RSN HERTEE -
significant.
Between Between
Less than 1and 2and Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5years Total
—FlA -EBE BELFE HFEUE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR®TT
At 31 December 2023 R-B_=F+-RA=+—H
Bank borrowings(including interest) fER(BEFL) 42,210 579,185 197,557 - 818,952
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and  FEF BRI K H b FEA FX (N5 18
other taxes payables and salary and staff BEREEMTE  ENTFER
welfare payables) ==yl 929,927 - - - 929,927
Lease liabilities HERE 34,311 25,087 15,149 - 74,547
Total financial liabilities SR A RAE 1,006,448 604,272 212,706 - 1,823,426
At 31 December 2022 R-EZ"F+-RA=+—H
Bank borrowings(including interest) fEREENE) 71,262 100,051 301,803 - 473116
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and  FE{ BR X K H b FE A F0 (& 18
other taxes payables and salary and staff BEREEMTHE  ERH2 &
welfare payables) BTEH) 631,635 - - - 631635
Lease liabilities HEAE 28,932 21,922 22,344 - 73,198
Total financial liabilities SMAFEE 731,829 121973 324147 - 1,177,949

116 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

3

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMEBERRERE
3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.2 AREEMSGEE)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value as TEREEBEEFHEAABENGEERMFATER

at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used B ANER  SWAEER _T=_=

to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair +ZA=+—BNMZZE==F+=A=+—H

value hierarchy as follows: BRAnBEARNSHRIA - SLH ARREA

REEEBRBEANT=E :

-~ Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or —  AREESEEEERMISHMRECRE
liabilities (level 1). ) (E1E) -

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable — BRTHIEMBENREN ZEENE
for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that BN EENEMEB A - Al REE B
is, derived from prices) (level 2). B Sk BNR B (ER) (B2fE) -

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data —  AENMAREWFXKEIHETESEERD
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3). A\ BIIERTE =& A) (B3fE) -

At 31 December 2023 R-EZ=%+_RA=1+-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$18 £l $3E iy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TT ARRTT AR®TT
Financial assets at fair value through NAREBEFEAEZH:T AR
profit or loss SRERE
~ Investments designated at fair value through ~ —#5E AR A BEHEEEEH
profit or loss FABENRENEREE 31,182 - 970,748 1,007,930
Financial assets at fair value through other NARBEFEEEEH: AR MR
comprehensive income BUERNSHEE
~ Investments designated at fair value through ~ —38E AR A BEHEEEE
other comprehensive income FAEMERANERNSREE - - 4,463 4,463
Total &Er 31,182 - 975,211 1,012,393
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMERBERE(E)
3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.2 LREEMEEE
At 31 December 2022 R-B_—_#+-A=+—H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE1B FE EX) 4aEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT ARETT ARETT
Financial assets at fair value through AR A2 BEFTE B EEE T A
profit or loss BRrNemEE
— Investments designated at fair value —#8EABA AR BENER
through profit or loss HEar AEEmIRE
HeREE 47,054 - 950,365 997,419
Financial assets at fair value through AR 2 BEETE B EEE T A
other comprehensive income HEmira e mEE
— Investments designated at fair value —#8EABAAABENER
through other comprehensive HEE AR L MTE
income B REE - - 4,463 4,463
Total BeEt 47,054 - 954,828 1,001,882

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize
the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to measure the fair
value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

I one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the

instrument is included in level 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

3.2

Financial risk management (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
- Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

- Discounted cash flow analysis.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

3 HMHERRERGG
3.2 ffRIER )

R ESRTANSERERMTEE -

- RFBEETANTSREXAZZHRE -

—  BRRBSERIN -

TRERNHE T -_=ZFMN=_FT=-_—_F+=A4
=+ HIFEFIESHTANES) -

Financial assets at

Financial assets at
fair value through

fair value through  other comprehensive

profit or loss income

DREESE

ARBEETE HHEES®HA

HHESBH AR Htiz ek

HemEE HEmEE

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBEF T AREETIT

At 1 January 2023 BW-E2_=%—A—H 950,365 4,463

Additions 0 122,192 -

Disposals BE (60,601) -

Losses recognised in profit or loss EIEEERNFIE (41,208) -

At 31 December 2023 w-—e_=%+-H=+—H 970,748 4,463
Changes in unrealised gains for the year included #EBzs xRN EERBIRAE

in profit or loss at the end of the year k=) (41,208) -

At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_%—H—H 1,661,076 _

Additions N 139,010 4463

Disposals BE (872,606) -

Gains recognised in profit or loss EEEERNFIE 22,885 -

At 31 December 2022 w-—e-_—_f£+-HA=+—H 950,365 4463
Changes in unrealised gains for the year included 8% R P RERHFEERETEFEG

in profit or loss at the end of the year Eop=E ) 15,937 -

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

AEREANEE - F2EHEEIE 2 I MR
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3  Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2

Fair value estimation (Continued)

3.2

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant
unobservable inputs used in the major level 3 fair value measurements.

B35 B T (1)
A RE S E ()

TREBTEIZNEIRAABENEDEA
MEBEZN T BENBANTEEEM

Range of inputs

Description Fair value at (probahility-weighted average)
HE ROREEE BAESE (BEmEEy)
Relationship of
31 December 31 December unobservable
2023 2022 Un-observable inputs 2023 2022 inputs to fair value
-} ZECCE FUBRRMEBAE 8= ZEICE RRARERTRTRE
+ZA=t+-B +ZA=+-H BAENRE
RMB’000 RMB1000
AERTT ARBFTL
Unlisted equity investments 964,748 931,164 Expected volatility 46.50%-61.30%  41.02%-76.53%  The higher the expected volatlity,
the higher the fair value
3 EHRERE 964,748 91164 EEIREE 46.50%-61.30%  41.02%-7653% FEERBERHS
RABEES
Risk-free rate 2.24%-4.16% 247%-4.68%  The higher the risk-free rate, the
lower the fair value
ERRANE 2.20%-4.16% 2T-468%  BERFEES -
RABESE
Business enterprise value/sales multiple 3.10X-8.90X 240X The higher the multiple, the higher
the fair value
rEER/ BERS 3.10X-8.90X 2 BEEER -
RABEES
Lack of liquidity discount rate 11.00%-30.00% 25.00%  The higher the lack of liquidity
discount rate, the lower the fair
value
Bz B 11.00%-30.00% B0% BEZRBUERREES 2
AEBEWE
Wealth management products 6,000 19201 Expected annual refum rate 1.05%-2.30% 1.50%-2.85%  The higher the expected annual
retun rate, the higher the fair
value
EEEEEMD 6,000 19201 BEFRHE 1.05%-2.30% 150%-285% BEFREEHES  ARE
)
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for owners and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to owners, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis
of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “current and non-current
borrowings” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) less
cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

3.3

A 35 B ()
AeRREE

AEENESERRR  RRESERSEE
g UARREHEIHRMAEMENTE AL
T - RNEFRENENEBUREES
XA o

RTHFNABENGE  AREAEEH
XA T BCRABFIERER - ABRRREEAR
TR B B E ARUR &S

B
s

HEEAEMAR K AREFNBEARAELL
RERHER o W RIRRERFRERARE
AEE - B FRLRMER(BEA HYHIRR
=EIIRE RIERBER ) BERE MRS
EEY - REARHEE] (A GBI RR
I hnERSFER o

E-E_ZFR-_F-_—_F+-_A=+—H"
NEENEABFELRNT ¢

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TT AREETIT

Total borrowings (Note 21) BiE KRR 776,900 470,000
Total lease liabilities (Note 7) BLHEEsEED 64,610 63,894
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 15) B RE RIRESEEMHEE5) (2,963,723) (1,942,735)
Net cash Re B (2,122,213) (1,408,841)
Total equity HES 8,702,152 7,407,583
Total capital wEx 6,579,939 5,998,742

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group was in net cash position. In the
opinion of the directors, the Group’s capital risk is manageable.

T FFR

HE T =F+-_fA=+—HN-_Z_—F
+-—A=Z+—8 SEERFHRSMHKE -BF
MRAEREENERRBREKIE -
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41

4.2

4.3

122 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

Recognition of ERP and cloud implementation revenue

Revenue from ERP and cloud implementation contracts is recognised over
the period of the contracts by reference to the progress of work performed
and acknowledged by the customers. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
revenue of approximately RMB1,625,107,000 is generated from ERP and cloud
implementation contracts (2022: RMB1,439,746,000). The Group has to estimate
the progress of work performed. If the progress of work performed were to differ by
10% from management's estimates (for example, 33% instead of 30%), the amount
of revenue recognised in 2023 would have been higher/lower by approximately
RMB162,511,000 (2022: RMB143,975,000).

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.4. Management engaged
an independent valuer to assist them in carrying out the goodwill impairment
assessment. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the Group considered
that the evaluated unit is a separate group of cash-generated-units (the “CGU”)
and the goodwill is allocated to the CGU. Management assessed the impairment
of goodwill by determining the recoverable amount of the CGU, representing
the higher of its fair value less cost of disposal and value-in-use which is
calculated using cash flow forecasts based on the financial budgets approved by
management. The goodwill impairment assessment involves significant judgments
and estimates which include the adoption of appropriate valuation method and the
use of key assumptions (mainly revenue growth rate and earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) margin during the forecast period,
terminal growth rate and pre-tax discount rate). Details of the impairment test are
set out in Note 8.

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using valuation technique.
Details of the judgments and assumptions have been disclosed in Note 9.

41
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4.3
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4.4

4.5

4.6

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

Capitalisation of development costs

Development costs incurred are capitalised as intangible assets when recognition
criteria as detailed in Note 2.4(b) are fulfilled. Management has applied its
professional judgment in determining whether the related software products could
generate probable future economic benefits to the Group based on the historical
experience of the existing products and the prospects of the markets. Any severe
change in market performance or technology advancement will have an impact on
the development costs capitalised.

Estimated useful lives of capitalised development costs

The useful lives of capitalised development costs are estimated based on historical
experience, which include actual useful lives of similar assets and changes in
technology. If the estimated useful lives of capitalised development costs were
to shorter or longer by 10% from management’s estimates, the amortisation
charge for 2023 would have been higher by approximately RMB52,125,000
(2022: RMB30,509,000) or lower by approximately RMB50,089,000 (2022:
RMB31,566,000).

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b).

4.4

4.5

4.6

I S 2

R & 5 H A B FUER ()

FRAARHEREEZARBFEFL

EEEFAME2.4 ()Tl RERIE%E - B
BERANERCBELEE SBEEENRREE
mETERRZELER  BRBIEHERAT
15 L BN EE AR S RE AT AN B A PR R 2R AT
i o BFRMIERARBREEMNERE
SV ERBNAZERL -

R EFARRFRERFER

BEXCHABRANERFRREELERE
E - BIEREEEN B R R LR 2
b - EEAMERABEMANG A ERFHEE
BREMMETERIERE0% A -T - =45
AB S H B S AT S 4 A R#52,125,0007T
(ZZ =% : AR¥30,509,00070) sk /K H 4 A
[R50,089,000;c(Z T = =4 : AR31,566,000
o) °

SR EERE

TREENBREFERENTRORRNE
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4.7

(a)

(b)
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes
Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgment
is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
such determination is made.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group were each entitled to a preferential enterprise
income tax rate for a specified period subject to certain conditions. Management
generally applies the applicable preferential tax rate to calculate current income
tax and deferred income tax (Note 30) on the assumption that the subsidiaries
will continue to meet the conditions and qualify for the preferential treatment as
evidenced by past records. The consequence of any failure to meet the conditions
and any change in the applicable tax rate is adjusted in the year when the
information becomes known.

Deferred income taxes

As at 31 December 2023, deferred income tax liabilities of approximately
RMB460,439,000 (2022: RMB430,708,000) had not been recognised for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of approximately
RMB4,604,391,000 (2022: RMB4,307,076,000) of certain subsidiaries in the
PRC as these earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries for
reinvestment purposes and would not be remitted to their overseas holding
companies in the foreseeable future based on management's estimation on the
Group’s overseas funding requirements.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent
that the realisation of the related tax benefits through the future taxable profits is
probable. As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of RMB420,770,000 (2022: RMB406,749,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to RMB3,880,869,000 (2022: RMB2,861,661,000) of certain Group’s
subsidiaries, which can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income,
all of which will expire in 2024 to 2033, respectively.

4.7

(a)

(b)
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4.8

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial assets at level 3 fair value
hierarchy

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is
determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select
a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. For details of the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value
of financial assets at level 3 fair value hierarchy see Note 3.2.

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”) has been identified as executive
directors of the Company. The executive directors review the Group’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The executive directors consider the business from product perspective. The Group
has identified the following operating segments:

Cloud services -
business

Including enterprise cloud services, small & micro
business finance cloud services and industry cloud
services.

ERP business and — Including sales of software and hardware products,

others provision of software implementation, software
solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade and
other supporting services, and others
Investment properties —  Operation of investment properties

operating business

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the
profit or loss for the year of each segment. There were no segment assets and
segment liabilities information provided to the CODM, as CODM does not use this
information to allocate resources or to evaluate the performance of the operating
segments. Substantially all of the businesses of the Group are carried out in the
PRC.

4.8
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SO KM
5 Segment information (Continued) 5 SHEBEMGE)
The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows: BEZZ-=F+-A=+T—RHLEFE»HE
BT
Investment
Cloud ERP properties
services  business and operating The Group
business others business total
LEER
TERBHEE REMDE
EREES REfth BEXE SEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTT ARBTRT ARBTT ARBTRT
Revenue (from external customers) WA CREINBEF) 4,504,983 1,174,090 - 5,679,073
— Products transferred at a point in time —EmEX—REEE - 284,305 - 284,305
— Services transferred over time — IR EEREREER 4,504,983 889,785 - 5,394,768
Operating (loss)/profit EE(5R), 27 (369,181) (79,619) 28,853 (419,947)
Finance income g e 88,064 24,204 - 112,268
Finance costs B K AR (17,148) (4,805) - (21,953)
Finance income - net MBBA — B8 70,916 19,399 - 90,315
Share of profits of associates ZEBERENBIILEE - 28,506 - 28,506
(Loss)/profit before income tax HBRFR S AT (E5HE) F1E (298,265) (31,714) 28,853 (301,126)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fris®ihE,(BR) 32,435 580 (1,695) 31,320
Segment results DEWER (265,830) (31,134) 27,158 (269,806)
Depreciation and amortisation YT NN 374,994 124,023 - 499,017
Impairment of goodwill EESEAE] (20,109) - - (20,109)
Net impairment losses on financial assets and SREENE REERNFRE
contract assets =S (1,289) 72,344 - 71,055
Fair value losses on investment properties BEEMEN AR EEIBR - - (28,858) (28,858)
Share-hased payments LARKD B AR A S 79,584 16,694 - 96,278
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5 Segment information (Continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

5 SWEMGR

HE T -_—F+_A=+—BHILFEDE

BT
Investment
Cloud ERP properties
Services business operating The Group
business and others business total
TEER
EEHE  REMME
ERBES  EHREM BT SEEF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Revenue (from external customers) WA CGREINESE ) 3,714,093 1,151,676 - 4,865,769
— Products transferred at a point in time —EREX—FEER - 286,260 - 286,260
— Services transferred over time — RIEER B REER 3,714,093 865,416 - 4,579,509
Operating (loss)/profit EE (5B 287 (561,062) (80,882) 54,600 (587,344)
Finance income U Al 80,046 27,891 - 107,937
Finance costs EUR %N (5,399) (2,262) - (7,661)
Finance income - net MBI — B8 74,647 25,629 - 100,276
Share of profits of associates EEBERENRTMEE - 12,850 - 12,850
(Loss)/profit before income tax RS IRET(R), 78 (486,415) (42,403) 54,600 (474.218)
Income tax credit/(expense) FriSFiRE,(BA) 28,401 (1,127) (5,460) 21,814
Segment results SR (458,014) (43,530) 49,140 (452,404)
Depreciation and amortisation WeERE#H 336,012 77,725 - 413,737
Net impairment losses on financial assets and SRMEENEREERFME
contract assets Bx 3,083 89,378 - 92,461
Fair value losses on investment properties KEEMENAREBEEX - - (15,587) (15,587)
Share-hased payments LARR (D AR A 96,019 19,121 - 115,140
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(a)
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Segment information (Continued)

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands while the Group mainly
operates its business in the PRC. Revenue from external customers from the
PRC and other locations is RMB5,636,312,000 (2022: RMB4,828,350,000) and
RMB42,761,000 (2022: RMB37,419,000), respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2023.

There was no single customer that contributed to over 10% of the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

(a)

& BB AR (48)

ARARGBRHASHEESETEXKAES
cHEZTE-_=F+_A=t—HILEE "
REFEEANINBREPFELENBRA
BARKS5636,312,000 0 (=T =—F : AR
4,828,350,0007T) - REEINNINEI R P AR A
R#542,761,0000T (ZE =4  AR¥E37,419,000
JT) °
BEZZ-_=FM=_F=-__F+=—A=+—H
IHFEEEEREE —FRHSENKRATRHE
5@10% °©

BERSAARANEENAR

At 31 December
g#FE+-_HA=+—8H

2023 2022
—E-= T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AREETTT
Current contract assets relating to ERP and cloud implementation  ERPRZEE A RABEARE)
contracts EREE 510,410 431,131
Loss allowance B (148,032) (84,589)
Total FEE 362,378 346,542
Contract obtaining costs (i) A RES () 643,497 393,871
Contract liabilities — Cloud services business ARABE-ERBEES 2,867,294 2,239,473
Contract liabilities — ERP business and others ERBE-—CEEREEHE
¥ REAM 309,295 391,562
Total FEE 3,176,589 2,631,035

Contract obtaining costs

Management expects the incremental costs, primarily sale commissions paid/
payable, as a result of obtaining the cloud services contracts are recoverable.
The Group capitalised these incremental costs and amortised them in “Sales
promotion” expenses when the related revenue is recognised. There was no
impairment loss in relation to the costs capitalised.

(i)
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5 Segment information (Continued)

(a) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers
(Continued)

(ii)  Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current
reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

5 SEHMERGER
(a) HEFARAMLHEENRAR(E)

(i) HEWARFRCHEBHKA

TRETENRE AN R KA REE
BRAGEHEBNDE -

Year ended 31 December
#E=E+_-_H=+—H

2023 2022

=== - —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AREFTT

Cloud services business ERBEER 1,773,859 1,320,693
ERP business and others EEREIBAE S M EA 391,562 451,358
2,165,421 1,772,051

(iii)  Unsatisfied long-term cloud services contracts

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from long-
term fixed-price cloud services contracts.

(ii) RETHRUERBFER

TRETRTREEEBNERE S RTARE
TTHIEHIRTS °

At 31 December
#E=+-H=+—H

2023 2022
= T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREETFTT
Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to long-term A+ = A=+—B D EH D
cloud services contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied HEBARBITHRBZ RS
as at 31 December BRNGEZFER 1,223,046 922,400

Management expects that approximately 41.92% of the transaction price allocated
to the unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December 2023 will be recognised as revenue
during the next reporting period (RMB512,751,000). The remaining approximately
58.08% (RMB710,295,000) will be recognised after the 2024 financial year.

All other cloud services and ERP business contracts are for periods of one year
or less or are billed based on time incurred. As permitted under IFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

EREE RZZEZ=F+-A=+—H»k=E
KEITARNRZ BERNNN2%EE T —EREHR
TERUBA (A REES12,751,0007T) » E5258.08% (AR
710,295,000) ST A =T ZPU4F 2 1A HERR ©

A EMERBNEEERERTEEBE ROME
B—FH—FUR - SRBEFHEMEE - LTEEK
MR HEERE1RAFA] - HEHRELHE R
RPHEBRAEE
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& T BEAEN
6 Property, plant and equipment 6 ABE -IRREE
Computer and
related Office Leasehold ~ Construction in

Buildings ~ equipment equipment  Motor vehicles  improvements rocess Total
BT BEREBRE  WLGE B BnhERE | ERIR ait
RIBO00 RMBO00 RIBO00 RVBO00 RHB00D RIBO0D RHIB 0D
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTT ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2022 BECBCCEFZRAST-ALER
Onening net book amount BEAAE 642,036 10973 10467 9489 2102 2979 1,044,880
Additions A - 2978 250 1380 16,18 156337 199,409
Disposels RE - (@) ) (181) - - (618)
Trensferto investmentpropertis REkREIEEL (36.506) - - - - (6519 (102025
Depreciaton charge il (273) (21%62) (2100) (2415) (14.939) - (64.752)
Closing net book amount BRIRTRE 582815 71569 0om 8213 13309 690511 13766

At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZRZ+-A

Cost iz 799,633 166,504 0739 30904 86,109 690611 1763520
Accumulated depreciation 2ihE (17683%) (%4.9%) (19662 (22631) (T2760) - (386,826)
Net ook amount BEsE 582815 71569 0om 8213 13309 690,611 1.376,6%

Year ended 31 December 2023 BECBCCETZRAST-ALER
Opening el book amount BSEAAE 582,815 ™,569 10,01 8,13 13,349 690,611 1,376,604
Addtions A - 18,428 5,504 5,037 452 516,383 550,711
Dipisds £E - (1549) ) ] - - (2.505)
Transer flom oonstucion n process FRIRE 197411 - - - - (197411) -
Trensfer from investment poperies REMEHEEL 150,532 - - - - - 150,532
Trangfrto mvestmentproerties REMFHEEA (12467) - - - - (67,032) (09,499)
Depreciation charge il (23,220 (23,746) (2,228) (2.31) (4.930) - (56,501)
Closng et ook amout L B MR B 0% W w1

At 31 December 2023 RZBZZE+ZR=+-A

Cost i 1,090,007 110,512 3,124 31,108 90,634 922,491 2,339,966
Recumlted depreciation gitine (194,986) (105,810) (21,862) (20,140) (17,69) - (420,468)
Net ook amount FasE 495,131 4,702 18,262 10,968 12,94 922,491 1,019,498

Depreciation of approximately RMB5,364,000 (2022: RMB7,795,000),
RMB9,798,000 (2022: RMB15,685,000) RMB39,520,000 (2022: RMB41,272,000)

FEHARES364000T(—FE-—5 : AR
7,795,0007T) - AER#9,798,0007T (=T ==

and RMB1,819,000 (2022: nil) has been charged to selling and marketing
expenses, research and development costs, administrative expenses and cost of
sales, respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, none of the property, plant and equipment was used as
security for bank borrowings (2022: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO HmRMET

7 Leases 7
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee.

(a) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position (a)

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

HE

AHERHEERAREFAREANEES
e

MERRRARRH ST

MIEHORNKRIR T BHEBREN TR

At 31 December
g#EFE+-HA=+—8H

2023 2022
—EB-=F T4
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARET T

Right-of-use assets EHEEE
Land use rights (i) {5 R () 143,236 101,416
Buildings BE 60,210 54,749
203,446 156,165
Lease liabilities HEAR
Current D 26,451 24,648
Non-current JERED 38,159 39,246
64,610 63,894

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2023 financial year were

RMB37,857,000 (2022: RMB16,794,000).

(i) The Group has land lease arrangement with Mainland China government.
The land use rights are located in the PRC and held on leases of between

28 to 39 years, and for self-use.

“ROUBEERN - EREEEENAR
137,857,000 (=2 = =4 : ARK¥16,794,000
o) °

(i) AEHEEPEAMBTTA L HRL -
THERELRPEARKMBEA -
THEARBFEIF - ftEA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO HmRMET
7 Leases (Continued) 7 HEGE
(b)  Amounts recognised in the income statement (b) WERAEIHELE
The income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases: BRRIH Ty SBEEEEH
2023 2022
—E-= T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREETTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FHESEMTEER
Land use rights T b R 3,717 4,262
Buildings EBE 25,602 27,124
29,319 31,386
Interest expense (included in finance cost) FMEEBRGIAMBER) 3,298 3,849
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in cost of sales and  ER R VEBE B S RAVE(E
administrative expenses) BEEREHEENERGH
ANHERAREEER) 10,157 12,884
The total cash outflow for leases in 2023 was RMB47,298,000 (2022: —E_—ERAEERANREREEHAAR
RMB45,275,000). #47,298,000C (=2 = =4 « AR¥45,275,000
JT) °
(¢) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for (c) FKEMBESTHRESHER
The Group leases various offices. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed REBHREZRWAE - HEARBE2ETE
periods of 1 to 8 years, but may have extension options as described in (d) below. HiBR - 1F 28FNE - BEAlge B e T (d)Arut
ROEETRIBIEHE o
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of THEKREEEBNER FHEM  Be&E
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants REIBHEZ G - BHRIAAEENHRESE
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. R REERSON - FHE W hiE( 224 - 78
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. EBETGIEAEIIER -
(d) Extension and termination options (d) #HEESSEMRILEEARRIZE
Extension and termination options are included in a number of property leases REBNZERAZHERSERIRIZEEMRKR

132 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

across the Group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of extension
and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO HmRMET
8 Intangible assets 8 EEHRE
Trademarks, Computer Acquired
Development  licensesand  software for customer
Goodwill costs copyrights ownuse relationship Total
(1. &
we MAREF BRHEEE BREERG EFRRE &t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREBTE ARETL AR%TR ARETE ARETL AR%TR

Year ended 31 December HE_EB-_F

2022 +ZA=+—HLFE
Opening net book amount BREFE 204,589 724172 95,006 3371 10,138 1,037,366
Additions HAER - 480,508 64 7,21 - 488,293
Amortisation charge EHE - (317,738) (11,583) (2.881) (1,082) (333,284)
Closing net book amount ~ KB#REREIBME 204,589 886,942 83,577 8,211 9,056 1192,375
At 31 December 2022 R-BZ-Z
+ZRA=+-AH

Cost A 258,657 4485392 300,362 57,802 36,749 5,138,962
Accumulated amortisation BT - (3,598,450) (216,785) (49,591) (27,693) (3,892,519)
Accumulated Impairment Z5PRE (54,068) - - - - (54,068)
Net book amount IRERE 204,589 886,942 83,577 8,211 9,056 1,192,375

Year ended 31 Decemher HEE_EB_=#+_"H

2023 =t+—HLEE
Opening net book amount HRmFE 204,589 886,942 83,577 8,211 9,056 1,192,375
Additions HAER - 478,349 - 4,335 - 482,684
Amortisation charge B - (408,101) (10,844) (2,968) (1,082) (422,995)
Impairment loss BEBL (20,109) - - - - (20,109)
Closing net book amount ~ HBRHREISME 184,480 957,190 72,733 9,578 7,974 1,231,955

At 31 December 2023 R-BZ=F+ZR=+—

H
Cost 3% 258,657 4,963,741 293,862 62,135 36,749 5,615,144
Accumulated amortisation Rty - (4,006,551) (221,129) (52,557) (28,775) (4,309,012
Accumulated Impairment ZEMRE (74,177) - - - - (74,177)
Net book amount IRERE 184,480 957,190 12,733 9,578 1,974 1,231,955

Amortisation charge of RMB4,880,000(2022: RMB15,546,000),  #34&m DB AARKE4880000T(ZTE-—4 : AR
RMB408,101,000(2022: RMB317,738,000), RMB9,628,000(2022:nil) and #2145 546,0007T) - A F¥408,101,0007% (== ==

RMB386,000(2022:nil) has been charged to administrative expenses, research and 317,738,000) © AR#59,628,00070(=ZF = —4 : #) -
development costs, selling and marketing expenses and cost of sales respectively. AREE386,000(ZE-—4F : ) - HRIFFATES

A BTN - SHEMEHER - SHERA -
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Intangible assets (Continued)
Impairment test for goodwill

The goodwill amounting to RMB181,245,000 arisen from the Group’s acquisition
of Shanghai Guanyi Cloud Computing Software Co., Ltd. (“Guanyi”) was
determined at the date of acquisition on 29 February 2016, being the difference
between the purchase considerations and the fair value of net identifiable assets of
Guanyi. Goodwill has been allocated to the CGU of Guanyi for impairment testing.

The goodwill amounting to RMB77,412,000 arisen from the Group’s acquisition
of Beijing Kingdee Yunji Technology Co., Ltd. (“Yunji”) was determined at the
date of acquisition on 28 July 2021, being the difference between the purchase
considerations and the fair value of net identifiable assets of Yunji. Goodwill has
been allocated to the CGU of Yunji for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on the higher of its fair
value less cost of disposal and value-in-use, which is calculated using discounted
cash flows based on five-year financial projections plus a terminal value related
to cash flows beyond the projection period extrapolated at an estimated terminal
growth rate of 2.50% (2022: 3.00%). Management determined a forecast
period based on expected development trend of Guanyi and Yunji with industry
experience. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to
the relevant industry. Management engaged an independent valuer to assist them
in carrying out the goodwill impairment assessment.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

8 Intangible assets (Continued)
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued)

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for 2023 and 2022 are as
follows:

Guanyi:

8

R R E (W)

o 2 (HR)

R CHEN-E__FEREEAEERN

T2/REMOT

L E

2023
——

— ——

Revenue growth rate during the forecast period
EBITDA margin during the forecast period

TERIER PO\ S8 2
TERIER P S BT B R AT

9.08%-21.20%

20.95%-28.39%

21.36%—27.59%
8.07%-32.32%

Terminal growth rate KABIG R FE 2.50% 3.00%

Pre-tax discount rate T ATALIR % 18.93% 19.56%
Yunji: E=H

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

Revenue growth rate during the forecast period TERER R A IS K2 19.50%~181.40% 40.00%—48.94%

EBITDA margin during the forecast period TERIER BB HT B S AT R R 2 0.13%~28.67% -0.75%-31.69%

Terminal growth rate KEBIERE 2.50% 3.00%

Pre-tax discount rate THATREIR = 20.90% 20.62%

EBITDA margin equals to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation divided by total revenue.

T FFR

ERMEBHAMNBERRRTEEME - B
B EREBHNFMERIAEEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

8 Intangible assets (Continued) 8
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued)
Impact of possible changes in key assumptions
Impairment charge
Guanyi:
The impairment charge of RMB20,109,000 arose from Guanyi CGU. The
management assessed the business performance of Guanyi and discovered that
the key performance and assumptions were below expectations. The recoverable
amount of Guanyi was RMB187,622,000.
Yunji:

The recoverable amount of this CGU would equal its carrying amount if the key
assumptions were to change as follows:

R EE ()

7o 2 0 (1)

MEERTERES LS

JEAR

L LE

A 5 CGUE L MIBER R A AR %20,109,000
Lo EREHE HNEEEOLIT T B
BERERARRENES - EH0TERSE
FR AR H187,622,0007T -

BE:

INREARBREEMTE(L - ZCGUA R E
TEHEREREEE :

2023
—E=F
From To
s EY
Revenue growth rate (% annual growth rate) FERERUW AL R R (FHEERY) 19.50%—181.40%  19.08%-177.48%
EBITDA margin (%) TEDRIER P B A T 48 S AT AR R (%) 0.13%—28.67% -0.25%—27.711%
Pre-tax discount rate (%) FHRTRA IR (%) 20.90% 21.46%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SOt SR RMEE
9 Investment properties 9 WMEABRYE
2023 2022
—EB=HF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT ARETT
At fair value LREE
At 1 January »—A—H 1,734,079 1,538,286
Transfer to property, plant and equipment and right-of- & B MES AR T EERFEHREE
use assets = (197,709) -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment TEE - TREBEEAREEME 99,499 102,025
Transfer from right-of-use assets FREEEEAREEME 1,638 4,794
Addition E g n 41,582 -
Fair value changes recognised in profit or loss FEERTPEIAN AR EEEZY (28,858) (15,587)
Revaluation gains on properties upon transfer from THIREFREAKREEMER 2 E
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use RS
assets to investment properties 76,519 104,561
At 31 December »+=-A=+—H 1,726,750 1,734,079
(a) Amounts recognised in profit and loss for investment properties (a) HEMMREERZAREZHHNTE
2023 2022
—E-=f —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETIT
Rental income el A 66,087 70,295
Direct operating expenses from property that generates ~ EEAEFA & W A BT B IEYI R B
rental income == (379) (108)

An independent valuation of the Group’s investment properties was performed by
the valuer, Avista Group, to determine the fair value of the investment properties
based on highest and best use as at 31 December 2023. The Group’s investment
properties, which comprised office buildings in the PRC, were carried at fair value
and measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at 31 December

2023 and 2022.

e UEE=T

fEEM R R BN AR B A RAETT T BN
=F+tZ A=t BMESNEK
EERBEAERBETREMENDAEBE -R=F
CEHE+Z At RARZFZF+ZA=t—
A BEFERABENNYRAAABEIIE 1

EREATABERBABIR(FMTE -

T FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

(b)

138 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Investment properties (Continued)
Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. Lease payments for some contracts include CPI increases, but
there are no other variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate. Where
considered necessary to reduce credit risk, the Group required the tenants to
provide deposits for the term of lease contract.

Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value at the end of the
current leases, the Group typically enters into new operating leases and therefore
will not immediately realise any reduction in residual value at the end of these
leases. Expectations about the future residual values are reflected in the fair value
of the properties.

For minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment properties, refer
to Note 34.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s finance department includes a team that reviews the valuations

performed by the independent valuers for financial reporting purposes. This

team reports directly to the chief financial officer (CFO). Discussions of valuation

processes and results are held among the CFO, the valuation team and the

valuers at least once every six months, in ling with the Group’s interim and annual

reporting dates.

At the end of each reporting period the finance department:

- Verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

- Assesses property valuations movements when compared to the prior year
valuation report;

- Holds discussions with the independent valuer.

As part of this discussion, the team presents a report that explains the reasons for
the fair value movements.

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

9 Investment properties (Continued)
(b) Leasing arrangements (Continued)
Valuation techniques

For completed office buildings, the valuation was determined using income
approach based on significant unobservable inputs. These inputs include:

9 REMMRGEE
(b) HEEZH @
fh BB

BRI AR S ERNBIREE - RERT
ABRBAETE - ELBARRE

Unobservable inputs  Description
FAHRBA ik

Relationship of
Range of unobservahle unobservable inputs to
inputs fair value
FURRMANEE FURRBAB LR REHRE

Term yields Based on yields extracting from terms of current leases

izt I g REEFNERITNEESOGR - EEREYEE
Reversionary yields Based on expected yields after expiry of any current lease

THESM R REBEREZITNEESOG - Bt e BRI %
Fair market rents Based on the actual location, type and quality of the properties and supported

by the terms of any existing lease, other contracts and external evidence
such as current market rents for similar properties

[k 7k RENEFNERNE  BUNER  YhHEMRFEENE
o Etha RMNER GG ES B AHISEE) MR
X

4.75% (2022: 4.75%) The higher the term yields rate, the lower the
fair value
AT5% (224 : 475%) MEANEREE  DAEEVE

5.00% (2022: 5.00%) The higher the reversionary yields, the lower
the fair value
500%(ZZ =24 1 500%) EESMEEREEE  AnEEEE

RMB49-RMB137 per month per  The higher the rental value, the higher the fair
square meter (2022: RMB50- valug
RMB138 per month per square
meter)

BYARBAAREOL - mHHeds  AnBEES
WIT(CE-—%5:§F
HRGAARE0T—
13870)

ot

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

A P EIT RS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO KM
10 Investments in associates 10 BERE
2023 2022
—EBC-=S —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT ARETT
At 1 January »—RA—H 421,593 393,003
Additions 0 - 17,336
Dilution gains of an associate B2 & AR A1 = 15,216
Disposal BE (6,329) (16,812)
Deemed disposal RERE (7,583) -
Impairment of an associate A R IE (1,726) -
Share of profits of associates ZEBERENENNEE 28,506 12,850
At 31 December R+-A=+—AH 434,461 421,593
(@) Individually immaterial associates (a) FEEXRMBERE

In the opinion of the directors, none of the associates is material to the Group.
Summarised aggregate financial information of the individually immaterial
associates that are accounted for using the equity method are as following:

AEBESRR  AEEBEEANBERE -

ERREAZENIFEAME
EEZMT

REMBMBHE

2023 2022
—EB_=%F T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARBFT

Aggregate carrying amounts of individually immaterial ~ JFE KRB S QM IR AT HE
associates 434,461 421,593

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of: REEPTh D FELEET

Profit for the year FERF 28,506 12,850
Other comprehensive income Hibsr el _ _
Total comprehensive income HeRaEn 28,506 12,850

(b) Al the associates of the Group are unlisted and operate in Mainland China. There  (b)

AEEMABERRH/IFLT AR LAEF

are no significant contingent liabilities relating to liabilities of the associates for Bl APERE - AEBMEEYE AR & ERH
which the Group is severally liable. REKRKBAEE -
(c) Unrecognised share of losses of associates (c) FEZELBZELTSR
2023 2022
—EB_=HF T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETFIT
At 1 January —BA—H 36,862 31,960
Unrecognised share of losses during the year FERAERNEENEE 3,724 4,902
At 31 December +=-B=+—8H 40,586 36,862
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SOt SR RMEE
11 Financial instruments by category 11 RENBSPHEMIR
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEEBBEATERIA -
2023 2022
—E_=F —T-CF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT ARETFIT
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost DGR ENEMEE
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and & U BE 2 Kz EL b FE U3k (R & TR 30 %

VAT recoverable) (Note 13) AR I EH) (B15E13) 420,984 330,300
Loans to third parties (Note 13) BTEZHERE) 321,667 331,355
Pledged bank deposits (Note 15) EIRIRTTE R (I FE15) 3,928 2,809
Short-term bank deposits (Note 15) AR T R (M FE15) 1,045,000 625,559
Long-term bank deposits (Note 15) RAEPRITER(MFE5) 1,680,000 1,725,000
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 15) e KRS EEBW (L) 2,963,723 1,942,735

6,435,302 4,957,758
Financial assets at fair value PARBEHENESRSE
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 12) AR EEFEAZESHTABENS
A& E (fRE12) 1,007,930 997,419
Financial assets at FVOCI AR EEEBZEST ARMERE
WENE A E 4,463 4,463
1,012,393 1,001,882
Financial liabilities EREaRs
Liabilities at amortised cost DB FHENERER
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and other taxes JESBR X R H A0 B R (R E BER &

payables and salary and staff welfare payables) (Note 23) EAsfis - [ENFHF SR E TEF)

(Ff15E23) 929,927 631,635

Bank borrowings (Note 21) B (HEE21) 776,900 470,000
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HEaEMEFED 64,610 63,894
1,771,437 1,165,529

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments — R&E@E AR 3 2R % T HSR T AEEN SIER
is discussed in Note 3.2. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the % o WAEHIR TR EERBHSANKOD B it gmEe

reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned  gb’& E MR (B(E -

above.

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

12 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(a) Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group classifies the following financial assets at FVPL:

° Debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised

cost or FVOCI

° Equity investments that are held for trading, and

° Equity investments for which the entity has not elected to recognise fair

value gains and losses through OCI

Financial assets measured at FVPL include the following:

12 LIAAREHELRSBHARR
i & R E

(@) BAREEHEARSBHARRNSME
ESM

RZZZ=F+-A=+—H AEEBHUAT
CREESDBUAREBETEAEZHFA
BENEREE

. THARBRARA A EELBIAK
foir & Wistt BB BRI

o RRHMFANBHERE UK

s ARERBERRBAAEBEEBTA
HAAR G Wat it BERBHERE

URAREEFEAESFTABRSNEREESR
FEATAR

2023 2022

ZE-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AE®TT ARETFT

Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss EEAAEEEHEARSHRE

Wealth management products (i) BEEEEM() 6,000 19,201
Listed equity securities RS 37,182 47,054
Unlisted equity investments (ii) FE LT RRIEIR A i) 964,748 931,164
1,007,930 997 419
Less: non-current partion B 3ERENER S (964,748) (931,164)
43,182 66,255
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

12 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

U

(i)

This represented the Group’s investments in various wealth management
products issued by commercial banks. These products have a flexible term of 7
days (2022: 2 months to 24 months) with an expected annual return rate ranging
from 1.05% to 2.30% (2022: 1.50% to 2.85%). No single wealth management
product investment accounted for over 5% of the Group’s total assets. The fair
values of these investments were determined based on income approach, details
of which refer to Note 3.2.

This represented the Group’s investments in various unlisted investments,
including Dmall Inc. and other companies in software industry.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

The (losses)/gains were recognised in profits or loss during the year are as
following:

12

(a)

(b)

LDARRENELRSBHARR
B & 5038 & ()

DanBEREARESBHARSHERMNE
ESTE)

(i) AEBEENPERTHINERBEVE
oo EMERMBREE - ATXRQ0224F 1 2@
BZE2@ER) Bt FLREERABE105%E
2302 [ (20224 : 1.50%%=2.85%) » )8 — 1
B EREEEEEGEENLERIBS% °
BLRENAABERRERSAETH
HFBERWES2 -

(i) BRTAKENSEFELTRERE 85
ZEHYEARARREBITENEMAT -

HRSEKNEHT

THIR% /RIS A D iR A -

2023 2022
—E-=F —ECCfF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETIT
Fair value (losses)/gains on investments at FVPL AR EEZ B EZET ABEN
recognised in other gains (Note 27) SREEMNANEESEKE
(MfaE27) (51,080) 25,467

T FFR
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Trade and other receivables, and loans to third parties 13

FEU AR SR SR E M FEU SR - R#GF 58

=FER
2023 2022
—E-= e ek =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFTT
Trade receivables (a) JEUBR X (a) 245,992 269,548
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables B FEWGEURE ZE M (T 5E3.1(b)
(Note 3.1(b)) (124,538) (140,244)
Trade receivables — net JEURBRFX — F58 121,454 129,304
Other receivables HoAth pE U R
— Notes receivable —EWEE 58,854 39,209
— Advances to employees (b) —[AEBIREEA R (D) 5,457 5414
— Prepayments — B 43,428 48 841
— VAT recoverable —IBERLRF 31,423 17,940
— Interest receivables — RIS & 174,742 79,924
— Receivables from related parties (c) (Note 35(c)) — FEUR BAsE 5 FIA(c) (T FE35(C)) 22,457 22,070
— Receivables from non-controlling shareholders — EUGEIE I i = 40,415 37,619
— Others —HAty 10,698 33,284
— Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables —R HAEEOREEE
(excluding prepayments) (Note 3.1(b)) (FEAIFRIBBR M) (B 5E3.1(b)) (13,093) (16,524)
495,835 397,081
Less: non-current portion WE - IERENE D (131,503) (104,051)
Current portion mEhE S 364,332 293,030
Loans to third parties (d) HBTEZFERW)
— Current portion —REE D 231,596 268,274
— Non-current portion —IEmEIB D 90,071 63,081
321,667 331,355

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair value.
The Group’s trade and other receivables are mainly denominated in RMB.

BUAREEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO R RME
13 Trade and other receivables, and loans to third parties 13 MEIKERBEEMEWRR > RETSE
(Continued) =FERGE)
(a)  Sales are generally made without prescribed credit terms in the sales contracts but ~ (a) ZAEBAEHEE AR P Y EKIRFEREEZH
customers usually take 1 to 3 months to settle the receivables. At 31 December B BERPBEE—E-FEARNINAFE =
2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date were Eo=FRZEFTZA=1+—HEWE
as follows: HEBRE DT -
2023 2022
—_EB=HF T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
0-90 days 0—90K 80,207 99,724
91 —180 days 91—180K 20,402 11,459
181 — 360 days 181 —360K 11,373 14,690
Over 360 days R E360K 134,010 143,675
245,992 269,548
(b)  Advances to employees (b) mEERRHHHAS
The amounts advanced to employees were restricted for business purpose mAEBRENEASERRBEEZ - flmA
only, such as advances for selling expenses. Such advances were interest free, REERE - ZBRATHRE - BEMRAR
unsecured and repayable on demand. During the years ended on 31 December DRIFEE BUEE-_FE-_=ZFR-_FT—-—
2023 and 2022, the Group did not advance any cash to the directors for use on TZA=T—A  AEEWERESETEZEM
business activities. FRIE e
(€)  Receivables from related parties were unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on (c) MREWERETFUAY MR RERNE - RIFER
demand and denominated in RMB. BERFERIE - AARKERHE -
(d) Loans to third parties (d) HMFPE=AHER
2023 2022
—EB_=HF —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#®TT AREETFIT
Loans to third parties MTE=FHER 324,916 334,702
Less: Provision for collective impairment B BERUREERS
assessment of the loans (3,249) (3,347)
Loans to third parties, net of provision BTEZFNER—FE 321,667 331,355
Less: non-current portion B SEmEIER (90,071) (63,081)
Current portion mEhEE S 231,596 268,274
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13

(d)

14

146 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Trade and other receivables, and loans to third parties
(Continued)

Loans to third parties (Continued)

The loans to third parties represented loans made under the micro-credit business,
which bear interest from 4.28% to 24.00% (2022: 4.28% to 24.00%) per annum
and are repayable with fixed terms agreed with the customers, and all denominated
in RMB.

The fair values of the loans to third parties approximated their carrying amounts.
The interest accrued was due within 12 months and presented in interest
receivables.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.

The Group performed expected credit loss assessment of loans to third parties
collectively by grouping loans with similar credit risk characteristics. During the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the majority of the loans were in stage 1
and there was no significant change in credit quality for loans for both years.

13

(d)

FEU AR SRS H fFEUY SR - R#GF 58
ZHERGE

BFE=FHERGER)

RYTE=ZTWERRNEEEXBELNE
B BREFEIEA428%F124.00% (T 4 ¢
4.28%%1124.00%) Z & - 37 B 7 5E B B E HA
BAEE - BUAREEHE -

ZRTE=ZDEFNAABELEAREEER
3T o AREGHEAEUA SE12(E A REE -
Sl BRIOE LR B A o

AEBERAEEERYERFEELEQNA L
o AREEEARSHREERRETHER
EFEM- RTHEERARESBEREM - K
SEEEEARS AREERONER B0
MR BB BN ERE TR -

AEBBEBH AFEUEERBRSBRMNERE
ToME - RRHWE=ZHERET TEHNER
BRFE HHE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—H
M-_Z-—F+-A=+—H®HEED K%
HERENRE—FE  YEAEMENEREA

LEEYRBEEBAEL -
Inventories 14 &R
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETIT
Software products and related parts B Em RABBBRL I 45,611 44,871

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales”
amounted to approximately RMB203,912,000 (2022: RMB189,931,000) (Note 26).

Annual Report 2023

HFERATHERBERLIIANEEREINE
BT ARE203912,000(ZF =24 : A
FR#189,931,0007T) (F§5126)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

SOt SR RMEE
15 Cash and cash equivalents 15 BReaERR&EEDY
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT ARETT
Cash at bank and in hand (a) RITREFRE () 5,692,651 4,296,103
Less: Short-term bank deposits (b) R EERSRITIERR(D) (1,045,000) (625,559)
Long-term bank deposits (c) REPRITIER(C) (1,680,000) (1,725,000)
Pledged bank deposits (d) EHRERITEN(d) (3,928) (2,809)
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 2,963,723 1,942,735
Cash at bank and in hand was denominated in the following (a) HRITREFRSLUTIHIEWEE :
currencies:
2023 2022
=5 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETIT
RMB ARHE 5,408,005 4,208,961
usD S 133,852 21535
HKD B 149,254 64,121
Others HAib 1,540 1,486
5,692,651 4,296,103

(b)

(d)

The weighted-average effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 2.68% (b)
(2022: 3.10%) with terms ranging from 3 months to 12 months.

The weighted-average effective interest rate on long-term bank deposits was 3.52% (c)
(2022: 3.58%) with terms ranging from 14 months to 60 months.

The bank deposits were pledged to banks as required in certain projects the Group (d)
was tendering. Such pledged deposits will be released upon the closure of the

tendering.

T FFR

3ME A E12ME A EEIRITERNERNE S

2.68%(—ZF ——4% :310%) °

REIRI T A B RUFI % 4533.52%(

—=— —

=

F 1 358%) + HAR A141EZ=601E H -

BHRES ERERIFREIINESHER -
HEREFEEERBRERRIEIINESL

R AEBR IR
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16 Subsidiaries

16

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023:

FiH

UWTAR-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HFEFRQ

Proportion of ordinary
Proportion of ordinary Proportion of shares held by
Place of incorporation ~ Principal activities Particulars of issued shares directly ~ ordinary shares held non-controlling
Name and kind of legal entity  and place of operation share capital held by parent (%) hy the Group (%) interests (%)
e BBARERRAY HEREREN ER )
2% RitEERAR IERBRETHE ERTRAHE HERLA(%) HERUA(%) WEGHEERLE)
Kingdee Software (China) Co, Lid. The PRC, limited iabilly ~ Development, manufacturing and selling RVIB330,000,000 10 10 -
(‘Kinggeg Ching') company ofsoftware and hardware products and
provision of software-relaled senvces in the
PRC
SRFHREERAR(2FRE]) TE AREALE  FE HERKEREREEES RBE30,000,000 1 1 -
WRRER I EERIRS - 8
Kingdee International Software Group Hong Kong, limitec iabilty  Sales of software products in Hong Kong JSD1,000,000 10 10 -
(HK,) Co., Lid. company
SRERAAREEEERRT  FR RREALE  HHEREE FF (/SD1,000,000 10 1] -
Crotona Assets Limited BV, limited liabilty company  Markefing and promotion of software products USDa0,000 10 10 -
inthe BVI
Crotona Asses Limied EBEREE BB RMERTGHE EBEREE D000 100 1 -
RFAT
Kingdee Apusic Cloud Computing Co. Ltd. ~ The PRC, limited fiability ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RMB40,000,000 - Q0 60
(‘Kingdeg Apusic’) (Note (2) corporafion
MIMEFREZHERAERLE =8 RHERLT  FHEREE & RNB0,000,000 - | il
(B2t
Shanghai Kingdee Deeking Cloudcomputing ~ The PRC, limited libilly ~ Sales of sofware products in the PRC RV1B20,000,000 - 10 -
C0. Ltd (*Shanghai Kingdee') company
PEeREeEHERRAR hEERERLE  HHEREE 4E RHB20,000,000 - 1] -
([HE2%)
Kingdee Deeking Cloudcomputing Co, The PRC, limited iabiity ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RVIB30,000,000 - 100 -
L1d ‘Kingdee Degking’) company
SRREEHERRLT hEERERLE  HEEREE 4E RHB30,000,000 - 0 -
E2: 5
Kingdee Vehicle Network Technology The PRC, limited iability ~ Development of internet technology in the RVIB100,000,000 - 5 i
G0, Ltd. (‘Kingdeg Vehicl") company PRC
f MEZ RG] N R EREMAT  BEEKIFEY $E ANIB100,000,000 - R 4

(resne)
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B BRI
16 Subsidiaries (Continued) 16 FLFGE)
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023: NTIRRZZE_=F+A=+—BFEFR
(Continued) CIRNE:)
Proportion of ordinary
Proportion of ordinary Proportion of shares held by
Place of incorporation ~ Principal activities Particulars of issued shares directly ~ ordinary shares held non-controlling
Name and kind of legal entity  and place of operation share capital held by parent (%) by the Group (%) interests (%)
i3 lAT L BBLFEERE BEREREN ERER
2% RitEERER IERBRETHE ERTREHE BERELEI) BERLOIC)  HRBEERLEC)
Guanyi The PRC, limited iabiity ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RMB16,536,000 - 80 |
company
£5 hERREMLR  BEEREE RE RIB16,538,000 - 80 |
Hunan Kingdee Softwere Technology Co., Ltd. ~ The PR, limited liabilty Sl of software products in the PRC R1B20,000,000 - 10 -
company
HReRRARITERAR REBREALE  BAEEREE P RIB20,000,000 - 10 -
Xiamen Kingcee Sofware Co, Lt The PRC, limited izbity ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RVIB10,000,000 - 10 -
compeny
EFeRRERAA TERREELA  BEEREE 4 RVIB10,000,000 - 10 -
Beijing Kingdee Management Software The PRC, limited izbity ~ Seles of software products inthe PR R1B20,000,000 - 10 -
Co.,Ltd. (‘Befjing Kingdee') company
IRefEERHERAR hERRERLNR  BAEEREE TE RHB20,000,000 - 10 -
([re%)
Kingdee Crcit Technology (Shenzhen) The PRC, limited izbiity -~ Online financial ntermediaton services inthe RIB&7 500,000 - b4 3%
Co, Ltd company PRC
SREARRIMIERAT hERRERRE  REERHNRE T RHBST 500,000 - 64 3
Shanghai Kingdee Internet Technology The PRC, limited izbiity ~ Seles of software products inthe PR RIB10,000,000 - 10 -
Co, Ltd company
PEeREEREERAR hE - RREMLR  BAEEREE RE RHB10,000,000 - 10 -
Kingdee Cloud Technology Co, Lt The PRC, limited izbity ~ Sales of software products inthe PRC RVIB50,000,000 - 10 -
company
SREHRERLATSRENR) B FREALR  HHEREE ¢ RHBS0,000,000 - 10 -
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Bt RR M
16 Subsidiaries (Continued) 16 FLFHE)
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023: NTIRR_ZE_=F+-A=+—RBFEFRQ
(Continued) Al (8
Proportion of ordinary
Proportion of ordinary Proportion of shares held by
Place of incorporation  Principal activities Particulars of issued shares directly ~ ordinary shares held non-controlling
Name and kind of legal entity  and place of operation sharg capital held by parent (%) hy the Group (%) interests (%)
e BBAREERAY HESEREY BERRER
ah RitEERAR IERBRETHE BETREEHE LERLA%) BERKAICY)  HROEERLEIC)
Guangzhou Degking Small-Loan Co, Ltd. The PRC, limited iabiity ~ Provision of online financial services in the RVIB200,000,000 - 10 -
company PRC
Bim%e BENERAR hE - BREFLAR  REUBRE 4 RMB200,000,000 - 100 -
Shenzhen Kingdee Jingdou Cloud Intemet~~~ The PRC, limited libilly ~ Sales of sofware proccts inthe PRC RVIB12,000,000 - - -
Technology Co., Lid. (Note (b)) company
MIBFAZAENEERAR T RRERLA  BEEREE 4 AMB12,000,000 - - -
i)
Kingdee Credit Co,, Lt (Note (b)) The PRC, limited iabity ~ Development and service of sofwere in the RVIB50,000,000 - - -
company PRC
SREEERAT(HD) REBRERLE  BEHARE P RAIB50,000,000 - - -
Shenzhen Kingdeg Pay Technology The PRC, limited iabiity ~ Development of online pay technology in the RIVB100,000,000 - - -
G0, Ltd. (Note (o) company PRC
RmEFLARRERAR TERRERLRE  REXNERBENEMRE @ RVIB100,000,000 - - -
(T Rk (kD)
Shenzhen Hong Jin Investment The PRC, limited iabiy ~ Investment holding in the PRC RIVB1,000,000 - - -
G0, Ltd. (Note (o) company
MITLeREERAD ()  RE AREFAR  RERR $E RB1,000,000 - - -
Yunji The PRC, limited izbity ~ Development and service of sofwere in the RVIB70,510,000 - 5% ]
company PRC
=S R BREELE  BERARE 8 RIIB70,510,000 - 5 3
The directors of the Company considered that the non-controlling interests NEEERANEEFRE K S
in respect of the subsidiaries are not material to the Group, and therefore, no SEMFLTEKXN - FAit - BETFRRMNTB
summarised financial information of the relevant subsidiaries is presented AL R BB R o
separately.
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16 Subsidiaries (Continued) 16 F2F ()

Note: Mzt -

(a)  Although the Group owns less than half of the equity interests in Kingdee () HAXEBEEEFRIIREORLEZOELS
Apusic, it is able to gain power over more than one half of the voting rights by BASERERAMBEENGZE - B
virtue of an agreement. Consequently, the Group consolidates Kingdee Apusic MEBBFEIRERE - At - AEBEBZEI
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Beijing Kingdee Middleware Software System X URENEZETFRAFERSBERRE
Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Kingdee Middleware Software Systems Co., Ltd. BEARAF R B EFEERGERSE

RARMAM BT A GHE -

(b)  The Group does not have legal ownership in the equity of these operating (b) SEHELNBESERBWBEITCHERE - SE
companies. The Group has entered into several contractual arrangements with BieltEL4ERRIABECMERERRER
them and their equity holders since their incorporation. These contractual VETHE  ZEMETAREEFESFE
arrangements are irrevocable and enable the Group to: :

- exercise effective financial and operational control over these operating — HEEEREAITE A RS K&
companies; o= Il

- exercise more than one half of the equity holders voting rights of these - HELERBAUMTEBAYENLENE
operating companies: REE

- receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by - “ﬁ“ﬁi% BT E B BN MEUS
these operating companies in consideration for the business support; %EEE’J%“M&‘_%%UA ;

- obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase the entire equity - HELCERBOREAGTIHENE
interest in these operating companies from the equity holders; XEER

- obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of these operating - RERFRESELEEBHNREELA®D
companies from their equity holders as collateral for all the payments TE NERTSEBFRIENEMR o

due to the Group and as security for performance of obligations under
the contractual arrangements.

As a result of such contractual arrangements, the Group has rights to variable BEELHBENNTE  AEEBZHAEE
returns from its involvement with them and has the ability to affect those returns W BEERENEREHELELEB([4AE
through its power over these operating companies (“VIEs”) and is considered EEBDMNENFEELO R EIRE
to control them. Consequently, the Group regards them as controlled structured fl o Bt AEBAEHFBEREBEMRA
entities in the consolidated financial statements. EhlEECEE -

Nevertheless, the contractual arrangements may not be as effective as direct ZE m? % sk 7 20 7 5= [ 5 38 0K E BT A
legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control over these VIEs and HEERELEEBCEBER  EERE
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the Group’s %E‘JTEEIE MR ERNEBEHEEEE
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of these VIES. The Group MEERE EE  BENKREE - ~5E
believes that these contractual arrangements are in compliance with relevant RBZBHERFEPRBEEEERTA
PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable. BERM -
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17 Share capital and share premium

17 BREHMERFRR

Number of shares Share capital ~ Share premium Total
BE®E BREEE BFaE At
(thousands) RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(FE%) AREFT ARET AREFT
At 1 January 2022 S "5-F—-A%H 3472181 83,484 5,149,350 5,232,834
Employee share option scheme BTk 2
— Exercise of share options (Note 20) —{T{E AR (P 3E20) 8,390 182 24478 24,660
Share award plan BGE R
—Value of services received -R%ER - - 115,140 115,140
—~Transfer shares to the awardees uponvesting  — RSB BE RN EBRRIELZEIA - - (117,840) (117,640)
Cancellation of shares it (6,172) (129) (86,175) (86,304)
At 31 December 2022 ZE-—F#+-HA=t+—HER 3,474,399 83,537 5,084,953 5,168,490
At1 January 2023 —e-=§-A-B&B 3,474,399 83,537 5,084,053 5,168,490
Issue of new shares Wi 817 154,627 3,519 1,408,328 1,411,847
Employee share option scheme BTz E
— Exercise of share options (Note 20) —{T{E ERARHE (P 3E20) 2,322 4 5,481 5,523
Share award plan BGERE]
—Value of services received —-RI5EE - - 96,278 96,278
~Transfer shares to the awardees uponvesting  — R B BB R HEBLELEFA = = (82,634) (82,634)
At 31 December 2023 ZE_=E+-A=T+—HER 3,631,348 87,098 6,512,406 6,599,504
(@) The total authorised share capital as at 31 December 2023 was 6,000,000,000 (a) BHEZZ-_=F+=ZA=+—81  H%

(2022: 4,000,000,000) shares with a par value of HKD0.025 (2022: HKD0.025)
per share. All issued shares were fully paid.

(b) On 14 December 2023, the Company issued 154,627,000 ordinary shares at a (b)
subscription price of HKD10.1 per share to Al-Rayyan Holding LLC (a limited
liability company established under the regulations of the Qatar Financial Centre
Authority in the State of Qatar, and is a subsidiary of Qatar Investment Authority,
the sovereign wealth fund of the State of Qatar). Gross proceeds from the issue
were HKD1,561,732,700(equivalent to approximately RMB1,421,793,000), and
the net proceeds (after deducting all applicable costs and expenses) arising from
the Subscription were RMB1,411,847,000.
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SO HmRMET
18 Other reserves 18 HMGEE
Statutory Shares held
Merger Capital surplus Property for share Other
reserve reserve reserve fund  revaluation award plan  Translation eserves Total
UL
AR EELR EERBLRS Eff  HUABER 8 R fit
RIBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO00 RMBO00 RIBO00 RMB000 RIBO0D
ARETT  ARETR ARBTT  ARETT ARETT  ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Note (b) Note (c) Note (d) Note (3)
i) fisHe) fiH() W)
At1 January 2022 ZSCTE-B-RER 6570 253,468 138,762 476,019 (265,371) 1345 91 261 T4
Currency ransafon diferences IENEER - - - - - (824 - (824
Buy-hack of shaves or e purpose of - BESAEIERR A
cancellafion - - - - - - (86,304) (66,30)
Cancellation ofshares Htnihig - - - - - - 86,304 86,304
Buy-dack of shaes for e pupose of R BN BIERERR
share award plan - - - - (81340) - - (61.340)
Transter shaes to e awarcees REBRBRAEHE
uponvesting ERBA - - - - 117840 - - 117840
Revaluation geins onpropertes upon. - HERIETREARE I E
tranterfom property, plant and A ERBFIE  RRE
equipment and right-of-use assels fo
investment properties, net oftax - - - 94105 - - - 94106
At 31 December 2022 ZBCTE+IRAZT-R
i 6570 23468 138,762 570,154 (208871) 3,208 91261 866,567
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SO KM
18 Other reserves (Continued) 18 Hfibfikfis (#8)
Statutory Shares held
Merger Capital surplus Property for share Other
resere reserve reserve fund  revaluation award plan  Translation reserves Total
BEL
ABEE  EFLR EERBORG Eff  HERRRG il | -4 Ehi
RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI0D RMBIO00 RMBI000 RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI00D
AREBTT  ARETR  ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
Note (b) Note (c) Note (d) Note (2)
] HIEH(D) HiEH) B
At1 January 2023 ZEICE-R-RRR 6,570 253,488 138,762 570,154 (228,871) 35,203 91,261 866,567
Currency ransafon diferences IMENEER - - - - - (1,785) - (1,785)
Equity tensaction with NC! SRR S - 2,770 - - - - - 2,770
Buy-back of shaes for the pupose of BRI B BIEREERR
stare award plan (Note &) liE=) - - - - (61,138) - - (61,138)
Tanslrshars o teavartees wpon - NEBREROELS
EZBA = = - - 19,866 - - 19,866
Revliationgeins onpropertes wpon. - B REFRAEAREEE
transfer from propery, plant and A ERHIE  RRE
equipment and right-of-use asses fo
investment propertes, net oftax - - - 68,366 - = = 68,866
At31 December 2023 ZECZETIRET-B
i 6,570 280,258 138,762 639,020 (210,183) 33,418 91,261 979,146
(@) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company bought back a total @ BE_F-_=F+-A=ZT-RHLEFE"
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of 5,571,000 ordinary shares of the Company from the market at a total
consideration of HKD68,618,000 (equivalent to RMB61,138,000) for the purpose
of share award plan under the Company’s employee share award scheme.

The merger reserve represented the difference between the carrying amounts
of the capital of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by
the Company and the nominal amounts of the Company’s shares issued as
consideration for the acquisitions.

The capital reserve arose mainly from the reinvestment of dividends into the
PRC subsidiaries and capitalisation of reserves of certain subsidiaries.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to follow the laws and
regulations of the PRC and their articles of association. These subsidiaries are
required to allocate at least 10% of their net profits to the reserve fund until the
balance of such fund has reached 50% of their registered capital. The reserve
fund can only be used, upon approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar
authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20

SO R RME
19 Retained earnings 19 FHFEKE
RMB’000
AR#®TT
At 1 January 2022 R-—B-_—%—H—H 1,619,454
Loss for the year FEE1E (389,158)
At 31 December 2022 W-E__f$£+-A=+—H 1,230,296
At 1 January 2023 W-—E-=%—H—H 1,230,296
Loss for the year FEEE (209,890)
At 31 December 2023 R-E_=F+"HA=+—H 1,020,406
Employee share-hased arrangements 20 BEIRRH
Share option scheme (a) FEBRAERTE

(a)

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2005 (the “2005 Option
Scheme”). At the general meeting of the Company convened on 8 May 2015,
the Company terminated the 2005 Option Scheme and adopted a new share
option scheme (the “2015 Option Scheme”) with the validity period of ten years,
under which the directors may, at their discretion, grant options to any qualifying
participants to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to the terms and
conditions stipulated therein.

The vesting period of the share options granted is 4 years and the vesting schedule
is 25% after 12 months from the grant date, 25% after 24 months from the grant
date, 25% after 36 months from the grant date, and 25% after 48 months from the
grant date.

E-ZERAFLA+T B ARREHABT —A
BREAE(—TZTAFAE)) - E=_F—1
FAANBBHRNBERRAE L - ARFIE
RIE— TR REFEWIRA T — B HOREARE
A= —RFsE) ARE/I0F - &
It BEFEARBAEIAAER2EERHER
1% URBARRRD - HAZRRZEE
FY BTN B AR AF ©

REMNBRENRENANS  BEAAR
i B EAEEH2E A 1%25% ~ R B ERe 52418 A
1225% ~ X A BIALET361E A 1225% M 4% Hi B
AEEH48{E A 1%25% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

20 Employee share-bhased arrangements (Continued)

(a)
(i)

156 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Share option scheme (Continued)

Movements in share options

Movements in the number of shares under the options outstanding and their

20

R IR =5k (1)
RRBR kB ()

RARTTEMBEAES B BRI F T

related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: FENEBIAT :
2005 Option Scheme 2015 Option Scheme
20038 % WofkER
Average No. of shares Average No. of shares ~ Total no. of shares
exercise price  under the options exercise price  under the options  under the options
SRTHTER BRETORE SRFEYTER WRETORE BRETORRAT
HKD per share fhousands HKD per share thousands fhousands
i Fir % Fit Fit
At1 January 2022 RZB-Z%-B-A 20 11622 460 1241 2129
Evercised (Note 18) BA7E (H3H0) 23 (4566 460 (3624) (8:3%0)
LapsedForfelted BXH/EhE 181 (3362) 440 (349) (3m)
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZE+ZR=T-A 215 37U 480 8304 1208
Currently vested and exercisable as at RIBZZET-RZ+-RAERTEAE
31 December 2022 21 3 460 8,304 12028
At1 January 2023 RZBZ=5-B-H 2.15 31 450 8,304 12,028
Exercised (Note 18) BT (H3H0) 22 (1.211) 450 (1,11) (2,322)
LapsedForfied BAY/BHE 13 (1,028) 4.0 - (1,028)
At31 December 2023 RIBZZE+ZR=1+-A 266 1,485 460 719 8,678
Curtenty vested and exercisable as at RZBZZFFZAZH-RERFEAGE
31 December 2023 2.66 1,485 4.60 AL 8,678
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO R RME
20 Employee share-based arrangements (Continued) 20 RIBx{nZEGR)
(a) Share option schemes (Continued) (a) FRBRMERTEIGE)
(ii)  Outstanding share options (i) FITEMRAERE
Details of the expiry dates, exercise prices and the respective number of shares R-ZEZ=F+_A=+—HERZ=ZZT=-Z
under the options which remained outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and 31 TZA=+—H - mARITEANBRED D H
December 2022 are as follows: A THEEERSENEBFERAT
Number of shares under options
IEBRE T RYRE &
Range of
exercise price 2023 2022
Expiry date within &R Bn T EEEE —E-= ol
HKD per share thousands thousands
ol ST T&t Tt
2023 2023 1.31-1.34 - 1,443
2024 2024 2.66 1,485 2,281
2025 2025 4.60 7,193 8,304
8,678 12,028
Weighted average remaining BAAR AR T T O BE IR /0 0
contractual life of options T RIERA R AR
outstanding at end of period
(years) 1.18 1.90
(b)  Share award plan (b) BERipERENTEY
The board of directors adopted a share award plan (“2009 Plan”) on 25 March ARREBEFER _ZTTNAEZA-_+HARSE
2009 for the purpose of recognising and rewarding the contributions of the eligible HaRm ZE a8 =222 N)) - &Zikh
persons. The Group adopted a new share award plan on 4 December 2015 (“2015 FEE AERTEREH AR ETEHMNER - &
Plan”) and the shares under 2009 Plan were transferred to 2015 Plan. The share ER =T —AF+ = AMHBRAFIRD BT
award plan is valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the B(FE==—1))  HE =T HRHE
adoption date. HENE T —FH o

CTOCFFR SREARBGEERRAT 157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

20 Employee share-bhased arrangements (Continued)

(b)  Share award plan (Continued)

20 RIRREEGE)
(b)  BRfHSEMNEHE ()

No. of shares held for

the share award plan  No. of awarded shares Balance
BipRMEEBERE ROBDHIRTHE #t
thousands thousands thousands
Tt Tt Tt
At1 January 2022 —E&-"%#—-H-H 108,885 (103,618) 5,267
Buy-back of shares for the purpose of AR S2 D= 2T R1EB AR (7
share award plan 6,586 - 6,586
Awarded BT - (7.408) (7.408)
Lapsed/Forfeited BAH/BURE - 691 691
At 31 December 2022 —2"f+-RA=+-H 115,471 (110,335) 5136
Weighted average remaining vesting HR M AT TR (0 SR 0 ANAE 19 Flgs
period of the awarded shares AREHR
outstanding at end of period (years) 1.20
At1 January 2023 ZE_=%-f-H 115,471 (110,335) 5,136
Buy-back of shares for the purpose of AR 12BN =T 21 IEB AR 17 (P EE18(2))
share award plan (Note 18(a)) 5,571 - 5,571
Awarded BT = (8,187) (8,187)
Lapsed/Forfeited B/ B - 563 563
At 31 December 2023 “Z-=%+-A=+-H 121,042 (117,959) 3,083
Weighted average remaining vesting HIR WA TR MR SR I T FIER
period of the awarded shares SRR
outstanding at end of period (years) 1.28
During the year ended 31 December 2023, 8,187,000 shares (2022: 7,408,000 BT =F+—-"A=+—H ' ' AR&%"
shares) were awarded to certain directors, senior management and key employees SREEREABMZLA EIERS,187,0008% (==
of the Company. Z 4 : 7,408,0000%) S2EIA (D o
As at 31 December 2023, the expected retention rate was assessed to be 100% R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H HEFEIRZ

(2022: 100%).

R A100%(—Z = —4F : 100%)
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B Ot B R AR M

R IR =5k (1)
(b)  BRfRSERIEHE ()

20 Employee share-bhased arrangements (Continued) 20
(b)  Share award plan (Continued)

BRI DA EBEASEER B A FRN S
MmHEEE - G ERRON AL EER
EEETRSHFHNENRE - E_T_=F
R ERAZBOROMETFORAEBERS
BB #10.437C (R R BRI AR EE9.397T) -

The fair value of the awarded shares was calculated based on the market price of
the Company’s shares at the respective grant date. The expected dividends during
the vesting period have been taken into account when assessing the fair value of
these awarded shares. The weighted average fair value of shares awarded during
the year 31 December 2023 was HKD10.43 per share (equivalent to approximately
RMB9.39 per share).

Details of the awarded shares awarded during 2023 =R UEREAE

Number of awarded Average fair
Date of award shares awarded value per share  Vesting dates
%R HY Bi;REBHEEFHE SEFHLAEE THAE
(thousands) (HK$)
Fit -4
20 March 2023 200 13.24 30 April 2024 - 30 April 2027
—E-=F=AZ+H 200 13.24 Z—E_MEMA=+HE-_ZE_tFMA=+A
31 May 2023 1,197 10.40 30 April 2024 - 30 April 2027
—E-Z#RA=+—H 7,797 1040 —ES-_MEMA=+HE-ZE_tFMA=+A
5 October 2023 190 8.86 30 April 2024 - 30 April 2027
—Z-=%+AAA 190 886 —E_MEMA=+AE_T_tEMA=+H
21 Bank borrowings 21 &8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFTT
Non-current JERED
Bank borrowings- unsecured SRITHE R — EIEIH 776,900 400,000
Less: current portion of long-term bank borrowings RESRITERO RS H D (20,200) (15,000)
756,700 385,000
Current e
Bank borrowings- unsecured RITRE R — EIEH - 70,000
Current portion of long-term bank borrowings REBRITEROREIH D 20,200 15,000
20,200 85,000

e
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SO KM
21 Bank borrowings (Continued) 21 (&R ()
At 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings were repayable as follows: H-_F-—=ZF+_A=1+—H AEENHER
EERBERAT
2023 2022
—E-=f —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AREETTT
Within 1 year —FLAR 20,200 85,000
Between 1 and 2 years —FEWF 562,700 85,000
Between 2 and 5 years WMEERF 194,000 300,000
776,900 470,000
The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the ~— ZANEBEFMEE LU T EE BEN
following currencies:
2023 2022
—E-=F —ECCF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBETIT
RMB AR 776,900 470,000

The Group’s bank borrowings bear average interest rate of 2.72% (2022: 2.82%)

perannum.

Bank borrowings are at floating rates and the exposure of the Group’s bank
borrowings to interest-rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the

balance sheet dates are within 1 year (2022: within 1 year).

The carrying amount of the current bank borrowings approximate their fair value, as
the impact of discounting using a current borrowing rate is not significant.
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22 Deferred income tax

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities is as

follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

22 BRIEFRTSIR

BIEFTSHEEMERMSRAEI T

2023 2022
—EB=HF —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT AREFTT
Deferred income tax assets: BB EE
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered —EBiB12(E B & = APEEFT IS TR
after more than 12 months BE 39,609 38,700
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered —1E12(8 A AW KEEFTSTREE
within 12 months 49,545 39,265
Total deferred tax assets BIEFRBREESE 89,154 77,965
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off IR AR R IR AE
provisions (40,099) (39,139)
Net deferred tax assets BIEFRFREERSE 49,055 38,826
Deferred income tax liabilities: BIEFBHAE
— Deferred income tax liability to be recovered —EBiB12(E B & = AEEFT 1SR
after more than 12 months =NE (146,770) (165,899)
— Deferred income tax liability to be recovered — 1128 A AM e AEEFTS IR B E
within 12 months (6,301) (7,165)
Total deferred tax liabilities BIEFRBRARSH (153,071) (173,064)
Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to REBIKHAR E RE S A E
set-off provisions 40,099 39,139
Net deferred tax liabilities BIEFRFRARRE (112,972) (133,925)

“TCEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

22

Deferred income tax (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction,

is as follows:

22 SBRIEFRSR (M)

AENBELEMEREENABORAEEREH
FER—#EARENEFHMT

At January Recognised in Recognisedin~~ At31December ~ Recognisedin  Recognisedin  At31 December
A2 income tax equiy A2 income tax equity 2023
E S 3 G TEgh  AZE-CE ERSRE i3 P ek k]

—-A-H B B2 t-h=1-8 ] B2 +-R=t-H
RMB000 RMBO000 RMBO0D RMBO0D RNB'000 RNB'000 RNB'000
AREFL  ARETT  ARETn  ARETr  ABMTT  ABWTT  ABRRTR

Defrted ncome tax assels ERHEHAE
~mpiment loss on firancial asses -~ SREENERL 18553 330 - 21,854 5,064 - 2,918
— Amortisaton of computer sofware -ElEnEH 3% 114 - 13 5 - 490
= Uniealised gains on nt-group bransactions  —EEAFRFRERME 3467 4199 - 38826 10,229 - 49,055
- Deferred qovernment rants ~ERERFRERARA 12397 (1215) - 1112 (5,688) - 5434
- Lease liabilties -HEaRE 6571 847 - 574 (1,750) - 3,974
— Deferted development costs ~ELHENA - - - - 3,283 - 3283
1413 5492 - 17,965 11,189 - 89,154

Defered incoms ta lilties RIEHERAR
~ Defered development costs —ERRERA (0691 17,066 - (23625) 2,625 - -
~Fair value srplus of ntangble assels -BlERLE (8028) 863 - (7169) 864 - (6,301)
~Fairvalue gains on nvesment propeties —RAUMEL L EELE (129.705) 275 (10456) (137.407) 2,886 (7,652) (142,173)
~Right-f-use asses -FRERE (3509) 642 - (4867) 210 - (4,597)
(183.933) PARA] (10.456) (173,064) 21,645 (7,652) (153,071)
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amounts. The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables are

mainly denominated in RMB.

(b) At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of the trade payables

based on invoice date is as follows:

SOt SR RMEE
23 Trade and other payables 23 EMERREMERCGR
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT ARETT
Trade payables ((a) and (b)) JFETBR R ((2)FA(b)) 27,820 19,500
Note payables FEEE 42,491 23,805
Salary and staff welfare payables ENFHERE TR 301,276 267,861
Deposits payable B RES 157,901 169,407
Accrual for expenses TEIREH 271,616 209,492
Unpaid consideration for acquisition of subsidiaries WEFREINARIZTEE 4,000 18,112
Construction payables JERT AR R 350,755 127,071
Others Hib 75,344 64,248
1,231,203 899,496
(@) The fair values of trade and other payables approximate their carrying () ENEFREMESRzAREEELD

HEREEE - AEERMERRIEEMD
ENREBEZEAEEEIENARER

RZEZ=ZFNM_ZT=_—_F+=A
=+—0 AEBEEMNERRERE

ERMBRER DT IO -
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFTT
0—180 days 0-180-% 18,793 18,721
181 - 360 days 181-360K 4,010 42
Over 360 days HiB360K 5,017 737
27,820 19,500

e
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24 Deferred income

24 BRIEUTA

2023 2022
Z2=HF T F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T

Deferred program research income (a)

IEIEERRETT TTHA ()

51,984 106,500

164 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Movement of deferred program research income is as follows:

—_

BEIERE TTRA N EZ T

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T

At 1 January 106,500 »—B—H 116,180

Additions H#n 26,662 26,453

Recognised in the income statement R R TR (81,178) (36,133)
At 31 December »+=-A=+—H 51,984 106,500

It mainly represents cash received from government for financing various
research and development projects conducted by the Group. The cash
received will be recognised as income when the research and development
costs are amortised in expense and certain stipulated conditions required
by government are met (usually when the related development project is
completed).

Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SOt SR RMEE
25 Revenue from contracts with customers 25 HERZHEMSEEENKA
The Group’s revenue includes revenues from cloud services business and ERP SENPABDEERBEBARSEEREE
business. Revenue is stated net of applicable VAT in the PRC and comprises the FHEIER - WMAEBREARFEIGER - I
following: ABRBUATEE :
2023 2022
—E_= T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT AREFT
Cloud business ERBE 4,504,983 3,714,093
— Enterprise cloud services — D EERG 3,127,280 2,576,130
— Small & micro business finance cloud services — N TS E AR TS 1,080,010 861,046
— Industry cloud services —TEERG 297,693 276,917
ERP business and others TEERERTEEBEREM 1,174,090 1,151,676
— Sales of software and hardware products —HEEH ME S ER 284,305 286,260
— Software implementation services — B E RIS 465,604 402,391
— Software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade and — R 7T E ~ 75:0 ~ B4 - AR NLEHE
other supporting services ft 325 14 AR 75 424,181 463,025

5,679,073 4,865,769
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B O B R AR M

26 Expenses by nature 26 EEESENHER

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and marketing expenses, research and
development costs, administrative expenses and net impairment losses on financial

assets and contract assets are analysed as follows: BRFHEANEAITAT :

SIRIRIHERAN - HEREREER - 15 R
BERA - THERREREERAREERE

2023 2022
—E_=f —ECCF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREEFIT
Research and development costs 75 S SRR
Amounts incurred EXHeR 1,509,919 1,458,246
Less: development costs capitalised W B b2 R (478,349) (480,508)
Add: amortisation 0 BAME 2 G A 8 408,101 317,738
1,439,671 1,295,476
Employee benefit expenses (Note 28) B TR s (P 3E28) 4,107,968 3,985,770
Less: amount included in development costs B BERAEERAENA 25 (1,446,657) (1,399,174)
2,661,311 2,586,596
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 72 (Ff{516) 56,501 64,752
Less: amount included in development costs B BERMEAFEENA 2R (9,798) (15,685)
46,703 49,067
Outsourcing services INB RIS E 804,304 707,894
Sales promotion and advertising SHEHEER A 742,116 532,613
Cost of inventories consumed (Note 14) R SR (I E14) 203,912 189,931
Rental and utilities e kEHEER 44,131 47,255
Traveling expenses EIRE 118,491 77,808
Office expenses FIE/N 33,135 40,907
Other taxes and surcharges E AR S K0 51,873 41,983
Training costs BB 10,355 12,754
Professional service fees BEREER 61,022 46,217
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) fFRREE ERTE (PHRET) 29,319 31,386
Amortisation of trademarks, licenses and copyrights IR - B R 5 (T E8)

(Note 8) 10,844 11,583
Amortisation of computer software for own use (Note 8) £ F3 T Bi& B0 {4 42k 84 (B 5%8) 2,968 2,881
Amortisation of customer relationship (Note 8) B PRAEE (I 5E8) 1,082 1,082
Auditors’ remuneration Z AN 2 3,650 4,044
— Audit services —FrH R 3,650 3,670
— Non-audit services —IEE IR - 374
Net impairment losses on financial assets and contract & BVEEFA RIE EREIR L FEE

assets 71,055 92,461
Others Hith 19,477 14,576
Total st 6,355,419 5,786,514

166 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2023
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B Ot B R AR M

27 Other income and gains — net

21 HEfiARFIE B8

2023 2022
—EB-=F B
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Other income Htu A
VAT refund (a) EEBIREQ 115,441 115,570
VAT input tax surplus deduction RERHEIBTINET kR 13,684 14,099
Program research income ESSEES N 100,910 94,268
Rental income — net (Note 9) AW A —F58 (9 66,087 70,187
296,122 294,124
Other gains/(losses) Eﬂﬁlﬁ#/ ((-3))
Realised and unrealised net (losses)/gains on financial ~— LAR 7t fB{E +zﬂﬁ”§b‘+)@§ﬁﬁﬁ’]
assets at FVPL (b) SREEDERF (B e
KREBF(B1B), WD) (51,080) 25,467
Impairment of goodwill EERE (20,109) -
Impairment of associate (Note 10) B 48 R E (M RE10) (1,726) -
Losses/(gains) on disposal of associates BEBLARERE/FB) (1,512) 2,470
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate REEREBERRNEG 21,461 -
Net foreign exchange gains SN SR B R o 5,154 4132
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property, plant and T BFURTHENEERER
equipment and right-of-use assets e 113 (343)
Realised losses on derivative financial instruments @TE%E&IEEE%@%(%E) - (2,827)
Dilution gains of an associate B B M ERIS - 15,216
Others Hith 36,834 10,749
(10,865) 54,864
285,257 348,988
(@) According to the current tax regulations in the PRC, the development and (2) T%TE‘EE EARAM ﬁf B ﬁﬁ% ' ;Jr
sales of computer software products are subject to VAT with an applicable SREIT AR EEEMI6%NEET
rate of 16%. From 1 April 2019, according to the circular *2019 No. 39 ¥ A=FNFRA—AL - REEH
Notice of Ministry of Finance, the General Administration of Taxation and BB %/’E@@%Aimgi%
The General Administration of Customs”, the applicable rate for software 39%0) - MIFEREAMREM16%HER
industry has been changed from 16% to 13%. 13% °
In 2011, the State Council issued a circular regarding the “Taxation Policy EE:?__% ' i‘%l@%%ﬁﬁéﬂ?%&@%:i
for Encouraging the Development of Software and Integrated Circuits Eﬁf@ﬁﬁ%% %%ﬁ%%ﬁiﬁé%@’é)ﬁa :F
Industry” (Guo Fa [2011] No.4) (the “Circular”). Pursuant to the Circular, Eﬁ(%ﬁ\a’qﬁﬂl) (§§[2011]%4J¢> ° K
software enterprises engaged in the sales of self-developed software in the fR % f?ﬂ FEREARMM %ﬁt A % &
PRC are entitled to VAT refund to the extent that the effective VAT rate of the HATHAREERMTEROLR - B&
sales of the software in the PRC exceeds 3% of the sales amounts. o EARAMBIE A HE AT Em A
BRI ED N E BB HEREA3%E)
BIRTIR A -
(b) It mainly represented fair value changes of investments that are measured b) FEEBRRTURAEEEAAE
at FVPL. ni’)\TEﬁumeﬁmi\\ﬁ{Eﬁ“@HQﬁn
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28 Employee benefit expenses

(a)

(b)
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28 WIEFIFAZ

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Wages, salaries and bonus TE - =2 NES 3,447,360 3,384,183
Staff welfare Bt T2 7 55,359 50,875
Pension scheme contributions (a) RURETEIHK () 508,971 435572
Share-based compensation AR 17 AL B SREN T 21 96,278 115,140

4,107,968 3,985,770

Pensions — defined contribution plans

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes organised
by the relevant local government authorities in the PRC. The Group is required
to make monthly contributions to the retirement schemes at rates ranging from
12% to 20%, depending on the location of the subsidiaries, based on the basic
salaries of eligible employees. The local government authorities are responsible
for the pension liabilities to retired employees. Forfeited contributions made by
the Group on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to full vesting of
the contributions cannot be used by the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year
include two(2022: two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented under “Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive officer”
(Note 37). The emoluments payable to the remaining three(2022: three) individuals
during the year are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Bé® -mERFE

AEEZ2EATEE M ARBRTERESRNTE
BEERNGE - AEEEABKAEREER
B BN B B12% £ 20% (18 F I8 2 81 2 Fr e
mE) FRARE B - EHBRTHEAR
TRZFEKREEXTEARE - ~AREREER
RAERIS 2 B R AR st 8 MR Y ao it
o NMSHEERIERIRERB HFOKE -

AfigEHFMAL

AEEAKERESHFMOALREML(=
Fo_F MWEF MANFMEESK
TTERARE R A s M s | (B REST) 2 AV DT R
R RFEXN=UAL(ZTZ—F: =fD)
ATHEBT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances and B¢ - BEEEL - EM)EBEFE

benefits in kind VI F &= 7,141 8,279
Share-based compensation A& R & A 11,119 8,390
Bonuses e 4,502 3,948
Contribution to pension scheme RIRGET B 218 224

22,980 20,841
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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28 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

(b)  Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

28 W TiEFIFAST (W)

(b) HEEEFHMALGE)

L EHME NHESHEN

Number of individuals

AB
2023 2022
—E-=f —ECCF
Emolument bands (in HK dollar) FNEE CAUBEEE)

HKD5,500,001 — HKD6,000,000 HKD5,500,001 — HKD6,000,000 1 -
HKD6,000,001 — HKD6,500,000 HKD6,000,001 — HKD6,500,000 1 -
HKD6,500,001 — HKD7,000,000 HKD6,500,001 — HKD7,000,000 - 1
HKD7,000,001 — HKD7,500,000 HKD7,000,001 — HKD7,500,000 - 1
HKD7,500,001 — HKD8,000,000 HKD7,500,001 — HKD8,000,000 = -
HKD8,000,001 — HKD8,500,000 HKD8,000,001 — HKD8,500,000 = -
HKD8,500,001 — HKD9,000,000 HKD8,500,001 — HKD9,000,000 = -
HKD9,000,001 — HKD9,500,000 HKD9,000,001 — HKD9,500,000 = -
HKD9,500,001 — HKD10,000,000 HKD9,500,001 — HKD10,000,000 = -

HKD10,000,001 — HKD10,500,000 HKD10,000,001 — HKD10,500,000 =
HKD10,500,001 — HKD11,000,000 HKD10,500,001 — HKD11,000,000 - -
HKD11,000,001 — HKD11,500,000 HKD11,000,001 — HKD11,500,000 - -
HKD11,500,001 — HKD12,000,000 HKD11,500,001 — HKD12,000,000 - -
HKD12,000,001 — HKD12,500,000 HKD12,000,001 — HKD12,500,000 - -
HKD12,500,001 — HKD13,000,000 HKD12,500,001 — HKD13,000,000 = -
HKD13,000,001 — HKD13,500,000 HKD13,000,001 — HKD13,500,000 1 -
3 3

During the financial year, no fee was paid or receivable by any of the said three
individuals as an inducement to join or upon join the Group.

T FFR

EZUEFERA - Eat = AL INASKEIF N
AREESFER RIS HEEERER -
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29 Finance income — net

29 MBWA — B

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREETTT
Finance income s A
— Interest income- derived from cash and cash —FBRA-KERSRAESE
equivalents BYIELERNFE 15,282 17 534
— Interest income- derived from short-term and long- —FLEBUA — R B 5 B R R EAER
term bank deposits TTFREERFLE 96,986 90,403
112,268 107,937
Finance costs IR IDN
— Interest on borrowings —fERF B (18,655) (3,812)
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEBENE (3,298) (3,849)
(21,953) (7,661)
90,315 100,276

30 Income tax credit

Taxation on the PRC profits is calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the

year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the PRC.

30 FrfsspE

AEMBHRELRBETEARKNBEANE

AR R - WHERF AR EFRFEE

B EETHE -

2023 2022

—EC_=f —EC

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AREETFTT

Current income tax & HIFTS R

— Current tax on profits for the year — R EAF R B PSR 9,939 6,188
— Qver-provision in prior year — ABIF EiBRERT IR (2,425) (1,185)
Deferred income tax EIEFTSHL (38,834) (26,817)
(31,320) (21.814)
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30

Income tax credit (Continued)

()

No provision for profits tax in the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong has
been made as the Group has no assessable profits for the years in those
jurisdictions.

Based on management’s assessment, it is highly probable that Kingdee
China will be qualified as national key software enterprise and subject
to a preferential corporate tax rate of 10%. Therefore, Kingdee China
used a preferential deferred income tax rate of 10% for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: 10%) by applying management’s critical judgement.

Kingdee Deeking was qualified as a High-tech Enterprise from 2022 to
2024 and was entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in
2023 (2022: 15%).

Kingdee Apusic was qualified as a High-tech Enterprise from 2023 to 2025
and was entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2023
(2022: 15%).

Guanyi was qualified as High-tech Enterprise from 2022 to 2024 and were
entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2023 (2022:
15%).

Yunji was qualified as High-tech Enterprise from 2022 to 2024 and was
entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2023 (2022:
15%).

Shenzhen Wojiacloud Network Technology Co., Ltd. was qualified as High-
tech Enterprise from 2022 to 2024, also qualified as Small and Micro
enterprise and was entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of
20% in 2023 (2022: 20%).

30 FRGIRHHE ()

()

e

HRARERZEFENERERS XL
BRLB|ERTMA - HRZFHEL
BN % RERR AT SHERE -

RIEEIRERTME - SEPEKRKEESN
BB MR - EX10%E
BHE Al eRPEEFEEES
T+ A=+ BHLEFERNEL
SR HEAI0%NERFHER(ZTE =
F:10%) o FEEHEEAREEE
BEMNEE (AT -

SRS EW T —_FE_T_JUF
WRERERSHEMEE  EEER
F15%(ZZE-—F  15%) NEEHR X
HIERGH -

SRABN T _—FE_T_AFH
RERBERSHHEMEE  EBERER
15% (=B = —4F : 15%) N EEMRKRTE
TREEFRISHL

EOW_TE__FE_T_NFHERT
ABERSFEMTE  EEERMA15%
(ZEZZF - 15% MWEERETEE
FT{S#i o

EEN T _FETNFHERE
AEREMENEE  EEERA15%
(ZEZZF 5% MEEHETEE
FT{S#i o

FINBEREBERBERAFTR=-Z
T oEETMERRERBR ST
Bz BHRESHERESDME
¥ DT CFZ RN EMGRE
Eo (ZEZZF 20%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO KM
30 Income tax credit (Continued) 30 FR{ShE (1)
(d)  The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the () AEEEHAFBEER LFENER
theoretical amount that would have arisen using the principal rate of the BHERREREARLIMBCEMRBRE
PRC corporate income tax due to the following: EREFENHBEERTR - A8EF2
BT
2023 2022
—E-=F —ECCF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT AREEFIT
Loss bhefore income tax BIRAIEE (301,126) (474,218)
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% REEMEB% A ERHE( T2
(2022: 25%) F 1 25%) (75,282) (118,555)
Tax effects of: FE
Preferential tax rates EREHEBE 19,203 13,731
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset 8 5 FERRIELPTIS T & FE TR IS ES
was recognised 18 141,897 143,589
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes DA ER 9,541 7,755
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised in FFEARERELEATSTA A
previous years HETIE (4,908) (2,836)
Additional deductible allowance for research and ~ RJ 38 AN+~ iff 35 & FH
development expenses (119,346) (64,313)
QOver-provision in prior year LARTF E B RHET 1R (2,425) (1,185)
(31,320) (21,814)
31 Dividends 31 e
The board of directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the EFEe TR RERE_FT_=F1t_A
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil). =t—BEt+Z@EANKREEE_ZT_Z

TZRA=+—HIET—@EA 8| -
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32 Losses per share

(a)

(b)

Basic

Basic losses per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year, excluding ordinary shares purchased and held for share award plan.

32

(a)

BREBR
EF

EXNGREERERBR AR RENFEAN
B8 RAFACHTERRNINEFHEA
FE - BT ERERRNREEIMEERSE
HEEA o

2023 2022
=®== —E-_F
Loss attributable to owners of the Company FEBERFAFEABEANAES
(RMB’000) FiT) (209,890) (389,158)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue BT mR a8 (T
(thousands) 3,455,505 3,439,700
Basic losses per share (RMB cents per share) B XxSREE(ERAR%S) (6.07) (11.31)
Diluted () #H¥E

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has two categories of dilutive potential
ordinary shares: share options and share awards. For the share options and share
awards, the number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise of all
dilutive share options and share awards less the number of shares that could have
been issued at fair value (determined as the average annual market price of the
Company'’s shares) for the same total proceeds is added to the denominator as the
number of ordinary shares issued for no consideration.

As the Group incurred losses for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the dilutive potential ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of diluted
losses per share as the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly,
diluted losses per share for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 was the
same as basic losses per share of the respective year.

e

WRESRER BN RRTE A HEEE
ERBRW ARG RECETEBERMMNE
FHBRHBEE - AR EMBABENEEL
AL - M B2 R 8 o B REREA
B in B2 EhAT &) - ARIBARITREAHI AR MDA EREE
B BEREARBEEES/RARBMNHFH
FEME)AIBANKNEE - LU LTAGHE
MR EE - EERERETEMEDEITH
BinBBEHLLER - EREZESMENE - {F
REFREMRIT BB -

MR AEEERE-_E-_=F+-A=+—H
ZEF+ZA=t+-—HNFEEBELEE
B ARBEENBELT AR TRIEERER
BREENGER  BABEAETARRM
BEw - Aty 2T -_=+_-_A=1+—H
TR+ A=1+—RALFENTRE
BB RIAETE N EREAREIBAER -
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33 Cash flow information

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

3 BEEEMNHSE

Cash generated from operations BEELENRS
2023 2022
—EC=f —ECCF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT AREFIT
Loss before income tax BRSBTS 1B (301,126) (474,218)
Adjustments for: FHEIER -
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment —TEE - THEEENTE
(Note 26) (Ff¥5£26) 46,703 49,067
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) —FREEENITE (D) 29,319 31,386
— (Gains)/losses on disposal of property, plant and —RIETEE  IRMREREE
equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 27) = (fF3E27) (113) 343
— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 8) — R B E (1 E8) 422,995 333,284
— Finance income — net (Note 29) — B U A A (T 5E29) (90,315) (100,276)
— Share-based compensation (Note 28) — MRt A (FF5E28) 96,278 115,140
— Share of profits of associates (Note 10) —DEBE RN R BN (BR), &
1558 (f1EE10) (28,506) (12,850)
— Fair value losses/(gains) on investment properties —REBEUEMEAREBEEHIEKX
(Note 9) GER) 28,858 15,587
— Realised losses on derivative financial instruments —TESRMTAEERER
(Note 27) (P 5E27) = 2,827
— Realised and unrealised losses/(gains) on financial —UARBEFEEEEHT AR
assets at FVPL (Note 27) HHEMEEDBER KRGS A
BB W= (7E27) 51,080 (25,467)
— Net impairment losses on financial assets and contract  — & B8 B EMA R & E R E B KF
assets ) 71,055 92,461
— Losses/(gains) on disposal of associates (Note 27) ~BREBRENEFBG)HiE
(fF5E27) 1,512 (2,470)
— Dilution gains of an associate (Note 27) — BN AR ARERR RIS (B 5E27) - (15,216)
— Gain on deemed disposal of an associate —BEARNRTERENSG (21,461) -
— Impairment of goodwill —EERE 20,109 -
— Impairment of an associate —HBE R A RRE 1,726 -
328,114 9,598
Changes in working capital, net of effects from disposal of #&&E& & &8 © JIBREE TR RAF
a subsidiary (excluding loans to third parties fromthe ~ RFE S/ BEEERRE=ZTE
micro-credit business): FEVFRES M) ¢
— Inventories —FE (740) (14,828)
—Trade and other receivables — FE U AR R R L A PR LK (7,385) 40,672
— Contract assets and contract obtaining costs —&REERERBISKAR (328,905) (196,355)
— Contract liabilities —&RaE 545,554 466,322
— Deferred income —IBEW A (54,516) (9,680)
—Trade and other payables — TR E A FE 3R 144,549 42110
Cash generated from operations excluding net cash inflow 48 & EE 4 IR & (/N EEE XA
in loans to third parties from the micro-credit business ~ SE=FHEHHFRELRA 626,671 337,839
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33 Cash flow information (Continued) 33 BEELENBR S
(a) Inthe consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal (a) ERRRERA  BEFDHE - - TBREMH
of property, plant and equipment comprise: HIFRGRREE -
2023 2022
—E=F —TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Net book amount (Note 6) BRI 558 (I 526) 2,505 29,423
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property, plant and HERHE THEEEREREE
equipment and right-of-use assets EmEE 113 (343)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  HETRBIE « TR RENEREE
and right-of-use assets EMFTSE 2,618 29,080
(b)  Non-cash transactions (b) HBREXH
Significant non-cash investing and financing activities include the following: EANFRESEBELRDERE
2023 2022
—8-=% —EF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARET T

Additions to the right-of-use assets (Note 7) E AR E I AN (M ET) 37,857 16,794
Transfer from investment properties to property, plantand {83 &M EER =T EE - TR KL

equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 9) RABAE AR E (FFE9) 197,709 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment and right-of- {E“NEHEE + TR MR H5 AN FRAE B &

use assets to investment properties (Note 9) HEIGE Y (I 5E9) 101,137 106,819
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

33 Cash flow information (Continued)

(¢) Net cash reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the movements in net cash for

33 EEELENHRLGE)

(c) BEREEMD

AERE G| & E B AT SIREF IR S B A

each of the periods presented. ap o
Net cash 2023 2022
bR ] —E-= T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREETTT
Cash and cash equivalents RERRSEEY 2,963,723 1,942,735
Less: bank borrowings & (776,900) (470,000)
Lease liabilities HEAaE (64,610) (63,894)
Net cash REFEE 2,122,213 1,408,841
Gross debt — fixed interest rates B 4ARE — & F % (64,610) (63,894)
Gross debt — variable interest rates BT — ¥ B F % (776,900) (470,000)
Less: cash and cash equivalents B IRERIBEEEY 2,963,723 1,942,735
Net cash REFE 2,122,213 1,408,841
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33 Cash flow information (Continued)

(¢) Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

33 EEELENHLGE)

(c) SRS

Other assets Liabilities from financing acivities
HthEE BEEHNEE
Cash Borrowings L eases Total
Bé B3 HE E5)
RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB1000
NS AREFT NS AREFT
Netcashasat1January2022 ~ W-E-—%—A—-RA$Re 2046815 - (79,786) 1,967,029
Cash flows Reng (112,069) (472,800) 32,391 (552,478)
Acquisition - leases Wig-HE - - (16,499) (16.499)
Disposal of a subsidiary AN - 2,800 - 2,800
Foreign exchange adjustments ExiAR 7989 - - 7989
Net cash as at 31 December 2022 W-B__F+_A=+—-HBH& 1942735 (470,000) (63,894) 1408841
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HitEE MEIDNAR
Cash Borrowings Leases Total
e o g #it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
N v ARETT N v ARETT
Netcashasat1January2023 ~ RZBZ=§—F—H$H¢& 1,942,735 (470,000) (63,894) 1,408,841
Cash flows RenE 1,019,757 (306,900) 31,141 749,998
Acquisition - leases Ui -HE - - (37,857) (37,857)
Forsign exchange adjustments EERE 1,231 - - 1,231
Net cash as at 31 December 2023 W-Z_=F+-B=+—-H3H& 2,063,723 (776,900) (64,610) 2,122,213
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34 Commitments 34
(a) Capital commitments (a)

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the years but not

i
BERiE

RERBITNERERSRENERELER

recognised as liabilities were as follows: PURNE
2023 2022
2= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREETTT
Assets under construction FEEE 140,718 332,061
(b) Operating lease commitments (h) HEEHEKE

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. For details of the leasing arrangements, refer to Note 9.

REMMENGERETALBAET - B
BAXN - EREELTNFE - F2HME

g o

2023 2022
—EC-=S —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARBFT

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of HEMERNNEERBESOT -

investment properties are as follows:

Within 1 year THiBR—F 69,093 68,925
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years BB —FETHBBART 341,929 42,791
411,022 111,716

The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating leases expiring
within 1 month to 6 years. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and
renewal rights. Upon renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

35

(a)

Related party transactions

Mr. Xu Shao Chun, who owned 19.37% of the Company’s shares as at 31
December 2023, is the Company's single largest shareholder.

Transactions with related parties

The Group had following transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 BHE—_ZT—

December 2023 as follows:

35 MEHXH

HE—_ZT—

=F+ZA=t—8B #HIERE
BEREE1937%HEAE - RARFNE &K
R ©

(a) HREHFXHEH

=F+ZA=t+—H XEEEHEEZE

RSYIRIAT -

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT AREFTT

Sales of products EmiHE
— Associates — B 2,451 4,986
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HRLFELEMESIAEEE 551 567
3,002 5,553

Sales of services RS E
— Associates — B 5,089 2,487
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HRLFESLEMESINEEE 161 192
5,250 2,679

Rental income A2 BA
— Associates — B 3,449 2,976
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —EGRLEL AT ERE 4,732 7,154
8,181 10,130

Products and services are sold based on terms agreed with the counterparties
in the ordinary course of business, and the rental rates and interest rates are

determined in the same way.

ERMREHHESRERAXSHFAELTEE
BRRTEENGTETH - H2NMEbR

VARIEREY 77 A FEE R

T FFR
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35 Related party transactions (Continued)

(b)  Purchases of products and services

35 REHLXES(E)
(h) WREEHWE

2023 2022
—EBC-=F T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT

Purchases of products EmiEE
— Associates — Bt 1,729 5,204
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HRLFELEMESIAEEE - 873
1,729 6,077

Purchases of services RSB E
— Associates — B 57,546 59,985

Products and services purchased from associates and companies controlled by
Mr. Xu Shao Chun are carried out on terms agreed with the counterparties in the

ordinary course of business.

(c) Balances with related parties

77 B TE MY ERBETT

(c) HREHFXBELEMFRER

EWMMRBEREE R TMA R DB ENE
HETREEN  TRRERTEKBEDY

2023 2022
—EC=f —EC-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREFIT
Receivables from related parties (Note 13) JFEU BE 3 77 s IE (M RE13)
— Associates B /NE] 10,422 11,526
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HRLFESLEMESIA TS 12,035 10,544
22,457 22,070
Payable to related parties recorded in “Contract B[ AR BE IR M ER TR
liabilities” 15
— Associates — BN T 2,536 409
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HRLESLEMESINEEE 109 195
2,645 604
Payable to related parties recorded in “Trade payables”  RE&RAE [ FEAT BR 51 o 09 & (< BEES 75 31
18
— Associates — BN E] 241 2,653
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HBRLELREES A EE 12 74
253 2,127
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35 Related party transactions (Continued) 3B MEAXHGR)
(c) Balances with related parties (Continued) (c) HREAXZHELEMFHRER
The above balances with related parties were interest free, unsecured and repayable THEEESRHIEENEHREES  BER
on demand. MIEFEED -
(d) Key management compensation (d) FIREEBASHME
Key management comprise the Company's directors and senior management. The HREEABPEARNESTRRREEAE
compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown MEREEABINIEARERBHEN S E
below. BT -
2023 2022
=®== —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREETFTT
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits FeREMEHES R 22,777 22,824
Share-based payments LARRD BERER T 15,997 16,058

38,774 38,882
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36

Statement of financial position and reserve movement

36 ELAFHMMBRARE FWEE

of the Company
As at 31 December
»+=B=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—4F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FsE AR®TT AREFT
Assets HE
Non-current assets JERENEE
Financial assets at fair value AR EEZ A EZeT Al
through profit or loss HeREE 661,425 692,476
Interests in subsidiaries HFRARINEE 5,043,231 4,729,009
5,704,656 5,421,485
Current assets mEEE
Other receivables Ho At FE UK 4,739 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 1,255,237 71,384
1,259,976 71,384
Total assets HEE 6,964,632 5,492,869
Liabilities AR
Non-current liabilities ERERE
Amounts due to subsidiaries B F ] 500,544 456,344
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables E MR 45,895 41,767
Total liabilities b =R 546,439 498,111
Net assets BEE 6,418,193 4,994,758
Equity ga
Share capital %N 87,098 83,537
Share premium RR A4 (B 6,512,406 5,084,953
Other reserves (a) 5@ (97,588) (116,316)
Accumulated losses (a) ZEHEsE () (83,723) (57,416)
Total equity HiEs 6,418,193 4,994,758

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on 18 March 2024 and was signed on its behalf.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

36

(a)

Statement of financial position and reserve movement 36 &2 TFIRIM IR R R G S8 B (18)

of the Company (Continued)

Reserve movement of the Company

(a) LDFEMBEED

Accumulated losses Other reserves

] e ]

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREETTT AREETFTT
At 1 January 2022 —Z__%F—H—H (135,517) (234,156)
Profit for the year FEEE 78,101 -
Transfers shares to the awardees upon vesting AEFBRERMNESRAEZBA - 117,840
At 31 December 2022 —®-—#£+-A=+—H (57,416) (116,316)
At 1 January 2023 —E-=%—F—H (57,416) (116,316)
Loss for the year FEBHE (26,307) -
Transfers shares to the awardees upon vesting NEBREIRMHEBBLEREA - 79,866
Shares purchased for share award plan RSB ET B AR AR - (61,138)
At 31 December 2023 —E_=%+"A=+—H (83,723) (97,588)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

37 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive

officer

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

37

EERTHERHFRMNED

B ESRITRASNFMIT

RE-F-=F+ A=+ ALFE:

Employer's
Share contribution fo a
Discretionary  compensation retirement
Fees Salaries honuses expenses (a) (i) henefit scheme Total
BEH
Birde IR
Name ix] g fig PiEke A% (a) (i) BEHR 5t
RIMB’000 RIMB’000 RIMB’000 RIMB’000 RIMB’000 RIMB’000
AE®TT AERTR AR®TT ARWTT AE®TRT AERTR
Chairman 1E
Mr. Xu Shao Chun BOBEE 150 3,002 2,551 2,611 B 9,321
Executive diectors HITEE
Mr. Lin Bo R 150 1,980 1,185 2,267 7% 5,657
Non-executive directors FHTEE
M. Dong Ming Zhu i v 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlest & 180 = = = = 180
Indpendent non-executive diectors BUHHTEE
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang REREE 150 - - - - 150
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZz - 180 - - - - 180
Mr.Bo Lian Ming (a) (i) SEERTE() (i) 150 - - - - 150
Tota ast 1,110 5,922 3,736 4,878 148 15,794
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37 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

37 EFRITHRARHTIZMED ()

officer (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022: HE-Z-_ 4+ -A=+—HLFE:
Employer's
Share  contribution to a
Discretionary  compensation retirement
Fees Salaries honuses expenses (a) (i) benefit scheme Total
BHRF
Rinde R
Name i2] g fig BiEks F%(a) (i) BEHR it
RVB’000 RVB’000 RMB’000 RIMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR AE®TR ARBTRT ARRTRT AE®TRT AE%TR
Chairman 1E
Mr. Xu Shao Chun BOBERE 150 3942 212 4284 73 10571
Executive diectors HITEE
Mr. Lin Bo R 150 1,980 1,067 3384 73 6,654
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu ERGLT 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlest £ 1m - - - - 1m
Independent non-executive diectors BUHHTEE
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang RfREEE 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Liu Chia-Yung (a) (i) HIRES () (i) 1 - - - - 1n
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZz £ n - - - - 1
Mir. Bo Lian Ming (2) (i) SEERSAE(a) (i) - - - - - -
Total Bt 1,116 5922 3,189 7,668 146 18,041
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

37 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive
officer (Continued)

(@)

186 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Directors’ emoluments
(i) Includes share options and share award plan, estimated monetary
value was based on the annual charge of the share-based payment in

accordance with IFRS 2.

(i) Mr. Liu Chia Yung resigned as an independent non-executive Director
from 30 December 2022.

Mr. Bo Lian Ming has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director from 30 December 2022.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination benefits for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Inducement to join the Company

During the financial year, no amount was paid or receivable by any Directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Company.

Waiver

During the financial year, no Director had waived or agreed to waive any of his/
her emoluments.

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services
For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not pay

consideration to any third parties for making available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.

37
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

37

38

39

Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive
officer (Continued)

(0) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

The Group's transactions with the companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun,
the chairman and executive director of the Company, are set out in Note 35.

Save for the afore mentioned transactions, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

Contingencies

As at 31 December 2023 and 2023, the Group did not have material contingent
liabilities, guarantees or litigations or claims of material importance, pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

Subsequent events

From January 2024 to February 2024, the Company repurchased and cancelled
38,695,000 ordinary shares, representing approximately 1.07% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2023. The total
amounts paid were approximately HKD330,752,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB300,733,000).

37

38

39

e

ESRITHRARHT 2 MED ()

(0 EBFERS THIAOFTHNERES

FEBMEZNREERRNTERRIER
B D BRI R S B HTRESS -

B EXXPrAtsN - RIS EA N REBH —
7 MARRESFERAHEFANELG#a
RA—HTNERRZS - RHREK -

RKEHER
R-F-=®+-A=+—8  FEELRT
EARKXARE - FERAAEEEFMKEAF

WERIASAENTAEAFARER(CE
TTF )

HkER

RIZE-ZWF—RAE=Z-_F=F ' X7
0185 37 31 85 7 38,695,0000% @A 4015 A FIEL
E-E-—F+-A=+—HOBITRMHAES
§91.07% + S FABEEH) A 15330,752,0007 (3T &
AR 49300,733,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

40

40.1

40.2

(a)

(b)

188

Summary of other accounting policies
Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end
exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in
the income statement, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the income statement on a net basis within “Other gains/
losses — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair
value through other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

40

40.1

40.2

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.2 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial
position;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consalidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any
net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings
forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

40
40.2

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

40

40.3

190

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

—Buildings 15-50 years
— Computer and related equipment 5 years
— Office equipment 5 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

the shorter of the lease term or
the useful life

— Leasehold improvements

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction, which is stated
at actual construction cost less any impairment loss. Construction in progress is
transferred to property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
40.20).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the

carrying amount and are recognised within “Other losses/gains — net” in the
income statement.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

40

40.4

40.5

40.6

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or
the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion
and applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for software sold or services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade receivables
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional unless they contain significant financing components when they are
recognised at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables with the objective
of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See Note 13 for further
information about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and note 3.1 for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

40

40.7

40.8

40.9

192

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts
are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Share capital and shares held for share award plan

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to
the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s share capital (treasury
shares), for example as the result of a share buy-back or a share-based payment
plan, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s owners
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, if any, is included in equity
attributable to the Company’s owners.

The consideration paid for the buy-back of the Company’s ordinary shares from the
market for the purpose of the share award plan (Note 20), including any directly
attributable incremental cost, is recorded in “Other reserves” and the amount is
presented as a deduction from total equity.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for products or services that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Tradepayables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.10 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any differences between
proceeds (net of transaction cost) and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest

method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and

amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or

loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after

the end of the reporting period.

40.11 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially

ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing

costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.12 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

194 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Retirement benefits

The Group provides defined contribution retirement plans based on local laws and
regulations. The plans cover full-time employees and provide for contributions
at certain percentage of salary as determined by the respective local government
authorities. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the statement of financial position date. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

40 H e EHIRER ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.13 Share-based payments

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation
(including share option schemes and share award plans), under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (including
share option and awarded shares) of the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense over the vesting period.

For grant of share options, the total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted, which includes any market
performance conditions (for example, the Company’s share price); but excludes the
impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and includes the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for
example, the requirement for employees to hold shares for a specified period of
time). For grant of award shares, the total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the market price of the Company’s shares at the grant date. The Group
also adopts valuation technique to assess the fair value of other equity instruments
of the Group granted under the share-based compensation plans as appropriate.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of shares under options and awarded shares that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services in advance of
the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes
of recognising the expense during the period between service commencement
period and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among group entities

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of
employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value,
is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued) 40 HEEBRER (18)

40.14 Provisions 40.14 #fi
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive EASERACEANEGHMEERBENERL
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will HEERD  RUEREAERNALNAESR
be required to settle the obligation: and the amount has been reliably estimated. % RO RIGETR - BELER - %
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. BETERARREE EIEMERER -
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will MBZBEUERY  HFEEEEEREERR
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a HE AT BElE - AP IRIBRBHERBEBERE -
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelinood of an outflow with respect to BMEfE R — &R BRI B S m A —EE B 8
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. R ERR AT RE AR - D/ERERER -
Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of BEREEENRSHRERRRSESMERH
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting THREGBTTRRERNE - AREERENTT
period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate MEIMAFE - AR TEBREEBNS
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks ERERRAE R SN - BEEREAR
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is o EESRIE MW ERAF ST -

recognised as interest expense.

40.15 Earnings per share 40.15 SRk S
(a)  Basic earnings per share (a) EXEERIER
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners EARGRW=ENGTER LR - RAlBEREN
of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary FE - DEIER Z B AN R A AR IS A
shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the N RAFMBRFEEDBITEBROMNEL S
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the B E - UWREBEFZTHEERIOESH
year and excluding treasury shares. HRITAE  TRIEEFRK -
(b)  Diluted earnings per share (h) WESERKS
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic mETR G AN ETEFRERK R
earnings per share to take into account: i AR
e the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated o FIE R HE @& KA BB 18 KR B
with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and BT L BRARE
e the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have o IEFHBINEITLEERNOEE  BRE
been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary i M B L imAR ayssia o
shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

40 FH & EHIRER ()

40.16 Interest income 40.16 FI BRI &R

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in the income statement as realised gains on financial assets

at FVPL within “Other gains/losses — net”.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated using the effective

interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from financial
assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 29 below. Any other

interest income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest
rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of

the loss allowance).

40.17 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the

date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the
Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components

and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.

Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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40 R fth & et SR EERE ()
40.17 F 5 (1)

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.17 Leases (Continued)

198 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also
included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If
that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted
for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not have recent
third party financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and
security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.17 Leases (Continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual lessee
(through recent financing or market data) which has a similar payment profile to
the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine the

incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments
based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any

lease incentives received;
. any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful
life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that
are presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for

the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of office are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. The Group did not enter any low-value assets lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note 9). Initial direct costs
incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis
as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the statement of

financial position based on their nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B R AR M

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.18 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a
reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in
non-current liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of
the related assets.

40.19 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately
authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

40.20 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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